Washington College

2023-24 Faculty Handbook

Contents

I. GENERAL INFORMATION	4
A. On Arrival	
B. Availability and Notifications	
C. Facilities, Services, and Procedures	
D. Scheduling	
E. Academic Computing	
F. Reimbursements and Payments for Goods and Services	
G. Athletic Facilities	
H. Library and Academic Technology	
I. Programs and Associations	
II. ADMINISTRATIVE AND ACADEMIC ORGANIZATION	
A. Officers of the Administration	
B. Departments and Divisions	
C. Department Chairs	
D. External Reviews of Academic Departments and Programs	
E. Faculty Meetings	
F. College Committees	
G. Other Service Positions	
H. Faculty Elections	
I. External Honors and Awards	
III. ACADEMIC POLICIES	
A. Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)	
B. The Advising System	
C. Academic Eligibility and Policies for Athletes	
D. Policy on Students with Disabilities	
E. Scheduling of Classes	
F. Retaining Final Examinations	
G. Washington College Honor System	
IV. FACULTY PERSONNEL POLICIES	
A. Appointment, Salary, Rank, and Tenure of Faculty	
B. Appointment, Salary, Rank, and Promotion of Faculty Librarians	
C. Team Teaching	
D. Internal Academic Administrative Appointments	
E. Appointment of Emeritus Faculty	
F. Excerpts from the College By-Laws Relating to the Faculty	
G. Title I: Academic Tenure	
H. Title II: Financial Exigency	
I. Title III: Program Change	
J. Retirement	

K. Part-Time Appointments	85
L. Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Plan	
M. Extra-College Employment	
N. Additional Teaching Beyond The Academic Year	89
O. Attendance At Academic Occasions	
P. Academic Freedom	89
Q. Professional Societies and Attendance Allowances	
R. Faculty Enhancement Funds	
S. Research	
T. Sabbaticals And Faculty Leave	
U. Christian A. Johnson Fellowship Junior Faculty Leave Program	
V. Faculty Administrative Assistants	
W. Statutory Benefits	
X. Additional Benefits	102
Y. Weapons Policy	109
Z. Policies on Discrimination, Harassment, and Sexual Misconduct	109
V. CHARTER OF WASHINGTON COLLEGE	

I. GENERAL INFORMATION

A. On Arrival

As soon as possible after arriving on campus to assume duties, a new member of the faculty should:

- Inform the Office of the Provost, Registrar's Office, and Human Resources of a local address and telephone number. Subsequent changes should be reported immediately.
- Meet with Human Resources to complete the new employee pay pack in order to initiate the payroll process, within three days of arrival on campus. Salary payments cannot be made until this process is completed and the required forms have been filled out.
- Attend benefit orientation to select benefit options including health, dental, vision and retirement.
- Obtain an office assignment from the Office of the Provost.
- Academic Technology will provide a computer for you. Computers will be ordered for tenure-track faculty, and Academic Technology will do its best to accommodate the particular needs of other faculty on a first come, first served basis. If you have special requirements for a computer, please discuss them with your department chair.
- Obtain a College ID card from the Department of Public Safety. Your parking permit will be supplied by Public Safety after you complete the online registration at <u>www.permitsales.net/wc</u>. You will pick up your office key(s) from Buildings and Grounds. You must have completed your new employee pay pack with Human Resources prior to issuance of these items.

B. Availability and Notifications

All members of the faculty are expected to be available for college-related duties throughout the academic year. For both fall and spring semesters, this period of availability includes the week prior to the beginning of classes through the end of finals week. Before leaving the campus for the summer, each member of the faculty should leave a forwarding address with the Office of the Provost and with the respective faculty administrative assistants.

New information about faculty degrees, publications, honors, and professional activities should be communicated to the Office of the Provost for the personnel record.

Faculty members who plan to make public appearances should notify the Provost's Office and the College Relations Office to ensure that appropriate press, radio or television news coverage may be arranged. Please keep the College Relations office informed of research projects; professional meetings held at the College; elections to professional societies; delivery of papers at professional meetings; awards received for professional achievements; degrees, fellowships or scholarships received; noteworthy athletic accomplishments; and any other activities which are likely to favorably showcase our faculty in the media.

C. Facilities, Services, and Procedures

Mail

Faculty mail and College notices as well as packages arriving for faculty members will be delivered to your faculty administrative assistant by 1:00pm daily, Monday through Friday.

Outgoing College mail is sent from the Mail Center in the Central Services Office. The Postal Service picks up the outgoing mail at 3:30pm daily. Central Services will pick up outgoing mail from faculty administrative assistants by 1:00pm daily, Monday through Friday, for the 3:30pm postal service pick up.

Bookstore

The Bookstore, leased by Barnes & Noble, is maintained on the ground floor of the Casey Academic Center.

All textbooks must be ordered through the Bookstore. Textbook orders are due at approximately the same time each year: April 15 for the Fall semester and October 31 for the Spring Semester. The Bookstore will send notification to all faculty members asking them to indicate their required texts for courses in the upcoming semester.

Barnes & Noble requires all photocopy course packs to be supplied through Xanedu. Xanedu obtains all copyright permissions. Xanedu also accepts unsold course packs as returns. The department will not be charged for any unsold photocopy course packs. Please contact the Bookstore for information concerning Xanedu.

Desk copies are not supplied by the Bookstore. Each instructor should contact the publishers directly for desk copies. All publisher information is available online at Books-in-Print accessible from Miller Library's website.

Dining

Hodson Hall Dining Commons features our signature Pulse on Dining (or POD) program designed specifically around the dining needs for today's students in an all you care to eat format. Each platform in POD focuses on a different dining experience. This includes The Kitchen (a home-style cooked meal, featuring both traditional and global cuisines); My Pantry (a standalone area in serving all day breakfast until 2pm); Hearth Stone Ovens (a wood stone oven used to make much more than just pizzas); The Deli (where you can get a fresh, made-to-order sandwich or wrap); The Salad Bar (salads and soups where everything is fresh and as local as possible). Vegetarian and vegan options available daily. Our menus are always prepared fresh each day to ensure quality and satisfaction. We continue to look towards the future by incorporating current food trends and customization.

The retail area, located on the lower level, showcases three food outlets, Java George, featuring Caribou coffee, fresh baked goods and grab and go options made daily; Create, made to order sandwiches and signature salads; and Martha's Kitchen featuring traditional grilled options and fresh Mex homegrown goodness. Our newest addition, featuring Caribou coffee, snacks and fresh made grab and go selections is Sophie's Café located in the Miller Library.

Commuter, campus apartment and faculty/staff meal plan options are also available. Please visit <u>www.dineoncampus.com/wc</u> for more information.

Charging

Active full-time faculty may currently charge with College ID at the Dining Hall, the Hodson Hall retail facilities and the Bookstore. Amounts charged will be automatically withdrawn in full from the faculty's post-tax pay in the next normal pay cycle.

Stationery

Official College stationery may be obtained from the faculty administrative assistants. The College letterhead should be reserved strictly for correspondence on College or professional matters. Each member of the faculty and staff is obligated to see that the name of the College is not used in advertising or promotional activities of outside organizations or misused in outside consulting work, partisan political activity, public addresses, or sponsored research activity. Business cards may be ordered through the College Relations & Marketing Office.

Copies

Faculty members and departments requiring copy work of more than 40 copies are advised, in the interest of economy, to use the copy equipment located in the Central Services Office. The Central Services Office is open Monday-Friday from 8:30AM to 4:30PM. Departmental use of library photocopying equipment is under the direction of the circulation desk staff.

Faculty members are reminded that the College adheres to federal laws concerning the photocopying of materials protected by copyright. Information concerning these laws may be found on the College's <u>copyright page</u>.

Vehicles

College vehicles (cars, minivans and minibuses) are available, on a limited basis, for trips involving official College business. Permission to drive College vehicles is subject to a driving record check through MVA. All prospective drivers of College vehicles must submit their driver's license information to the Transportation Manager in the Student Affairs Office several days in advance of their reservation. Reservations for vehicles should be requested well in advance and vehicles are reserved on a first-come, first-served basis.

Maintenance

Requests for repairs or maintenance should be submitted to Buildings and Grounds. It is best to submit these requests through Maintenance Connection on the college website.

D. Scheduling

Professors who for any reason are unable to meet a scheduled class should phone the Registrar's Office. Arrangements will be made to have a notice posted outside the classroom.

The schedule for the use of all College classrooms for academic course purposes, during the academic year, is maintained in the Registrar's Office. Arrangements for their use should be made through that office. This includes requests such as special class sessions, review sessions and extra time for mid-semester exams but does not include public events.

Spaces for public events, lectures, or performances, and for the use of all public meeting halls and lobbies as well as conference rooms in academic buildings is maintained by Campus Events in the

Office of the President. All spaces for public events should be reserved before a speaker or guest is confirmed.

The Campus Events Office maintains a website with additional information regarding scheduling and how requests can be made. The office also sends out a comprehensive list of scheduling contacts for spaces at the beginning of each semester.

All requests for use of performance spaces (and accompanying lobbies) in the Daniel Z. Gibson Center for the Arts should be directed to the Office of Campus Events.

Use of facilities in Cain Athletic Center, the Johnson Lifetime Fitness Center, and the Casey Swim Center should be cleared through Athletics.

Use of the Sophie Kerr Room should be cleared with staff in the Miller Library.

The Conference Room in Bunting Hall may be scheduled through the Office of the Provost.

Scheduling for the use of College classrooms, outside of the academic year, is maintained by the Office of Conference Services.

A master calendar of forthcoming College events is maintained by Campus Events, in the Office of the President. Faculty members should confer with the Office of the President before scheduling any meeting or program on campus. Faculty should not schedule campus events that might potentially conflict with others. The schedule is accessible via Outlook. Please contact the Campus Events Office with assistance in accessing this resource. The Campus Events Office also maintains the College's website main calendar.

Media Release Policy for Guest Speakers: Washington College routinely sponsors speakers, forums, readings and lectures that are publicized through the media and are open to all in the spirit of community service and education. In our desire to support free inquiry and the open forum of ideas that are the core values of higher education, Washington College also reserves the right to invite members of the media—print, broadcast and electronic outlets, as well as our campus newspaper and alumni magazine—to cover and report on these events.

In addition, the College often records these college-sponsored events electronically, by audio or videotape, or via printed transcript as a service to our campus community. These records are archived by the College and are freely available to students and faculty for educational purposes only. The College reserves the right to share such records, in lieu of transcripts, with members of the media on request. Washington College assumes that the guest, by agreeing to appear at a college-sponsored event, understands and accepts our policy. However, the College will do all within its power to accommodate the requests and instructions of our guests if given sufficient notice in advance of the scheduled event.

E. Academic Computing

The Library and Academic Technology (LAT) provides strategic leadership for technology support on campus. LAT offers help and support for classroom technology ranging from the Canvas Learning System to personal response systems or clickers to audiovisual equipment. Faculty seeking to create rich digital content that will engage students and enhance their learning experiences can accomplish this in the Beck Lab and the Multimedia Production Center (MPC). The Beck Instructional Lab is a full featured collaborative learning space that offers faculty a place to experiment with emerging technologies while also serving as a flexible teaching space for workshops and presentations. The MPC contains a plethora of technologies faculty can use to produce their multimedia project. If you want to transfer VHS video clips to DVD, scan slides, record a podcast, create and edit a digital video, modify a graphic or borrow equipment, the MPC is the ideal place. Not sure how to use a particular technology or you need technology training for your students? Attend one of the workshops offered in the Beck Instructional Lab or request an in-class workshop.

LAT also provides technology for teaching spacing which includes audiovisual equipment including an instructor computer workstation, a projector, a projection screen, and the ability to connect a laptop to the projection system. LAT provides faculty with a computer system. If you have special computer requirements, please discuss them with your department chair. LAT also repairs College owned computers. If you have questions or need assistance with technology, please contact the HelpDesk at extension 7777 or (410) 778-7777 when dialing from off campus.

F. Reimbursements and Payments for Goods and Services

The Business Office is responsible for processing vendor payments for goods and services as well as reimbursements to individuals for out of pocket expenses incurred while conducting College business. Those authorized by a Budget Manager to request such payments should schedule training with Accounts Payable to learn the College Payment and Reimbursement Guidelines.

Detailed information on **Expense and Reimbursements Guidelines** can be found here: <u>https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/business-office/expenses-and-reimbursements-guidelines.php</u>

Methods of Payment or Reimbursement

College Check. Paper and Electronic checks are used to pay a majority of vendors. Checks are processed weekly on Thursdays. Please allow 7-10 business days for payment processing after all approvals have been received in the Business Office. Employees may sign up to receive Electronic Payments through Self Service. Contact the Accounts Payable Specialist @ x 7705 for Etrieve training or instructions on Electronic Payments.

Access to the Etrieve System can be found here: <u>https://etcentral.washcoll.edu/</u>

Corporate Credit Card. Credit Cards are restricted in use and issued to employees upon approval of their Department Chair to facilitate business travel and/or the purchase of goods and some services. Contact the Accounting Analyst 2 @ x 7821 for more information.

Detailed information on the **WC Corporate Credit Cards** can be found here: <u>https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/business-office/id-card-with-get.php</u>

Access to the **Visa IntelliLink System** can be found here: <u>https://identity.intellilink.spendmanagement.visa.com/login</u>

International Wire Transfer. Contact the Controller @ x 7785 for this payment method.

Forms Used for Payments or Reimbursement by Check or Wire

1. Requisition Form – Requests of goods and services Outside vendor payments

Vendor payments should be in accordance with the **College's Procurement Policy**. New vendors must complete a W-9 form to be entered into the College's Vendor system. Contracts and Proof of Insurance should accompany requests for payment when necessary. These payments are subject to tax regulations and may result in year-end reporting.

Travel Advances

A travel advance may be requested by an employee to cover out-of-pocket cash expenses, when these expenses are for overnight travel and are expected to exceed \$75. (Out-of-pocket expenses do not include the mileage rate reimbursement for use of a personal vehicle.) Requests for advances should be submitted via the college's electronic system, complete with approval by the fund's Budget Manager, at least two weeks prior to the trip. Travel advance checks/electronic payments are generally available in the Business Office on the Friday preceding expected departure. Travel advances must be accounted for within 30 days of return by submission of a completed Travel Expense Reimbursement form via the college's electronic system to reconcile against the cash advance.

All Academic travel advance requests and travel advance reconciliation requests must go to the Fund Budget Manager and then the Budget Director for approval before being submitted to the Business Office. Any unused funds must be refunded to the Cashier's Office upon reconciliation of the cash advance and approval from the Budget Director.

Out-of-pocket reimbursements for students/faculty/staff other than travel

Requests for reimbursements or expenses related to official entertainment, other than budgeted entertainment of students, must be approved by the Dean. Requests must be accompanied by an explanation of the business purpose of the entertainment and the names and affiliations of the individuals entertained. Requests for reimbursement or expenses related to budgeted entertainment of students should be submitted following the procedures outlined above. These payments may not include payments for Contractual Obligations to Individuals or Businesses for Services Performed. Such payments should be submitted as Outside Vendor Payments as listed above to comply with Federal tax regulations.

2. Travel Reimbursement Form

A travel reimbursement form may be used for travel related expenses incurred while away from campus. All travel expenses should be in accordance with the **College Travel Policy**. Washington College maintains its travel expense reimbursement policy in conformity with federal guidelines as set forth in the Internal Revenue Code defining Accountable Plans. Proper documentation must be included with the request. The following information is required: the business purpose of the travel, a listing of costs incurred; the full fund, department and account number to be charged, and detailed receipts. Timely requests for reimbursements are expected to accurately reflect expenses in Departmental Budgets.

3. Student Requisition

For payments issued to students not classified as payments under Financial Aid or Payroll.

Approval by Chair

All Academic requisitions and travel reimbursement requests must go to the Department Chair for approval. Department Chairs should schedule training with the Budget Director for Work Flow Process @ x 8525 before submitting requisitions to the Business Office.

Payments by Credit Card

- Travel related expenses
- Purchases of goods
 - Do not use for purchase of services unless prior approval by the Controller @ x 7785
 - No cell phones or accessories may be purchased on the credit card. All requests for items may be directed to the Chief Academic Technology Officer @ x 7450.
 - Do not use for purchase of goods or services that are capital items unless prior approval by the college's Vice President of Finance @ x 5739 has been secured.

Payments by Business Account

Barnes & Noble – Purchases for Course packs and textbooks should be purchased using the Washington College Bookstore on Account. The College Account is Sales Tax Exempt. Other additional books and supplies may also be purchased onsite or ordered through the Bookstore and paid on account.

Amazon Business – to make purchases for the college from Amazon you must do so by using the College Amazon Business Account, please contact the Accounting Analyst @ x 7821 to setup your access.

Office Basics - to make purchases for the College from Office Basics you must do so using the College Office Basics Business Account, please contact the Accounts Payable Specialist @ x 7705 to setup your access.

Egencia – Washington College has secured a travel management program with Egencia. This program provides one place to create and manage all aspects of your trips: online, on mobile or with travel consultants. Travel needs include access to airlines, hotels and vehicle rentals. Please contact the Interim Controller for additional information @ x 7785. The Egencia website can be accessed here: <u>http://washcoll.egencia.com/</u>

Items requiring Additional Authorization before Purchase or Payment

Technology – the Help Desk will assist with all hardware, software and all technology related purchases - See the college's **Technology Purchasing Policy** before purchasing any technology or technology related items here:

https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/helpdesk/tech_purchase.php

Cell Phone and Accessories – The Chief Academic Technology Officer is responsible for all purchases, plans and repairs of college cell phones @ x 7450.

Equipment - See Procurement Policies for definition and authorization procedures

Vendor Payments over \$5,000

Purchases of goods and services are to be made in accordance with College Procurement Policies and Guidelines. These Guidelines preserve the value of College resources and comply with

regulations which protect the College against legal liability, provide for receipt of goods and services in a timely manner, supply accepted standards of quality and service, properly hold vendors accountable for goods and services, and provide accountability for College expenditures.

Grant Related Expenses – See Grant Procedures and schedule an appointment with the Interim Controller @ x 7785

Tax Exempt Purchases

Washington College is a nonprofit educational institution that allows for an exemption from sales and use tax in Maryland and many other states. The College has several Business Accounts already established as tax exempt with vendors used frequently by the College. To secure a copy of the college's tax-exempt certificate for use for college purchase please visit the Business Office webpage under Employee services - secure downloads here:

https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/business-office/downloaddocuments.php

Payments to Foreign Vendors

Payments to foreign vendors for services (honorariums, consulting, etc.) are generally subject to additional withholding unless a tax treaty exists. Additional forms will need to be completed prior to requesting such payments. See Payments to Foreign Vendors prior to negotiating payments. Additional access for Foreign Vendors to electronically submit forms is granted by the Interim Controller @ x 7785.

G. Athletic Facilities

A locker room for use by members of the Faculty is maintained in the Johnson Fitness Center. Interested Faculty members should see the Assistant to the Athletic Director for Sports Performance Program and Campus Recreation about obtaining a locker assignment.

The Johnson Fitness Center is a comprehensive exercise facility that includes a field house, indoor track, racquetball and squash courts, and a weight room. Schedules and information may be obtained by calling the Assistant to the Athletic Director for Sports Performance Program and Campus Recreation.

The Casey Swim Center is a six-lane enclosed competitive swimming pool that is open year-round to faculty/staff and their immediate families by showing College ID. Check times on website <u>https://washingtoncollegesports.com/insideAthletics/facilities/casey_swim_center</u> and/or the Casey Swim Center lobby TV.

The Campus Recreation department is open to students, staff and faculty with a wide variety of intramural activities, open recreation and fitness classes to choose from as well as weight room orientations. Exclusively for students, numerous club sports are offered ranging from dance to team sports to mixed martial arts.

Squash, racquetball and tennis courts are available for Faculty use in the Benjamin Johnson Fitness Center. Reservations can be made at the front desk of the JFC. (Athletic teams are given priority in poor weather situations.)

The College's Lelia Hynson Pavilion and the Hodson Boat House are available to Faculty members for limited use. Inquiries concerning use of these facilities should be made to the Director of Waterfront Activities.

The Roy Kirby, Jr. stadium includes: Kibler Field, (a synthetic surface field), the Chatellier track, lights, and an 1800 seat grandstand including skybox and pressroom. Chatellier track is open daily from dawn until dusk, except during approved events. Usage of Kibler Field is limited to varsity athletic practices and events, intramural sports, and other pre-approved events. Faculty and staff are welcome and encouraged to attend all the varsity team contests. There is no charge for admission (except for NCAA post season games).

Schottland Tennis Center features eight hard-court tennis courts, four each on either side of the tennis center. Restrooms are located inside the tennis center. Schottland is open for use by faculty and staff during select times. Schedules can be obtained by calling the tennis center.

H. Library and Academic Technology

Library and Academic Technology is located in the Clifton M. Miller Library and in William Smith Hall.

Miller Library

Miller Library has a dynamic and diverse collection of academic research materials with a growing emphasis on digital content that is available 24/7 through an authenticated portal. The library houses over 200,000 print books, 2500 DVD's, and over 100 print periodicals. Currently there are over 560,000 online resources available to all students, faculty and staff.

The development of a robust collection that supports the curriculum and research is the joint responsibility of the faculty and the librarians. Technical Services staff is dedicated to assuring that the array of resources is easily discoverable and accessible. All materials requests should be directed to the Director of Resource Management at 7278.

Archives and Special Collections

Archives and Special Collections acquires and preserves books, documents, and artifacts related to the history of Washington College, Chestertown, and the Upper Eastern Shore of Maryland. The Archives aims to support research and teaching. It promotes understanding of the rich history of the College and the Upper Eastern Shore. College faculty, staff, students, and community researchers are encouraged to visit. For more about programming, including augmented archives, digital collections, print collections, and donations, contact the College Archives at 5752 or the Director of Archives and Technical Services at 7421 for more information.

Public Services

Public Services consists of Circulation, Interlibrary Loan, Library Instruction, and Research. The division circulates materials in the library collection and assists users in accessing research resources. It upholds the library's borrowing policies, manages course reserves, provides interlibrary loan services, and maintains the housing of library materials. For general information on Public Services, please contact the Director of Public Services at 5721.

Books are checked out for one academic year to faculty members, and, if still needed, may be renewed for an additional year, after which they must be returned to the library. Any book may be recalled if it is in demand. Interlibrary loan requests may be submitted electronically through the library's web site. Although some resources, such as print periodicals, microforms, reference books, media, and some special collections materials are for use in the library only, special arrangements to facilitate teaching and research can be made.

Arrangements to have materials placed on reserve for particular courses should be made by the instructor through the Head of Circulation at 7701. It is important that reserve requests are submitted early; please allow 72 business hours before they are given to classes. Articles are scanned and made accessible to students electronically through Canvas. Please submit only one photocopy of each article for reserve.

Research librarians collaborate with faculty to create library instruction sessions that meet course objectives and address core information literacy competencies. Students participate in active learning sessions in the library or classroom that require them to think critically about their information needs, construct scholarly research questions, and to discover and evaluate relevant sources from a variety of formats. To schedule a library session, please fill out the form on the library website or contact the Research and Information Literacy Librarian at 7702.

Academic Technology

Educational Technology

Educational Technology provides instructional design consultation for faculty seeking to create technology-enhanced instructional sequences that will engage students and enhance their critical thinking and communication skills. Instructional Technologists in Educational Technology are professionals who understand where pedagogy and technology intersect and can assist faculty in all aspects of designing technology-enhanced instruction from creating Canvas content to offering collaborative, team-based multimedia workshops for students in the classroom. Faculty can schedule a consultation with Educational Technology by calling extension 7167.

Digital Media Services

Digital Media Services provides a wide variety of workshops, excursions and experiential learning opportunities that reach a diverse student body both inside and outside the classroom. Faculty can schedule a consultation with Digital Media Services by calling extension 7864 or filling out a form on the Digital Media Services webpage.

Client Support & Technical Services

Client Support & Technical Services designs, updates and maintains technology-enabled classrooms, which contain audiovisual equipment including an instructor computer workstation, a projector, a projection screen, a DVD/VCR combo deck and the ability to connect a laptop to the projection system. Televisions are also available in selected classrooms. Client Support &Technical Services provides faculty with a computer system. If you have special computer requirements, please discuss them with your department chair. Client Support & Technical Services also repairs College-owned computers. If you have questions or need assistance with technology, please contact the HelpDesk at extension 7777 or (410) 778-7777 when dialing from off campus.

IDEAWORKS Innovation Suite

IDEAWORKS is Academic Technology's open-access suite of creative production and experimentation facilities. Consultants are available to assist faculty and students visiting IDEAWORKS in the creation of multimedia projects. IDEAWORKS is comprised of three spaces:

The Multimedia Production Center (MPC)

The MPC contains a variety of technologies faculty and students can use to produce multimedia projects. The MPC has resources to integrate various media formats, record a podcast, create and edit a digital video, or modify a graphic. The Equipment Loaner Pool available in the MPC offers free access to video camcorders, DSLR cameras, audio recorders and more.

Makerspace

The IDEAWORKS Makerspace extends the digital creative capabilities of the MPC by allowing users to design and fabricate items using modern digital tools in addition to traditional fabrication methods. Embracing the power of the maker culture, the Makerspace provides access to training and tools such as 3D Printers, laser cutting and etching, electronics prototyping, sewing, traditional fabrication tools, and more.

One Button Studio/Sound Studio

The One Button Studio/Sound Studio is a compact but versatile acoustically-treated production space. In this space users can create studio-quality video and audio with just the push of a button. Individuals and small groups may use this space for personal and class projects that include recording voiceover narration, studio quality video, and more. Walk-in use is allowed, however reserving a time slot on the studio's calendar is preferable. To make a reservation, speak with the consultant on duty or call the IDEAWORKS Innovation Suite number at 410-810-5800.

Beck Multimedia Instructional Lab

The Beck Multimedia Instructional Lab is a full-featured collaborative learning space that offers faculty a place to experiment with emerging technologies while also serving as a flexible teaching space for workshops and presentations. Faculty who wish to schedule instructional sessions in Beck Multimedia Instructional Lab can arrange to do so by calling Educational Technology at extension 7167.

I. Programs and Associations

Washington College conducts a full program of intercollegiate sports. For NCAA-sponsored events, there is a charge.

A Concert Series presenting visiting artists is sponsored jointly each year by Washington College and interested members of the Chestertown Community. A brochure listing guest artists and their programs is published at the beginning of each academic year. Information about the series may be obtained at: <u>https://www.washcoll.edu/about/campus/gibson-center-for-the-arts/concert-series/index.php</u>

The Women's League of Washington College was established in 1951 to foster closer relations between the College and the community. It holds four general meetings during the academic year and sponsors scholarships and other projects to benefit the College. Female faculty, administrators, or wives of College employees are invited to join.



II. ADMINISTRATIVE AND ACADEMIC ORGANIZATION

A. Officers of the Administration

The President is the chief executive officer of Washington College. The President is responsible for the leadership of the College and is accountable to the Board for implementing the policies of the Board and for all of the programs and activities that further the educational mission of the College. All official communication between the faculty and the Visitors and Governors and between the students and the Visitors and Governors is directed through them. The President recommends to the Board candidates for tenure and promotion and presides at public exercises of the College and at meetings of the faculty.

The Executive Vice President of Strategy and Operations is responsible for overseeing key areas of administration while developing and executing a holistic strategy to help ensure the College's long-term sustainability.

The Provost and Dean of the College is responsible for the academic affairs of the College and is accountable to the President and the Board. The Provost and Dean is responsible for continuing study of academic policy, for the quality of instruction, for faculty recruitment, for the organization and operation of the student advising program, and for academic affairs in general. In the absence of the President, the Provost and Dean is the superior officer of the College.

The Vice President for Finance and Administration is responsible for the collection, disbursement and control of all College fiscal resources including the Endowment, as well as the management of the operations of the Business Office, Dining Services, Bookstore, and Summer Conferences. The Vice President is additionally responsible for the supervision of the faculty and staff benefit programs, insurance program, annual budget development and fiscal controls.

The Vice President of College Advancement plans, manages, and implements all facets of the College's fundraising and alumni and parent programs, working with the President, staff, Board, and key volunteers to develop and carry out strategies to increase advocacy, volunteerism, and financial support in support of the College's mission and goals. The VP for Advancement advises the President on Board and other volunteer recruitment, public relations, major donor strategies, program development, funding priorities, and donor stewardship.

The Vice President of Enrollment Management is responsible for admissions and all activities in connection therewith. They, along with their staff, represent the College in student recruitment activities. In cooperation with the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee on Admissions and Financial Aid, the Vice President for Enrollment Management assists in the

establishment, interpretation, and implementation of College admissions policies. In conjunction with the Director of Student Financial Aid, the Vice President for Enrollment Management assists in the establishment, interpretation, and implementation of College student financial aid policies. This vice president crafts and implements the overarching enrollment strategy for the College, uniting Washington College's warm and personalized recruiting approach with thoughtfully designed, data-informed strategic initiatives.

The Vice President for Marketing and Communication is responsible for articulating a differentiated value proposition to all key Washington College audiences, including prospective and current students, parents, alumni, faculty, staff, donors, and friends of the College. They are also responsible for strengthening and expanding the Washington College brand through diverse channels and geographies. This vice president heads the Office of Marketing and Communication, which oversees the College's suite of marketing and communication strategies and is responsible for all aspects of creative services; digital marketing; social media management; features and publications; news, public relations, internal and crisis communications; and photography and videography. The Vice President for Marketing and Communication is responsible for promoting the College's programs and events as well as its faculty, student, and alumni accomplishments to enhance Washington College's profile and reputation in the world of higher education and beyond.

The Vice President for Student Affairs and Dean of Students is responsible for ensuring that student life programs, services and policies foster student success and achievement in and beyond the classroom. In conjunction with appropriate College committees and staff and faculty involved in student life, Student Affairs deans and directors design programs and policies that anticipate or respond to student and institutional needs and support the educational mission of the College. All policy decisions directly related to the non-academic life of students are channeled through Student Affairs. Student Affairs departments and programs include residential life, first year student programs (such as orientation), career development, health and counseling services, student activities, Greek life, wellness programming, community service, multicultural affairs and, in collaboration with the Provost's Office, the Honor Board and the Honor Code.

The Vice President for Planning and Policy and Chief of Staff serves as the principal assistant to the President and as a member of the senior staff; oversees the administrative functions of the President's Office, Campus Events Office, Institutional Research, and College Communications; and acts as the primary staff liaison with the Board of Visitors and Governors, including preparation and execution of quarterly meetings.

The Dean of Library and Academic Technology provides leadership in strategic planning, and administration of library services, resources, and technologies as well as promotes the library's mission as a partner in teaching, learning, and research. The Dean of Library and Academic Technology is accountable for the acquisition, accessibility, and maintenance of academic library resources across all disciplines to ensure that the college meets expected benchmarks in terms of the curriculum, external reviews, and funding requests involving library resources. The Dean of Library and Academic Technology is responsible for the management of the College's archives, and also advises on copyright compliance across campus.

The Director of Human Resources is the chief administrative officer for human resources at Washington College. As such, the individual must be knowledgeable of State and Federal laws and best practices within the field of human resources and provide guidance in these matters to all levels of management. The incumbent is responsible for the development and implementation of the

College's human resources policies and programs and other areas as may be assigned. The Human Resources Director is a member of serves as a liaison between Senior Staff and the Staff Council.

The Associate Vice President for Facilities is responsible for Buildings and Grounds, Physical Plant, and Sustainability.

The Director of Athletics is responsible for the supervision of all aspects of the varsity athletics program, club and intramural activities, the College's recreation program, and all associated facilities.

B. Departments and Divisions

Every instructor is a member of a department under the supervision of a designated department chair. Some members of the faculty may hold a joint appointment in two departments or in one department and one interdisciplinary program.

Departments are organized into three groups: the Division of the Humanities and Fine Arts, the Division of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, and the Division of Social Sciences. Each member of a department is also a member of a division. The principle purpose of the divisional grouping and of divisional meetings is to ensure thorough consideration of curricular proposals. Each division elects a representative to the Curriculum Committee for a three-year term.

Consideration of new programs and new courses within existing programs should be guided by the stated educational objectives of Washington College. Any change should be intended to strengthen the College curriculum considered as a whole.

It is expected that each department will constantly review its course offerings to ensure their pertinence to the overall educational program of the College.

When a department wishes to propose a change in its program, the request should be presented first in a division meeting, where it is the responsibility of the division chair to see that the matter is thoroughly discussed. Availability of library holdings in the area to be covered by a proposed course should receive careful consideration. If the decision of the division is to approve the proposal, the proposal then goes to the Curriculum Committee for further evaluation. The Curriculum Committee may discuss the matter with members of the concerned department or division. At the conclusion of its deliberations, the Curriculum Committee may return the matter to the division for further study or submit it to the full faculty for decision. Note: A new course can be offered as a Special Topics course three times. No restriction exists as to when the course is offered, whether it be annually, biannually, or less frequently. If the course is to be continued after these three offerings, the course must be submitted for approval through the normal procedures.

Senior Capstone Experience policies

All departments will explain their methods of granting credit and assigning grades for the Senior Capstone Experience in their departments.

A faculty member will receive one course load credit (or the equivalent course stipend) for the supervision of 12 successful Senior Capstone Experiences. The one course load credit may, with the Department Chair's approval, be taken during the semester in which the 12th SCE is completed or

within the succeeding two semesters. In some cases, it may be taken beyond two semesters after completion of the 12th SCE, with approval from the Department Chair and the Provost. In those departments and programs where faculty members share in the supervision of a student's Senior Capstone Experience, the load credit will be apportioned accordingly. The overall count of Senior Capstone Experiences will be kept in the Registrar and Registration's office.

Each faculty member supervising an independent capstone experience for a student pursuing a double major will be allowed to count that supervisory task for full workload credit. Faculty members supervising an integrated thesis that is undertaken in fulfillment of a double major will receive full or partial workload credit as determined by the chairs of their departments.

A faculty member who has invested in an unsuccessful senior capstone experience an amount of time equivalent to that normally invested in a successful senior capstone experience can appeal to the Provost to have this effort counted as the equivalent of a successful experience.

C. Department Chairs

Department chairs and directors of academic programs that grant majors, drawn normally from among the full-time tenured members of each department, are appointed by the Board of Visitors and Governors upon the recommendation of the President, after consultation with the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion and the full-time members of the department or program. Chairs are normally appointed for a term of three years. Appointments are reviewed annually and may be renewed.

A faculty member appointed to the position of department chair assumes not only a position of collegial leadership but also one of administrative responsibility. While chairs continue to function primarily as teachers and Advisors, in their role as chairs they assume additional administrative duties. They must assure that College policies are implemented within the department. They promote the best interests of the department as something greater than the sum of the individual interests of its faculty members. Chairs are also entrusted with oversight of departmental discipline. They ensure the faithful and conscientious discharge of duties and the maintenance of high standards of professional conduct, so that student academic needs receive the highest possible priority in the organization of the department's work. Finally, to employ the language of the College By-Laws on the subject, department chairs are "responsible for the instruction and academic programs of their Departments and [are] accountable to the Dean."

Given the multiple responsibilities that departmental Chairs are expected to manage, the Dean's Office shares updated procedures online and routinely offers guidance to Chairs. Each semester, Chairs' meetings are held where mentoring is a regular topic. This allows both the Dean's Office and more experienced Chairs to play a role in leadership development. Although the particular functions of a department chair will vary greatly depending on the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the chairperson, thAlthough the particular functions of a department chair will vary greatly depending on the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the character of the academic program in question and the abilities of the chairperson, there are certain common responsibilities including, but not restricted to the following:

Personnel: The chair coordinates all searches for faculty in their department, involving departmental faculty and majors meaningfully, and transmits the final recommendation, with an

explanatory report, to the Advising Committee on Appointments. The chair will represent the department in any discussions, which may ensue. Along with the Provost and Dean of the College, the Chair shares responsibility for orienting new faculty members to their environment and duties and for mentoring during the probationary period for those who hold tenure-track appointments. As stipulated in our rules governing continuing appointments, probationary faculty are entitled to get constructive criticism, counsel, and encouragement, which does not omit discussion of problems and needed improvements, from their colleagues.

To facilitate mentoring of tenure-track faculty members during the probationary period, Department Chairs are required to conduct peer observations of teaching at least once per year. If the Chair is unable to observe the tenure-track faculty member during a given year, the Chair may designate a tenured faculty member to conduct the observation in their place. Department Chairs are asked to use their judgment regarding the need for additional visits based on the tenure-track faculty member's range of courses and the most helpful means of conveying feedback. Department Chairs are strongly encouraged to include the information gathered during teaching observations and debriefing sessions in their letters for annual review and for tenure and promotion.

In addition, department chairs should encourage the probationary candidate's ongoing professional development and should keep them informed of problems and progress, through informal input, as well as by means of annual reviews, by mentoring faculty on the tenure-track, helping them to ease into a full complement of courses and growing service obligations while preserving time for research. Annual reports, third-year review assessments, tenure evaluations, and promotion recommendations should all take into account evidence concerning the candidate's, teaching, scholarship, and service. (For a detailed description of a chair's responsibilities in these evaluations, see the appropriate sections of this handbook.) To supplement what may otherwise be available, the chair will have access to all student evaluations. The chair should obtain from the candidate an updated vitae, course syllabi, and other materials that might be legitimately germane to assessment.

Chairs should also monitor the teaching effectiveness of all members of the department, not just those who are untenured, and address shortcomings when they appear, as well as monitor the grade distributions for the department as a whole and for each member, and address outliers and any disturbing trends over time. Chairs should endeavor to work with members of the department to establish standards for syllabi, in accordance with the document "Elements of a Good Syllabus," distributed in December 2011.

Similarly, chairs share with the Provost and Dean of the College responsibility for the recruiting, hiring, orienting, and mentoring of part-time and temporary appointments in their departments. Chairs need to inform such appointments of their departmental and College duties as well as to alert them to any opportunities the College provides for their continuing professional development. Chairs need to monitor the performance of part-time and temporary appointments and to provide them with constructive criticism, counsel, and encouragement at regular intervals.

Operation of the Department Program: The Chair plans the course schedule for the department—not just semester-by-semester, but with an overall plan for a rotation of courses that determines how often each course needs to be offered, provides predictability for students and advisors on when each course will be offered again, yet leaves room for the occasional special topic course. The chair assures that the work of the department is fairly distributed among its members, by balancing the teaching preferences of the department's faculty against the need for courses

required for a coherent major and sufficient opportunity for students to take them; prepares the course offerings (with recommendations as to time, place, and enrollment limits) for transmission in good time to the Registrar's Office; coordinates events that are sponsored by the department; reports senior capstone results (including thesis or project titles, where appropriate) to the Registrar's Office. They approve acceptability of proposed student summer school coursework, assist the Registrar's Office in the evaluation of transfer student transcripts, signs diplomas on behalf of the department, and certifies to the Registrar's Office that candidates for graduation have successfully completed the course work prescribed for the major.

The Chair must coordinate the preparation of departmental reports on those special occasions, like periodic outside review that make necessary a comprehensive effort at self-examination. It is also the chair's responsibility to mobilize the department's efforts to achieve satisfactory participation in the College's assessment programs. It is the chair's responsibility to lead and to guide departmental colleagues in the development, implementation, and administration of college-wide curricular and co-curricular initiatives as they affect departments (internships, study abroad opportunities, intercollegiate cooperation, faculty and student exchanges, college-wide proficiencies, etc.).

The Chair should designate a reasonable number of writing-intensive courses each semester, taking care to ensure that each conforms to the writing-intensive guidelines promulgated by the Director of the Writing Program. The Chair is also responsible for establishing and maintaining labs/facilities/computers/software/classrooms specific to department. The Chair should oversee the management of department-specific awards and prizes, the organization and execution of department-related conference/research/student trips/summer programming/co-curricular activities, and textbook selection.

Advising: Traditionally, the chair has had a special role in the advising of majors. This has entailed not only assistance with course selection by majors but sound advice pertaining to post-graduate professional training in the field of the major. The chair has a special obligation to become knowledgeable about career possibilities and requirements for departmental majors. No longer, however, is the advising of majors limited to the chair.

The Chair has responsibility for coordinating the advising function within the department and assuring its sound operation, while endeavoring to assign advisees and Senior Capstone students to department faculty member in a manner that is equitable. To this end, the Chair should establish and maintain meetings for advisory bodies specific to department/program and should provide appropriate social events for faculty and students in the department, to promote informal relationships and a sense of comity in a shared enterprise. The Chair is also responsible for ensuring that each major is well advised on course selection and progress in completing the program, for developing a process for ensuring that each major is well advised in the process of formulating and executing the Senior Comprehensive Experience, and for providing a clear written set of guidelines specifying departmental expectations, procedures, and deadlines for the SCE.

Chairs should also hire, train and supervise student workers that serve the department, specific programs and facilities and are responsible for the recruiting, interviewing and hiring of teaching assistants/class mentors/language lab instructors. The Chair is required to advise prospective majors and minors on program requirements, sign declaration cards, facilitate student transfer crediting, distribution requirements, study abroad and extra credits, write and distribute letters of

recommendation, and to oversee internship/job/grad school information through coordination with the Center for Career Development and the Assistant Dean for Curricular Enrichment.

Communication: The chair is the department's official spokesperson and a channel for administrative communication with the department. They present and promote the department's legitimate interests in all appropriate venues. The chair keeps the Provost and Dean informed on the state of affairs within the department, not least by submitting a comprehensive annual report that conforms to the format and requirements specified by the Dean, at the end of each academic year. The chair coordinates the department's co-operation, where possible with other offices of the College (e.g., Admissions, Advancement, Alumni, Athletics), or with agencies in the community, as required. The chair will strive to maintain a harmonious and collegial working environment within the department and among departments. Open and timely communication with departmental colleagues is a crucially important ingredient in the achievement of an ideal working atmosphere. One obvious mechanism for the interchange of information, concerns, and ideas is the holding of department meetings on a regular basis. The chair is responsible for updating, on an annual basis, the department's materials in the College Catalog, and ensuring that the department has an assessment plan in place that conforms to Middle States standards, and that department performs an annual assessment of the level of accomplishment of each objective, takes appropriate action to remedy deficiencies, and reassesses the following year to determine the effectiveness of corrective actions. For each semester's course schedule, post descriptions of special topics classes that are not described in the College catalog or on the departmental website, and monitor departmental enrollments during the registration process and address problems of large waiting lists and sparsely enrolled classes. This is especially important during first-year registration in June.

In addition, the chair will work with the SGA to ensure the administration of a useful survey for the bi-annual State of the Majors Report, and will assist in the administration of the survey to ensure a high response rate; otherwise, the resulting report will be of little value. The chair will participate in college-wide programs, including ENG 101, FYS, distribution, Cater Society, etc.; will oversee departmental role in interdisciplinary programs, including advising of students (and SCE), class enrollments and co-curricular activities.

The chair will create and maintain a department-specific website, as well as departmental newsletters/blogs. The chair will recruit faculty and student coverage for campus Open Houses, and maintain a relationship with the Admissions Office to identify, contact and track prospective students. The chair will establish and maintain relationships with discipline-related governing bodies (including societies, honor fraternities/societies, and associations) and will maintain connections with departmental alumni.

Budget: The chair is responsible for establishing, after full and careful consultation with departmental colleagues, the resources that are required for successful operation of the department. These will be presented to the administration in a timely manner, in accordance with the budget protocol. The chair will be prepared to explain to the Provost requests that are found to be vague or unreasonable and will be prepared to consider, in close consultation with colleagues, revisions that are suggested by the Provost. The chair will be responsible for authorizing purchases and validating vouchers that are generated in conformity with the approved departmental budget, and will organize, apportion and track capital funds specific to the department

Conflict resolution: The chair serves as the first level of appeal when conflicts arise between students and department colleagues or among department members. This includes receiving and responding to CARE reports that allege faculty bias in a course or SCE. Students and employees raise concerns in a variety of ways, for example, through verbal conversations and email; however, if a CARE report is filed through the Advocate System, then it should be routed to the department chair and Human Resources. If the faculty member is also the department chair, then the report should be routed to the Provost and Human Resources. Every effort should be made to settle such issues at the department level by mediation and/or judgment; however, if the complaint falls under the College's Title IX policy, then the Title IX Coordinator will follow up on the complaint (see Section U "Policies on Discrimination, Harassment and Sexual Misconduct" for further details)

Release Time and Stipends for Chairs and Directors

Chairs of academic departments and Program Directors of interdisciplinary programs offering majors receive one course release per academic year in recognition of their administrative duties as chairs. (For the natural science chairs teaching lab courses, this means one lecture or two labs.) Chairs are free to determine to which semester of the academic year they will apply their release time. Chairs who do not want to take release time will receive a regular course stipend in lieu of release time. Chairs will have to let the Office of the Provost know by March 1, of the preceding academic year, in which semester they would like to take their release time.

Program directors of interdisciplinary minors will receive a stipend for their services. This stipend will be in the amount of \$1,000.

During a year for which a chair has been granted a paid or unpaid leave or is granted a reduced teaching load for other than administrative reasons, they are not entitled to claim course release in their role as chair. Acting chairs are only entitled to course release if their responsibilities extend over at least two full semesters.

Chairs of complex departments receive two course releases per year. A Chair may opt to receive compensation at the prevailing rate for undergraduate adjunct/overload instruction for one or both of these released courses. The Chairs of other departments receive one course release per year OR the undergraduate adjunct/overload rate. The formula to designate complex departments can be determined thusly:

- FTE faculty average of 7 or more across the last 3 years, or
- An average of at least 200 credit hours by FTE faculty across the last 3 years, or
- An average of at least 20 graduating majors across the last 3 years.

Chairs of departments that do not meet any of these three criteria may petition the Dean for an additional release in the event of circumstances that are not taken into account above.

Based on the last three years of data, the following departments would qualify as large or complex departments:

Biology, Business Management, Economics, English, Environmental Science and Studies, Math and Computer Science, Music, Political Science, Psychology, Sociology, and World Languages and Cultures An eligible faculty member may normally take a maximum of two course releases, two stipends, or one release and one stipend per year. But taking two course releases in one semester, or one release in fall semester and one release in spring semester, requires the acquiescence of the department chair. If a second release is not possible, the alternative is a stipend. Chairs of complex departments who are entitled to two course releases and/or stipends on that basis and are also eligible for a release or stipend for SCEs may take all of them as stipends but may not take more than two of them as course releases; the third must be a stipend.

D. External Reviews of Academic Departments and Programs

A regular cycle of external peer reviews of academic departments and programs constitutes one of the College's major academic planning and assessment strategies. Washington College's academic review process follows a ten-year cycle for major-granting programs (departments and interdisciplinary programs). It includes three formal elements: self-study, external review, and department/program response. It also includes a summary presentation to the Academic Affairs Committee of the Board of Visitors and Governors, and, as a final step, consideration and potential implementation of recommendations. The Department Chair or Program Director may propose to include pertinent interdisciplinary minors, certificates, or co-curricular programs in the review, and programs may request review in tandem. Departments and programs may request that their external peer review be accelerated or delayed.

Changes to the frequency of external reviews, their timetables, and guidelines are determined by the administration in consultation with the faculty.

Detailed Academic Review guidelines are located <u>https://washcoll.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/WC-Faculty/FacultyAdminReports/Shared%20Documents/Provost%20Faculty%20Resources/Program</u>%20Review/Academic%20Review%20Process.pdf?csf=1&web=1

E. Faculty Meetings

Faculty meetings are presided over by the Faculty Moderator, and are typically held on the first Monday of each month from September through May except Labor Day and when classes are not in session. The meetings are intended to provide a forum for discussion of the activities and educational policies of the College, for formal action of the faculty where such action is indicated, and for general communication.

Special meetings may be called by the President of the College according to their judgment or whenever requested by at least five voting members of the Faculty, in coordination with the Faculty Moderator.

Attendance at faculty meetings is expected of all voting members of the faculty. The Provost and Dean of the College should be informed of any anticipated absences.

Robert's Rules of Order govern the meetings. Voting is *viva voce* or by a show of hands unless a secret ballot is requested by a voting member or unless the Faculty Moderator declares a secret ballot desirable.

The President, Provost and Dean of the College, and all tenure-line faculty members and professional librarians, are entitled to vote at faculty meetings. Visiting Assistant Professors, lecturers, staff members and other faculty members who teach at least half-time (3 courses per year) may also vote after two years of service. Following two years of at least half-time teaching, non-tenure-track instructors may only vote during academic years in which they teach at least half time.

Non-voting members of the faculty and all administrative officers of the College, even though not entitled to vote, are urged to attend faculty meetings.

The President of the Student Government Association and the Editor of the *Elm* (or their designates) may attend faculty meetings as observers.

When items of policy are to be presented for a vote, or whenever by a majority of those present it is so ordered, items must be submitted in writing to the entire faculty for consideration at least one calendar week in advance of the faculty meeting at which a determination is to be made.

By formal resolution of the Board of Visitors and Governors of the College, it is recognized that the faculty has the right, speaking for itself as a corporate body, to make its opinion on educational policy known to the public as long as educational policy is not interpreted in such a way that it overlaps the legal responsibility of the Visitors and Governors. It is the further opinion of the Board that wherever practical, the faculty should consult with the Board before publishing such opinion.

By faculty resolution, routine announcements of upcoming campus events (art exhibits, concerts, films, lectures, plays, etc.) are not ordinarily made in the faculty meeting.

The Faculty Handbook

The Faculty Handbook will be maintained as follows:

Changes to handbook language approved by the faculty at faculty meetings will be reflected in the Faculty Handbook for the following academic year. Unless otherwise noted, policy changes will take effect at the beginning of the academic year following faculty approval.

Parties bringing proposals to the faculty that will result in changes to handbook language will include current and proposed language, including identification of the section in the handbook being modified.

The Faculty Moderator will review the proposed change for consistency with existing handbook language, and notify the proposing parties of any irregularities that need to be corrected.

The Faculty Moderator, in consultation with the Chief of Staff, will identify policy changes that require approval from the Board of Visitors and Governors before being included in the handbook.

The Faculty Secretary will include approved handbook changes as appendices to faculty meeting minutes. Once the minutes have been approved, the Faculty Moderator will review them to determine if any other content requires a handbook update and so notify the Faculty Secretary.

The Faculty Secretary will keep a running, unpublished update of the Faculty Handbook reflecting changes indicated in approved faculty meeting minutes. At the end of the academic year, the Faculty Secretary will convey the updated handbook to the Provost's Office by May 15. The Provost's

Office will solicit updates from administrative offices which will be due July 1, and publish the new handbook by August 1.

F. College Committees

In the belief that the faculty should play a central role in the determination of academic policy, Washington College maintains a number of standing committees. However, in order to free faculty members as much as possible for their teaching and scholarly work, the College attempts to keep the number of committee assignments and service to a minimum. It is understood that junior faculty members with less than two years' credit towards the probationary period will assume a full measure of service work only gradually, and shall not serve on any Standing Committee of the College in their first year. Junior faculty members with two or more years' credit towards the probationary period may serve on Standing Committees of the College in their first year.

Only tenure-line faculty members and professional librarians are eligible to serve in faculty positions on Standing Committees of the College.

All terms for faculty members on standing committees are for three years, except for the Tenure and Promotion Committee, whose members are elected to two-year terms. Members of all committees are elected for staggered terms in order to provide continuity of experience on each committee. Faculty members are eligible for re-election to all committees, though not ordinarily for successive terms.

Administrators

The President and the Provost and Dean of the College are members of all standing committees except the Appeals Committee, and IACUC, on which the Provost serves and the President does not.

The President and the Provost and Dean of the College are without vote on all standing committees except the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, on which the Provost and Dean of the College votes and the President does not. The President and the Provost and Dean of the College are not eligible to chair standing committees, with the exception that the Provost and Dean of the College chairs the Advisory Committee on Appointments, the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion and the Curriculum Committee.

Students

Unless otherwise noted below, student members of committees shall be appointed by the Student Government Association.

Ad hoc committees and other new groups

Before ad hoc committees, working groups, or taskforces that include faculty members are created, the Faculty Council will be consulted to determine if an ad hoc group is needed, and, if so, how that new ad hoc entity will relate to the College's co-governance structure. If the new ad hoc committee requires faculty representation that falls outside of the committee structure, the Faculty Council will determine if the faculty representation will be selected by appointment or election. Based on that determination, the Service and Scholarship Committee will either nominate or conduct an election for the appropriate faculty representatives.

Standing Committees of the College

Academic Resources and Services: Assists in the integration of academic resources and services including the Library, academic computing, the Writing Center, the Office of Academic Skills, the Quantitative Skills Center, the Center for Career Development, the Global Education Office, the Office of Intercultural Affairs, and internships into the curriculum and academic programs; recommends policy and assists in assessment and planning of resources in these areas. Assists the heads of these services in establishing policies and serves as the liaison between them and the faculty and students.

Membership: Three faculty members, one from each division; two students; the Provost and Dean of the College or designee; the Librarian or designee; the Directors of the Writing Center, the Office of Academic Skills, the Quantitative Skills Center, Office of Information Technology, and the Center for Career Development, and the administrator of the Global Education Office and the Office of Intercultural Affairs. One faculty member serves as liaison to the Friends of the Library Executive Committee. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of their number as chair for the upcoming school year and report the chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Academic Standing and Advising: Responsible for monitoring the academic progress of students, rewarding academic achievement, and ensuring the proper academic advisement of students. Considers all cases of academic standing within the student body; handles petitions for exempting individuals from academic policy. Recommends policy regarding academic rules (e.g., transcripts or counting of credits). Develops policy and guidelines for all aspects of academic advising, including advisor orientation, advising workshops, the *Catalog* and other written guidelines; regularly evaluates the advising system (material relating to the performance of individual Advisors will be evaluated by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion). Reviews criteria for academic awards on campus. After appropriate consultation with the faculty, the committee meets without its student members and submits nominations at the April faculty meeting for the George Washington, Clark-Porter, and Goldstein Awards and the Catlin and Casey Medals.

Membership: Three faculty members, one from each division; two students; The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention; the Vice President and Dean of Student Affairs or designee; and the Registrar and Registration. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of their number as chair for the upcoming school year and report the chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Admissions and Financial Aid: Works with the Admissions Office to develop recruitment programs and to integrate admissions activities with other aspects of campus life; recommends admissions and financial aid policies; assists the Vice President of Enrollment Management and Marketing in the execution of the recruitment, admissions, and financial aid policies of the College. The faculty chair attends meetings of the Board Admissions Committee as non-voting member.

Membership: Three faculty members, one from each division; three students, one of whom must be a first-year student; the Vice President of Enrollment Management and Marketing; the Provost and Dean of the College or designee; the Vice President of Student Affairs and Dean of Students or designee; the Director of Admissions, and the Director of Financial Aid. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of their number as chair for the upcoming school year and report the chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Advisory Committee on Appointments: This committee will advise the President on hiring decisions in tenure-track and other full-time faculty searches. It [the committee] makes evaluations and recommends to the faculty, which in turn may recommend to the administration, policies pertaining to affirmative action. It is responsible for the implementation of the College's Affirmative Action Plan for faculty positions.

Membership: Three faculty members, one from each of the three divisions; one tenured at-large faculty member appointed by the President; and the Provost and Dean of the College, who serves as chair. The at-large faculty member will serve as Faculty Affirmative Action Officer. Faculty serving on the Advisory Committee on Appointments may not serve simultaneously on the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion and are excused from serving on any other Standing Committee of the College.

Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion: The President, with the advice of this committee, recommends to the Visitors and Governors all appointments to continuous tenure, promotions in rank within the faculty, dismissals from the faculty, and the appointment and regular evaluation of department and program chairs. This committee hears faculty personnel grievances and disputes that are not covered by the policies on discrimination and sexual harassment, or by the Faculty Appointment and Tenure Appeal Procedure and that cannot be resolved by the department chair or the Provost and Dean of the College. It advises on the awarding of sabbaticals and leaves of absence. In accordance with the College by-laws, it also conducts an annual review of the size and distribution of the Faculty in relation to the overall curricular needs of the College; the review will typically be completed at the beginning of each academic year, and a brief written report of overall impressions will subsequently be shared with the faculty. Faculty committee members serve as the pool of recommended faculty representatives for presidential search committees.

Membership: Four faculty members holding tenure, one from each of the three divisions and one atlarge; the Provost and Dean of the College, who serves as chair; and the President of the College, who serves as *ex officio* non-voting member.

Appeals: Hears appeals by faculty members who have been denied re-appointment, tenure, or promotion, in accordance with the Faculty Appointments and Tenure Appeal Procedure. The committee elects its own chair if and when it is convened to hear an appeal. No one serving on the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion may serve concurrently on the Appeals Committee. (A member of the Appeals Committee may be elected to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, but by accepting election that person automatically resigns from the Appeals Committee, to be replaced on the Appeals Committee at the next faculty meeting.)

In addition, the members of Appeals will serve as the pool from which the Provost would select faculty representatives to a Discrimination and Dispute Review Committee (DDRC) if and when one is convened to review a case alleging violation of College policy in matters of discrimination or harassment.

Membership: Three faculty members holding tenure, one from each of the three divisions, and two at-large faculty members holding tenure, from different divisions; all five members will be elected by the faculty. Faculty on the Appeals committee must also serve on an additional standing committee

to fulfill their service requirement to the College

Assessment: Receives and reviews Student Learning Outcomes Assessment (SLOA) reports from academic departments and programs, including all majors and minor programs. Coordinates, with the assistance of the Writing Program Director, the First Year Program Director, and department chairs, assessment of the general education program in accordance with the standards established by the Middle States Commission on Higher Education. Provides feedback to departments and programs regarding SLOA reports, and submits an annual summary of findings to the Provost and the Curriculum Committee. Consults with departments, programs, and faculty at large in developing meaningful and sustainable assessment methods. The reporting of the assessment committee to the Provost and/or back to departments must not be used for purposes of merit decisions or tenure and promotion. The committee receives support from the Director of Institutional Research and other relevant staff in the Provost's office.

Membership: Three faculty, one elected from each division for three-year terms (staggered). Director of Institutional Research (ex officio, non-voting). The faculty of the committee elect one of their elected number as chair annually.

Benefits and Finance: Responsible for ongoing review of and recommendations for modification of all matters related to "fringe benefits," including (but not limited to) health insurance, retirement benefits, group life and disability insurance, and tuition remission. Recommendations will be brought to the attention of the appropriate administrative office. The Benefits and Finance Committee will meet, as an advisory body, in preparation of the College's annual budget, in review of previous year performance, and in review and recommendations concerning salary and fringe benefits policies.

Membership: Three faculty members, one from each division (at least one must be tenured); the President; the Provost and Dean of the College; and the Vice President for Finance, who will also serve as co-chair; one member each from the dining service, maintenance, professional and clerical staffs; and the Director of Human Resources. A rotating representative (non-voting) from the Faculty Council shall attend Benefits and Finance Committee meetings in addition to the elected faculty members of the Benefits and Finance Committee. Faculty members (non-voting) of the Planning Committee will also attend Benefits and Finance Committee meetings for consideration of budget issues.

The committee is co-chaired by the Vice President for Finance and one faculty member. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of the tenured members as co-chair for the upcoming school year and report the co-chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Advisory Board, Cromwell Center for Teaching and Learning: Provides guidance in developing and implementing programs that serve CTL's mission of valuing, rewarding, sustaining, and renewing excellence in teaching and learning. Makes recommendations to the Provost in the awarding of CTL grants.

Membership: The Director of the CTL who serves as Chair; The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention or designee; the Chief Academic Technology Officer or designee; Dean of the Library and Academic Technology or designee; and three faculty, one from each division, elected by vote of the faculty. Designees will be chosen in consultation with the Director of the CTL.

Faculty serve staggered, two-year terms. The Advisory Board also includes as a consulting member (non-voting) a director from a teaching and learning center at a peer institution, selected by the Director of CTL.

Curriculum: Reviews and evaluates the College undergraduate curricula and academic assessment procedures at regular intervals. Develops and recommends to the Faculty proposals for curricular change. Reviews and recommends to the Faculty all proposals for adding or terminating courses or modifying programs (other than those covered by the ByLaws on Program Change and Financial Exigency). Prepares an annual State of the Curriculum report reflecting on curricular needs and summarizing both curricular changes and the curricular development information presented to the Faculty during the preceding year. Monitors curricular trends in higher education, disseminating to the Faculty such information as it judges worthy of attention. Solicits and approves Honors courses and FYS seminars. Approves all external grant applications with curricular components that are not housed in an academic department.

Membership: Six faculty members, two from each division, with one member from each division being elected solely by that division and serving as Division Chair; the Librarian or designee; three students, one from each division; and the Provost and Dean of the College, who serves as chair.

Diversity Committee: Responsible for leading campus efforts to strengthen the measurable quality and effectiveness of diversity related programs, policies and practices consistent with the mission of the College, the Diversity Statement, and the College's diversity goals.

Membership: Three elected faculty members, the Director of Intercultural Affairs; the Assistant Director of Intercultural Affairs; the Board Diversity Liaison; the Director of Human Resources; the Associate Dean for International Education; the Disability Access Specialist; two staff members chosen by the Staff Council; and three students appointed by the Student Government Association.

In order to assist with the ongoing and reasonably complex nature of the committee's work, faculty and staff serve three-year staggered terms and students are appointed annually. The faculty and staff members of the committee elect one faculty and one staff member to serve as co-chairs in May each year for the upcoming academic year.

Faculty Council: Meets regularly to advise the President and Dean on matters of general college policy. Serves as a forum for the administration's consultation of the faculty and for the faculty's access to the administration. Receives faculty requests and concerns and takes them to the administration and/or refers them to an appropriate committee (including itself). Consults with the Chair of Service and Scholarship before annual nominations and elections. Receives annual reports from all faculty committees. Monitors committee structure and performance, and selection procedures; proposes changes as needed. Recommends policy concerning faculty workload, duties, and responsibilities in the areas of teaching, scholarship, and service. Recommends policy concerning faculty support services and working conditions. Is represented at Senior Staff meetings by the chair or their designate. Meets annually with appropriate Board committees. Recommends policy concerning faculty appointment, evaluation, tenure, promotion, and leave. Recommends policy concerning the roles and duties of departmental and divisional chairs. Recommends policy

concerning the appointment and evaluation of departmental chairs. Recommends policy concerning academic freedom and professional standards and ethics. Serves as the pool of recommended faculty representatives for presidential search committees.

Membership: Membership consists of the President and the Provost and Dean (non-voting) and five elected members, three of whom are tenured and represent each division; the two remaining are elected at-large by the faculty, at least one of whom is untenured. Members do not serve on any other standing committees of the college; for that reason, new members are elected each year in the month preceding regular elections for other committees [which is March]. The committee elects its chair annually from among its tenured members. The chair receives a one-course reduction in load each year and is entitled to support from the Director of Institutional Research and Assessment and from a secretary in Bunting Hall. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of the tenured members as chair for the upcoming school year and report the chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Graduate Council (presently inactive): Administers all matters relating to the existing Graduate Program; selects faculty to participate in the program; oversees the development of course offerings, course descriptions, and the *Catalog*, admits students to the program; considers appeals from graduate students in academic matters; shares with the Curriculum Committee responsibility for program initiatives, which may originate in either body. The Curriculum Committee will consult with the Graduate Council when assessing the status and direction of the Graduate Program.

Membership: The chairs of the Education, English, History, and Psychology Departments or their selected representatives, the Registrar and Registration, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the Director of the Graduate Program, who serves as chair.

Honor Board: Hears cases of alleged violations of the Honor Code, both academic and social, as described in the Honor Code.

Membership: Six at-large faculty members serve as regular members. They rotate as fairly as possible, sharing equal load in hearings. The gender composition should always include at least two members of either gender. Nine students serve as regular members. Non-voting members: the Provost and Dean of the College or designee, the Vice President and Dean of Student Affairs or designee, and the Honor Board Chair (a student) or designee. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of their number as vice-chair for the upcoming school year and report the vice-chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee: Assures the College is in compliance with all Federal mandates and regulations for the care and use of animals in research activities; reviews and approves all planned research or projects involving animal subjects; holds semi- annual program reviews and facility inspections; report semi-annually to the Provost who serves as the Institutional Officer.

Membership: One member each from the Departments of Psychology and Biology, with one of these members serving as Chair of the committee; at least one additional member from the Division of Natural Sciences; at least one additional at-large non-scientist member chosen from the other divisions, preferably contributing expertise in ethics, law, or religion; one student majoring in the

natural sciences; one contracted Attending Veterinarian, to be appointed by the Provost; at least one community member that is not an officer, employee, or agent of the College; the Provost (*ex officio*, non-voting) who serves as the Institutional Officer. Due to federal mandates, IACUC members cannot legally be chosen by popular vote; they must be appointed by the Institutional Officer. Additional members may be appointed at the discretion of the Institutional Officer. Faculty members are eligible to serve additional consecutive terms.

Committee on International Education: The Committee on International Education will provide an effective voice to discuss and shape significant issues related to International Education at Washington College. The Committee will work together with the Director of the Global Education Office and the Provost and Dean (or designee) on the following: assessing, monitoring and establishing protocols and guidelines for the support, implementation and direction of international semester and short-term programs, developing new programs and faculty exchanges, promoting site visits, examining and addressing the needs of international students to thrive academically and socially at Washington College, and promoting the integration of international programs and students into the intellectual and social life of Washington College. The committee meets annually with the Provost and Vice Presidents of Student Affairs and Admissions.

Membership: Three elected faculty members, one from each division with one serving as chair, the Associate Dean for International Education, the Director of the Office of English Language Learning, and two students appointed by the Student Government Association. One student member should be an international, degree-seeking student.

Planning: Participates and involves the College community in the development and implementation of College priorities and plans; monitors and assesses progress on elements of current strategic plans; and assures appropriate dissemination of planning and assessment results to the College constituents. Coordinates, elaborates and integrates recommendations concerning program, facilities, and human and fiscal resources that arise from the appropriate committees or administrative officers or are prepared by those bodies at the request of the committee. The Committee's formal proposals pertaining to the academic program will be subject to the normal Faculty deliberative process before final submission to the administration.

Membership: Four faculty members, one from each division and one at-large; three students; the President; the Provost and Dean of the College; the Vice President and Dean of Student Affairs; the Senior Vice President for Finance and Management, the Vice President for Enrollment Management and Marketing and the Vice President of College Advancement; members of the administration and the Alumni Association as invited by the President. The committee is co-chaired by one appointee of the President and one faculty member, elected by the four faculty members on the committee. Faculty members (non-voting) of the Planning Committee will also attend Benefits and Finance Committee meetings for consideration of budget issues.

After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of their members as co-chair for the upcoming school year and report the co-chair's name to the chair of Service and Scholarship.

Premedical Committee: Disseminates information about a variety of medical careers and how to prepare for them. The main task of the non-chair committee members is to review premedical files, interview student candidates, and make recommendations about whether or not intended applicants are prepared for and suitable for the degrees they wish to seek. The work of the Premedical

Committee ultimately enhances a student's chances of gaining access to post-graduate education working toward a medical degree (MD or DO), a dental degree (DMD or DDS), an optometry degree (OD), or a podiatry degree (DPM). The committee needs to remain up-to-date with ongoing changes in the various fields in order to comply with all program guidelines and application regulations by program and state. The Chair of the Premedical Committee will also work across the curriculum to develop and sustain a strong pre-med curricular program, and work with all offices of the college to provide meaningful co-curricular experiences, scholarship opportunities, and Advancement opportunities, all meant to support pre-med students. The Chair organizes the committee meetings and works in conjunction with the Coordinator of the Pre-health Professions to complete all necessary paperwork for the student applications.

Membership: The committee is comprised of six faculty members, including the Director of the Pre-Health Programs who serves as Chair of the Premedical Committee, and one staff member. The Coordinator of Pre-health Professions will serve as the staff representative. A faculty member from each: Biology, Chemistry and Psychology are required. The fourth faculty position on the committee should come from Physics or Math and Computer Science Departments. The fifth and sixth members are at large. Faculty are encouraged to serve a six-year term. Committee members will be proposed by the committee and appointed by the Provost and Dean.

Review Board for Research with Human Subjects: Establishes procedures which allow the College to meet assurances which may be requested by Federal or State governments for the protection of human subjects in research activities; approves planned research with human subjects, as necessary; reports annually to the President and Dean of the College on its activities.

Membership: One faculty member from the Department of Psychology, chosen by the department, who serves as chair, and one faculty member from each of the three divisions; two students, at least one of whom is majoring in the social or natural sciences; and one member who is not an officer, employee, or agent of the College, to be appointed by the President.

Risk Management Committee: advises the President and Senior Staff of the College on policy and practices that ensure the College appropriately identifies, mitigates and reports health, safety, legal and environmental risks to the college community; recommends changes to College policies and procedures to reflect best practices; conducts periodic inspections of facilities, events, and worksites to ensure adequate identification and response to risks to the safety of visitors, students and employees; reviews and evaluates emergency and hazard plans for college laboratories and industrial areas to ensure regulatory compliance; conducts drills and training to educate both employees and students on emergency procedures and evaluates response; reviews College policies and procedures in light of safety-related incidents, changes in insurance coverage or requirements, and/or outcomes of exercises conducted by the Emergency Operations Group; meets annually with the emergency Operations Group to discuss safety-related matters; and hears concerns from the College community regarding safety issue or incidents and prepares response plans to address these matters.

Membership: Investment and Risk Manager (Ex Officio; permanent chair); voting permanent members: Director of Public Safety; Asst. Director of Public Safety; Asst. Director of Human Resources; Associate Vice President for Facilities Management; Principal, Business Intelligence or designee; Laboratory Manager/Chemical Hygiene Officer; one Faculty Representative (AL, three years); voting rotating members: SGA appointee (1 year); Student Engagement appointee (three years); Health Services appointee (three years); member of Dining Services management team (1 year); Athletics appointee (three years)

Service and Scholarship Committee: Fosters the professional development of the faculty by recommending allocation of Faculty Enhancement Funds and Faculty-Student Collaborative Research Grants; recommends policy regarding Faculty Enhancement, Faculty-Student Collaborative Research and faculty travel funds. Prepares a slate of faculty candidates for each standing committee and other faculty service positions for presentation at the March faculty meeting each year; makes nominations to fill vacancies as necessary throughout the year. Maintains lists of members of all college committees and those filling faculty service positions; assesses and attempts to balance faculty service workload. When ad hoc committees are created which will be in existence for more than two months and which may include faculty members, this committee will be consulted; it will also review existing ad hoc committees annually. The members of this committee also make up the faculty component of the Board's Honors and Awards Committee, which screens nominations and recommends to the Visitors and Governors all candidates for honorary degrees, awards for excellence, and senior fellows.

Membership: Three faculty members, one from each division. Two of the faculty must be tenured, one of whom will chair the Committee. The Provost and Dean of the College attends meetings on Faculty Enhancement Fund and Faculty-Student Collaborative Research Grant allocations. After the last faculty meeting of the school year and before commencement, the faculty members of the newly constituted committee will elect one of their number as chair for the upcoming school year.

A member of the Committee who has submitted an application for funds allocated by this Committee (e.g., Faculty Enhancement) will be excused from participation in deliberations over their own proposal (i.e., the member will step out of the room when their proposal is discussed during the session).

[Note: In AY23, the faculty voted to reduce the number of faculty serving on the Student Life Committee. There is now just one faculty role, filled by the SGA faculty advisor, but the committee is no longer included in this list of standing committees with elected faculty positions.]

G. Other Service Positions

In addition to electing members of standing committees, the faculty also elects members to serve in the following positions:

Faculty Moderator: A tenured faculty member shall be the sole presiding officer at faculty meetings. This Faculty Moderator is responsible for establishing the theme of each faculty meeting and setting the agenda by accepting and soliciting items for discussion and action and soliciting participation by appropriate persons in advance of meetings. Beyond the scheduling of routine business, the Moderator shall endeavor to focus meetings on large questions of importance, such as the financial health of the institution or the long-range outlook for admissions and the size of the student body, with presentations from appropriate members of the administration and faculty. The Moderator is assisted in these duties by the Faculty Secretary. The Moderator will assist in maintaining the Faculty Handbook, as described in Section II.E.11. The Moderator maintains the list of eligible voting faculty. At the beginning of the academic year, the Moderator solicits the names of

eligible non-tenure-track instructors from department chairs. The Service and Scholarship Committee annually solicits nominations for the Moderator for election at the faculty meeting in the month preceding regular elections for committees other than Faculty Council. Moderators may serve for a maximum of three consecutive annual terms. The Faculty Moderator shall be excused from service on any standing committee during his or her term.

Faculty Secretary: A faculty secretary to serve a one-year term. The faculty secretary shall keep minutes that document the official business of the faculty and that record the essentials of faculty discussion and debate. The faculty secretary serves as the official correspondent for the faculty. The Faculty Secretary will also assist in maintaining the Faculty Handbook, as described in Section II.E.11. The secretary shall be chosen from among the tenured and untenured members of the faculty who have been at the College for at least three years. The secretary shall not be obliged to serve on any other committee.

Representatives to the Board of Visitors and Governors: One member (at-large, tenured) to sit with the Board of Visitors and Governors and the Academic Affairs Committee of the Board as an observer, one member (at-large) to sit with the Buildings and Grounds Committee of the Board, one member (at-large) to sit with the Committee on Advancement, and four members (one from each division, and one at-large) to sit with the Honors and Awards Committee.

Roster of faculty service positions

The Service and Scholarship Committee will maintain a list of the service positions held by all members of the faculty. In addition to committee memberships and the other elected positions described above, service positions shall include, but are not limited to, the following: SGA Advisor, membership of the Concert Series Committee; coordinator of the Film Series; membership of ad hoc, advisory and divisional committees; membership of the Board of Editors of the Washington College Review; the Pre-Professional Program Advisors; and membership of the Emergency Operations Group (EOG), described below.

The EOG meets once a month, has table-top exercises practicing responses to various scenarios, as well as "live" exercises working with government emergency services at the local and state level. Members are required to attend a minimum of two drills per year and are expected to complete two online courses renewing their certification every three years. Members are on call 24/7, 365 days a year. Alternate members are not expected to attend regular monthly meetings unless the regular member is not able, but should try to attend the exercises. The President appoints the Faculty Representative and the alternate member.

H. Faculty Elections

Faculty elections to standing committees and other elected positions will occur at the March faculty meeting, with the exception that the election of the Faculty Moderator and members of the Faculty Council will occur at the February meeting, and election to the Appeals Committee will occur at the April faculty meeting.

For the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion; the Appeals Committee; the Faculty Council; and the Service and Scholarship Committee; the Service and Scholarship Committee will, at least fourteen days prior to the election, send notice to faculty members including a list of members eligible for election for each committee. Nomination will occur when two faculty members give written advice to the chair of Service and Scholarship Committee seven days before the scheduled election. A candidate who declines nomination must do so in the faculty meeting.

Members of each Academic Division will elect their Division's Representative to the Curriculum Committee, who also serves as Division Chair, before the March faculty meeting. The Service and Scholarship Committee will remind each division of the proper time to elect a new chair. The faculty as a whole will elect the other members of the Curriculum Committee at the March meeting. The procedures for election for the other members will be the same as those in paragraph 4 below.

For all other elected positions, the Service and Scholarship Committee will, at least fourteen days prior to the election, circulate a list of positions to be filled, requesting faculty members to indicate positions in which they wish to serve. Guided (but not bound) by faculty response to this list, the Service and Scholarship Committee will prepare a slate of candidates for election.

At the specified faculty meeting, further nominations will be called for, one position at a time, without voting on the candidates for any of the committees in question.

After all further nominations have been heard, the chair calls for a vote of acceptance of the Service and Scholarship Committee's nominations for all those committees for which no further nominations were made.

Voting then proceeds for each committee for which further nominations were made. Anyone wishing to make additional nominations to these committees is free to do so prior to beginning the voting, but must address the chair of their interest.

Voting procedure is as follows:

- 1. A voter may cast as many votes as there are vacancies to be filled by that ballot. Election will occur when a candidate receives the number of votes equal to the majority of ballots cast.
- 2. If all positions are not filled by the first ballot, a second ballot will occur among the candidates receiving the highest number of votes, the number of candidates being equal to the number of vacancies plus two.
- 3. If all positions are not filled by the second ballot, a third ballot will occur among the candidates receiving the highest number of votes, the number of candidates being equal to the number of vacancies plus one.
- 4. Unless otherwise directed by the faculty, as many ballots as are required to fill all vacancies shall be taken during the faculty meeting when elections are held, and the results shall be posted as soon as they are determined.

Selection of a New Provost and Dean

In the event of a search for a new Provost and Dean, the faculty recommends that the President, in consultation with the Service and Scholarship committee, make arrangements for the faculty to elect five of its members — one member from each division and two at-large members, one of whom should be untenured — as representatives for the search committee.

I. External Honors and Awards

Any entity of the college, such as Centers, Institutes, Departments, Programs, or the like, wishing to create a new honor or award for external candidates may do so only with the approval of the Provost and Dean and the President. In the event that a new honor or award is approved, criteria and rules for selection will be developed by the Center, Institute, Department, Program or entity conferring the honor or award; these rules will be reviewed by the Faculty Council as well as by relevant advisory boards or selection committees. When this type of honor or award is conferred on an external candidate, the choice of recipient must be reviewed and approved by the Provost and Dean and the President.



III. ACADEMIC POLICIES

The Catalog is issued and revised annually and provides detailed current information on academic regulations, registration procedures, distribution and major requirements, and special programs and opportunities, as well as general information important to all faculty members. Faculty are urged to have the latest issue of the Catalog available to them and to be familiar with its contents.

A. Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 as amended (FERPA) affords students certain rights with respect to their education records. These rights include:

• The right to inspect and review the student's education record within 45 days of the day the College receives a request for access.

Students should submit to the Registrar and Registration written requests that identify the record(s) they wish to inspect. The Registrar and Registration will make arrangements for access and notify the student of the time and place where the records may be inspected. If the records are not maintained by the College official to whom the request was submitted, that official shall advise the student of the correct official to whom the request should be addressed.

• The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the student believes are inaccurate.
Students may ask the College to amend a record that they believe is inaccurate. They should write the College official responsible for the record, clearly identify the part of the record they want changed, and specify why it is inaccurate. This request should be delivered to the Registrar and Registration, who will forward it to the proper College official.

If the College decides not to amend the record as requested by the student, the College will notify the student of the decision and advise the student of their right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provided to the student when notified of the right to a hearing.

• The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent.

An exception, which permits disclosure without consent, is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by the College in an administrative, supervisory, academic or research, or support staff position; a person or company with whom the College has contracted (such as an attorney, auditor, or collection agent); or a student serving on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee, or assisting another school official in performing their tasks. A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill their professional responsibility.

 The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by Washington College to comply with the requirements of FERPA.
The name and address of the Office that administers FERPA is:

> Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20202-5901

As of January 3, 2012, the U.S. Department of Education's FERPA regulations expand the circumstances under which a student's education records and personally identifiable information (PII) contained in such records — including a student's Social Security Number, grades, or other private information — may be accessed without the student's consent. First, the U.S. Comptroller General, the U.S. Attorney General, the U.S. Secretary of Education, or state and local education authorities ("Federal and State Authorities") may allow access to a student's records and PII without their consent to any third party designated by a Federal or State Authority to evaluate a federal- or state-supported education program. The evaluation may relate to any program that is "primarily engaged in the provision of education," such as early childhood education and job training, as well as any program that is administered by an education agency or institution. Second, Federal and State Authorities may allow access to a student's education records and PII without their consent to researchers performing certain types of studies, in certain cases even when the College objects to or does not request such research. Federal and State Authorities must obtain certain use-restriction and data security promises from the entities that they authorize to receive a student's PII, but the Authorities need not maintain direct control over such entities. In addition, in connection with Statewide Longitudinal Data Systems, State Authorities may collect, compile, permanently retain, and share without a student's consent PII from their education records, and they may track a

student's participation in education and other programs by linking such PII to other personal information about the student that they obtain from other Federal or State data sources, including workforce development, unemployment insurance, child welfare, juvenile justice, military service, and migrant student records systems.

B. The Advising System

Washington College strongly believes that among the best traditions of the liberal arts college is the close personal relationship between students and the faculty. In such an atmosphere, the advising of students merges with the teaching of students, as a full education is not merely the acquisition of book knowledge, but the much larger process of interaction between a student and their total world. For pervasive and far-reaching beneficial effects, all members of the faculty must be ready at all times to assist all students whenever the opportunity arises. No advisory system can by itself produce these desired results, since such a system can do little more than direct students to that faculty or staff member who is particularly concerned with their problems. In all student advising, faculty members should remember that any counsel given should be consistent with the growing maturity of the student, which will be reflected in an increasing ability and desire to make sound interpretations and decisions independently.

Advisors normally meet with their first-year students at least three times during the fall semester; during New Student Orientation to get acquainted and review the student's academic program, in the third or fourth week of the semester to see how the student is doing and whether they have encountered any difficulties, and during the advising period, to plan for the next semester. Other sessions are often called for, however, depending on the student's needs. Advisors of first-year students should review their students' interim grades and meet with any students whose interim grades indicate academic difficulties. It is the adviser's responsibility to know of each advisee's progress during, as well as at the end of, the semester. The Academic Standing and Advising Committee assists the Associate Provost in administering the advising system.

To further the aims of student advising, all members of the faculty should post publicly a regular schedule of office hours when they are available for counsel, assistance, and, when needed, remedial instruction.

C. Academic Eligibility and Policies for Athletes

Washington College is committed to developing students who excel in both academics and athletics. All athletes must satisfy the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA), the Centennial Conference, and Washington College eligibility rules, which are as follows:

Student-athletes must be enrolled for 12 or more credits in the semester of participation and must be making satisfactory progress towards the baccalaureate degree to be eligible.

Student-athletes have ten semesters to complete four years of athletic eligibility.

Because athletic travel results in missed class time, class attendance at all other times is expected. Practices, scrimmages, and off-season events are not valid reasons for missing classes; studentathletes should attend the class and arrange with the coach to make up missed practice time. Professors, when given appropriate notice in advance, should attempt to accommodate the studentathlete's efforts to maintain academic responsibility by providing fair avenues for completing missed assignments and exams. While it is a student's responsibility to adhere to an instructor's attendance policy, instructors are encouraged to maintain some flexibility in attendance policy to accommodate students engaged in officially sanctioned and scheduled College athletic activities. Student-athletes, having the advantage of early notice of regular season schedules, should consult with the instructor at the beginning of each course about any conflict in the schedules of classes and athletic events.

To facilitate faculty awareness and cooperation with students regarding absences, the sports offered at Washington College and their competitive seasons are as follows:

	Men	Women
Fall	Soccer Sailing Trap and Skeet	Soccer Volleyball Field Hockey Sailing
Winter	Basketball Swimming	Trap and Skeet Basketball Swimming
Spring	Baseball	Softball
	Tennis Crew Sailing	Tennis Crew Sailing
	Trap and Skeet	Trap and Skeet

D. Policy on Students with Disabilities

Students with disabilities are eligible to receive reasonable accommodations. Accommodations for students with documented disabilities will be tailored to meet the student's individual needs and will comply with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and other applicable laws. Requests for accommodation and/or variation in degree requirements, accompanied by appropriate supporting documentation, should be submitted in writing to:

Disability Access Specialist Office of Academic Skills Washington College 300 Washington Avenue Chestertown, Maryland 21620

E. Scheduling of Classes

Tentative schedules of classes are prepared by the department chairs in consultation with members of their departments. The time schedule of classes for the whole College is then prepared in the Registrar's Office.

Faculty members are asked to cooperate with their chairs and the Registrar's Office in spacing classes over all time slots scheduled for both morning and afternoon classes, in order to minimize student conflicts and to avoid congestion of classrooms at popular hours.

Requests by faculty members for changes or special consideration in class scheduling should be submitted through the department chair to the Registrar's Office early in October (for the Spring semester) and late February/early March (for the Fall semester).

The final schedule of class time and locations must not be changed by a member of the faculty. Any requests for changes in the schedule once it is issued must be made through the department chair to the Registrar's Office.

Each class has a scheduled time for the final examination. Final examinations should not be administered at other times.

F. Retaining Final Examinations

Final examinations should be retained by the faculty at least until the middle of the semester following their administration in order to permit students to review them if they are interested in doing so.

G. Washington College Honor System

At Washington College we strive to treat our students as adults and expect them to act as such. Our rules and regulations are designed to establish a mature social atmosphere, which allows each student a maximum of individual freedom while protecting the rights of both the College and other students. The College's basic philosophy is reflected in its Standard of Conduct and its Honor Code.

Standard of conduct: All students entering Washington College agree thereby to conduct themselves in a manner above reproach and to refrain from any action, which, in the opinion of the officers of the College, might bring disrespect on the school or any of its members. They are expected to observe the laws of the state and the community. The College reserves the right to require the withdrawal of any student whose conduct is considered detrimental to the welfare or reputation of the College as determined by proper procedure.

Honor Code: The Washington College Honor Code was established by vote of the faculty and students in 1976. In 1994, the Honor Code was redrafted to reflect student and faculty sentiment that a single Code should address both academic and social conduct. The text is as follows:

We at Washington College strive to maintain an environment in which learning and growth flourish through individuals' endeavors and honest intellectual exchanges both in and out of the classroom. To maintain such an environment, each member of the community pledges to respect the ideas, wellbeing, and property of others. Thus, each member of the Washington College community abides by an Honor Code.

The Washington College Honor Code sets standards for the entire College community. The intention of the Honor Code is to encourage honest academic achievement and the highest standard of social conduct in all members of the institution. Those who agree to this honor system promise to uphold it and abide by it. All students are required to sign the Honor Code upon enrollment at Washington College, signifying that they have read and understood the Honor Code, that they are willing to abide by its principles, and that they understand the sanctions they may incur if they violate the Code. There are two kinds of violations: academic and social.

1. Academic Violations of the Honor Code

Plagiarism: Presenting the language, the ideas, or the work of another as one's own, without proper attribution. Plagiarism can occur in all forms of academic work, including papers, lab reports, homework, computer programs, visual and creative arts projects, and other assignments.

Dishonesty in Exams and Quizzes: Cheating or in any way attempting to gain an unfair advantage in a quiz or exam. Examples include (but are not limited to): attempting to secure a copy of or information about a future examination or quiz without authorization from the instructor; copying another's answers during an in-class or take-home examination or quiz; using unauthorized materials, information or study aids during an examination or quiz; or communicating with other students, either through voice, written or electronic means, during inclass or take-home examinations or quizzes without authorization from the instructor.

Falsification and Fabrication: Perpetrating fraud or deceit of any kind in the course of the completion of one's academic work or in one's interactions with faculty or other college officials. Examples include (but are not limited to): inventing or falsifying information, such as citations or laboratory data; submitting identical or similar papers in more than one course without the permission of the instructors of both courses; or lying to a faculty member or other college official for the purposes of gaining an academic benefit.

Aiding and Abetting Dishonesty in Academic Work: Assisting or enticing another student to commit an act of academic dishonesty. This includes (but is not limited to): revealing the form or content of an examination or quiz; providing material, information, or other assistance to another person during an in-class or take-home examination or a quiz; or giving assistance to another person with written work that results in plagiarism.

Bribes, Threats, or Favors: Attempting to induce any member of the college community, through bribes, threats, or the offering of favors, to alter a grade, to change the evaluation of any academic work, or to gain any other academic benefit.

Computing Fraud: Participating in any kind of illicit or dishonest use of information technology. This would include (but is not limited to): gaining unauthorized access to academic or administrative records; tampering with computer programs or systems; or interfering with the use or availability of computers and computer systems.

Interference with the Academic Work of Students or Faculty: Engaging in activities that effectively interfere with, deny access to, or inhibit the academic work of either faculty or students. This includes (but is not limited to): physically or verbally disruptive behavior in the classroom or lab; altering the contents of someone else's academic work without their knowledge; purposefully impeding someone else's access to materials necessary for scholarly work; or stealing, damaging, or concealing materials or equipment necessary to the academic well-being of the College community at large, such as library books, computer files, and audio-visual equipment.

2. Social Violations of the Honor Code

Behavior that harms or threatens the physical, emotional, or social well-being of any member or guest of the College community is a social violation of the Honor Code. Such violations include but are not limited to the following:

Sexual Misconduct: For purposes of the Honor Code, sexual misconduct is defined as either deliberate sexual behavior, contact or the threat of sexual contact without the other person's consent. Examples include but are not limited to:

- 1. Crude, obscene or sexually offensive gestures.
- 2. Unwanted touching, fondling, or groping of a sexual nature or coercion to force someone else to touch, fondle, or grope.
- 3. Rape, forcible sodomy, or penetration with an inanimate object, sexual intercourse without consent.
- 4. Coercing a person to consume alcohol or other drugs for the purpose of inducing sexual activity.
- 5. Any act involving sexually-related behavior which places another person in a degrading, exploitative, abusive or humiliating situation including, but not limited to, posting photographs of a sexual nature on the Internet without permission.

Consent: Consent exists when a person freely and knowingly agrees, at the time, to participate in a particular sexual act with a particular person. There is no consent when force, threat, or coercion is used. In addition, consent cannot be given when a person is unable to make a reasonable judgment because of consumption of alcohol or other drugs, sleep deprivation, or captivity.

Specific information about sexual harassment, (which includes sexual assault/violence) and sex discrimination and the complaint procedures associated with these violations is described in the section on Discrimination and Harassment Policies in the *Faculty Handbook*. For more information about support services for victims of sexual assault, please see section on Policy on Sexual Assault -- Available Resources for Victims of Sexual Assault in the *Student Handbook*.

Acts of Violence: Any physical conduct directed towards another that causes physical harm to the targeted individual or group.

Endangering the Well Being of a Member of the College Community: Any conduct that jeopardizes the physical or emotional well-being of any member of the College community.

Threat of Violence: Any language or conduct that could be reasonably interpreted as an effort to intimidate or threaten a member of the College community.

Harassment Based on Protected Class: Unwelcome verbal, written or physical conduct based on a protected classification (race, sex, color, national or ethnic origin, age, religion, marital status, handicap or disability, sexual orientation, genetic information, or any other legally protected classification) that has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work or education (including living conditions, extracurricular activities, and social life); creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment; or constituting a threat to an individual's personal safety. Sexual harassment includes sexual violence/assault.

Harassment Other Than That of a Protected Class: Unwelcome behaviors that are persistent or repetitive and create an unreasonably uncomfortable educational, work, or living environment for an individual, or unreasonably interfere with an individual's academic or job performance and opportunities.

Retaliation for Filing a Discrimination or Harassment Complaint: Retaliation against anyone for filing a complaint of discrimination or harassment, including sexual violence/assault, or participating in an investigation or hearing regarding such a complaint, is prohibited.

Disorderly Conduct: Any conduct that unreasonably interferes with the activities of individuals or groups in the College community.

Stealing, Vandalizing, Damaging, or Tampering with Personal or College Property.

Alcohol and Other Drug Violations: Any violation of the alcohol and other drugs policies including policies outlined in the Residence Hall or the Social Event policies. For more information, see section on Sanctions for Alcohol and Other Drug Violations.

Violations of the College's Residence Hall Policies: Any violation including (but not limited to): violations of the residence hall contract; unlawful discharging of fire extinguishers; excessive noise; unlawful entry into residence halls, suites, or rooms. For more information, see section on Residence Hall Policies.

Unauthorized Presence or Forcible Entry into College Facilities.

Misuse of the Internet or Other Electronic Resources: Misuse of electronic recording devices includes misuse of computers, camera phones, digital and film cameras, audio recorders, etc., in such a way that violates the principles of academic honesty, personal respect, applicable laws, or the expectation of privacy of members of the campus community.

Failure to Comply with Sanctions or Requirements of the Honor Board.

Failure to Comply with a College Official: Non-compliance with the directives of college officials, including but not limited to: Public Safety officers, administrators, faculty members, and residence hall staff or any other person who has been designated and authorized by the College to perform an institutional function within the scope of their responsibilities.

Violations of any Local, State or Federal Statutes.

Any Other Violation of a Policy of the College.

3. Reporting Honor Code Violations

While the Honor Code is meant to encourage the highest standards of personal conduct, the College recognizes that well-intentioned people sometimes make mistakes. Therefore, the College provides a grace period wherein and a method whereby students can acknowledge wrongdoing and take responsibility for their actions. Violators who do not report their wrongdoings within the grace period will be judged more severely than those who do.

Reporting Academic Violations of the Honor Code: Faculty members are asked to discuss the implementation of the Honor Code at the beginning of each semester in every class. In addition, they are expected to have students attach the following pledge (or an abbreviation suggested by the instructor) to any credit-bearing work:

I pledge my word of honor that I have abided by the Washington College Honor Code while completing this assignment.

A student who commits an academic violation of the Honor Code should report that violation to the appropriate faculty member or to the Provost and Dean of the College within forty-eight hours. Offenses committed and reported within this forty-eight-hour period may not necessarily be referred to the Honor Board; the appropriate faculty member will resolve the case personally, unless the student has previously been found responsible for a violation of the Honor Code, or if, in the judgment of the faculty member, the infraction may warrant more severe punishment than they are empowered to impose, or if the student chooses to have the case heard by the Honor Board. To ascertain that the accused student has committed no prior offense, the faculty member should check the record in the Office of the Provost and Dean. If the student has previously been found responsible for an Honor Code violation (either social or academic), subsequent offenses will be referred automatically to the Honor Board for review. A faculty member, having found that a student has violated the Honor Code, must forward the name and a brief description of the violation and sanction to The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention so that an accurate record may be kept of a student's history of compliance with the Honor Code.

A student who knows of an academic breach of the Honor Code is expected to inform the violator at the first opportunity that the violation has been discovered, and to advise them to report either to the appropriate faculty member or to The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention within forty-eight hours. At the conclusion of this forty-eight-hour period, the student who knows of the violation should check with the appropriate faculty member or The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention to see if the alleged violator has reported their wrongdoing. If the alleged violator has not self-reported, it is the responsibility of the witness to inform the faculty member or The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention of the observed violation. The faculty member or The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention of the observed violation.

A faculty member who witnesses or learns of a violation of the Honor Code that has not been reported within forty-eight hours should report the violation either to the Provost and Dean of the College or to the Chair of the Honor Board.

Reporting Social Violations of the Honor Code: Any student who commits a social violation of the Honor Code should report the offense within forty-eight hours to one of the following College officials: the Associate Vice President of Student Affairs, the Associate Dean of Students/Director of Residential Life, or the Director of Public Safety.

A student or other member of the College community who knows of a social violation of the Honor Code is expected to inform the alleged violator at the first opportunity that a violation has been discovered and advise them to report within forty-eight hours. At the conclusion of the forty-eight-hour period, the individual who knows of the violation should check with the Associate Vice President of Student Affairs to see if the alleged violator has self-reported. If the alleged violator has not self-reported, it is the responsibility of the witness to inform the Associate Vice President of Student Affairs of the violation. Minor offenses committed and reported within this forty-eight-hour period may not necessarily be reported to the Honor Board; the Associate Vice President of Student Affairs has the authority to handle such cases administratively.

In all cases the alleged violator has the right to have the case heard by the Honor Board rather than by an individual administrator, if the Honor Board is available or it is possible at the time the case is heard.

4. Structure of the Honor Board

The Student Government Association Review Board appoints nine students to serve as members of the Honor Board. The Faculty elects six faculty members to serve as members of the Honor Board. At any given hearing, three students and two faculty comprise the panel and determine whether a student is responsible for violating the Honor Code, and if so, assign sanctions. In cases of alleged sexual misconduct, a subset of the Honor Board will hear those cases. Advisory members of the Board are The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention or designee, the Associate Vice President of Student Affairs or designee, and the Honor Board Chair or designee.

The Chair of the Honor Board is a student appointed by the Student Government Association Review Board and confirmed by the Senate. The Chair presides over all meetings of the Honor Board and reports activities of the Honor Board to the Student Government Association. The Chair works with The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention and Associate Vice President of Student Affairs to ensure that proper procedures are followed in the adjudication of all cases.

The Vice Chair of the Honor Board is a faculty member elected by the other faculty members of the Honor Board and will serve as a liaison between the faculty and the Honor Board.

The Associate Vice President of Student Affairs, as designated by the Vice President of Student Affairs, has primary responsibility to coordinate all aspects of responding to social violations of the Honor Code and refers cases to appropriate bodies for adjudication.

The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention, as designated by the Provost and Dean of the College, has primary responsibility to coordinate all aspects of responding to academic violations of the Honor Code and works with the Faculty Coordinator for Academic Integrity to refer cases to appropriate bodies for adjudication.

Normally, to proceed with a hearing, the Honor Board Chair or designee, three student members, two faculty members, and The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention and Associate Vice President, or their designees must be present. In some instances, however, (with the consent of the student being brought before the Board), a hearing may proceed without a full board.

When classes are not in session, cases normally adjudicated by the Honor Board may be handled by an administrative board as determined by the Associate Vice President of Student Affairs or The Assistant Dean for Student Achievement and Retention in consultation with the Honor Board Chair and Vice Chair, unless a student requests to be heard by the Honor Board when classes resume.

More information and guidelines for Honor Board proceedings, violations, sanctions and the appeals procedures are detailed in the Student Handbook: <u>https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/student-affairs/student-handbook/index.php</u>



IV. FACULTY PERSONNEL POLICIES

A. Appointment, Salary, Rank, and Tenure of Faculty

- 1. The qualities to be weighed in determining promotions and salary increases are identical to the criteria for granting academic tenure as set forth in Title I (Academic Tenure), below.
- 2. The Department Chairs and the Endowed Named Chairs of the College serve subject to periodical recommendations of the President and approval of the Board.
- 3. No member of the faculty of Washington College shall be subject to discrimination of any kind because of race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, handicap, age, marital status, or national origin.

- 4. Special terms of an appointment to the faculty of the College are indicated in the correspondence with a prospective appointee. Persons considered for full-time faculty appointments are interviewed by the Advisory Committee on Appointments.
- 5. The annualized nine-month salary assigned to members of the faculty is typically paid over 12 months. Faculty hired after the start of the academic year or under a contract of less than one year will be paid per their contract terms. Employees are paid on a bi-weekly basis. For full-time teaching members, the salary shall be based on the two-semester academic year. In case of removal by the Visitors and Governors or for cause, the Visitors and Governors shall not be liable for salary beyond the month in which the removal occurs.
- 6. Salaries are established annually and are based on professional rank, scholarship, teaching, and service. Appointments are generally effective as of the beginning of the academic year in August.

B. Appointment, Salary, Rank, and Promotion of Faculty Librarians

Professional librarians are members of the faculty and are governed under the By-Laws of the College dealing with faculty responsibilities and obligations with the exception that professional librarians are not eligible for tenure and those responsibilities and privileges specifically associated with tenure.

The qualities to be weighed in determining promotions and salary increases for faculty librarians conform to the criteria for granting academic tenure to teaching faculty as set forth in Title I (Academic Tenure), below.

No member of the library faculty of Washington College shall be subject to discrimination of any kind because of race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, handicap, age, marital status, or national origin.

Library faculty are twelve-month employees who apply their professional expertise to the curation and dissemination of physical and digital information resources to further the college's goals of teaching, research, and service. This may involve working with faculty to design and deliver information literacy training appropriate to their courses; providing reference and access services; educating students on research skills and methods; liaising with faculty on the selection and evaluation of content to assure that the library's collections reflect past and present scholarship; describing, organizing and managing information resources, whether institutionally owned or licensed, and their enabling technologies. Unique archival and special collections require additional training and expertise to guarantee their preservation and continued access. Year-round work schedules enable library faculty to conduct major projects, e.g. system migration, weeding and collection development, or creation of instructional guides or websites during semester or summer breaks.

Salaries are established annually and are based on professional rank, scholarship, librarianship, and service.

Depending on their qualifications and the needs of the College, librarians are eligible to teach in an academic department or program such as the First-Year Seminar program. They are also eligible to apply for all faculty development funds and, at intervals of no less than seven years, for paid leaves

of up to one semester at full pay or one year at half pay for specific professional development projects.

Professional Librarians are entitled to six full weeks of vacation each year.

Appointment of librarians will follow the same procedures established for the appointment of all faculty members. All librarians appointed at Washington College must have a Master's degree in Library and Information Science or a Master's degree in Library Science from an American Library Association-accredited institution. Appointment to any rank (Assistant Librarian, Associate Librarian, Librarian) must meet the criteria appropriate to that rank. Librarians are appointed as a member of one of the three academic divisions of the College.

Librarians joining Washington College who have two to three years of previous full-time academic librarianship experience at other comparable institutions will normally be credited with that service minus one year. Librarians with more than three years of academic library experience will normally receive three years credit toward the application for promotion. The librarian must have held a Master's Degree in Library Science or Library and Information Science from an ALA-accredited institution for the entire time for which they are credited and must have worked in an academic institution within the specialization of librarianship to which they are appointed at Washington College.

Librarians possess specific competencies grounded in the principles and practices of academic librarianship. Implicit in such a foundation is the expectation that the librarian will become fully engaged in the teaching, service and scholarly activities that further the ideals of a liberal arts education. First and foremost, librarians should be evaluated on their competency in teaching/ librarianship; and secondarily on scholarly and service activities.

The American Library Association outlines the expectations of librarians as follows:

Contributions to the educational mission of the institution: for example, teaching (not necessarily in a classroom); organization of workshops, institutes or similar meetings; public appearances in the interest of librarianship or information transfer.

Contributions to the advancement of the profession: for example, active participation in professional and learned societies as a member

Activities related to inquiry and research: for example, scholarly publication, presentation of papers, reviews of books and other literature, grants, consulting, service as a member of a team of experts, or other means of disseminating professional expertise

"A Guideline for the Appointment, Promotion and Tenure of Academic Librarians" American Library Association, September 6, 2006. <u>www.ala.org/acrl/standards/promotiontenure</u> (Accessed September 20, 2018). Document ID: 2cf680eb-0fb0-2d24-9d4e-9adb422f40ab

Librarians at Washington College undergo continuous review and reappointment. They are reviewed annually for their first six years and every three years thereafter. Librarians are eligible to apply for a promotion beginning in the sixth year of employment, unless they have credit for prior service.

In addition to approving the reappointment of the librarian, these reviews are intended to ensure continued high quality librarianship and to help individuals make progress toward the criteria for promotion to Associate Librarian and Librarian.

For the first, second, third, and fifth-year review, librarians prepare for the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology a dossier outlining their work and accomplishments for the year. The Dean of the Library and Academic Technology then writes an assessment of the librarian's performance in librarianship, scholarship, and service and shares that written assessment with the librarian. The Dean and the librarian meet to discuss the librarian's performance and both of them sign that written assessment. The signature of the librarian does not indicate acceptance of every conclusion of the assessment. Rather, it indicates only that the librarian has read it. The librarian may respond or comment on the Dean's assessment in writing.

First-Year Review for Faculty Librarians

Mid-year developmental review in January; annual review in May by Dean of the Library and Academic Technology.

Second-Year Review for Faculty Librarians

The fourth-year review is conducted by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. If appointed without credit, review will be conducted in the fall with the candidate submitting the following materials by the last Friday in January, and the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology by the first Friday in February.

If appointed with one or two years of credit, review will be conducted in the spring of the first year at the College with the candidate submitting the following materials by the second Monday in November, and the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology by the third Monday in November.

Second-Year Review Dossier Checklist

Second-Year Review candidates shall submit the following materials to the Provost's Office via email (provost@washcoll.edu):

- Current curriculum vitae
- A substantive self-evaluation describing areas of challenge and growth in librarianship, scholarship, and service during their time as a librarian at Washington College. The self-evaluation should be limited to 6-8 pages in length. In the self-evaluation, candidates are advised to go beyond the facts of their records to articulate their goals for their librarianship and scholarship, the outcome of their efforts to meet these goals, and their plans for further development
- Evidence of outstanding librarianship
- Evidence of scholarly activities including publications
- Copies of syllabi and any other significant materials directly related to librarianship, scholarship, or service

The Dean of the Library and Academic Technology shall submit the following:

• Letter that reflects the Dean's assessment of the librarian's progress at the College to date, signed by the candidate

The Dean of the Library and Academic Technology then forwards the dossier and the written assessment of the librarian to the Provost and Dean. The Provost and the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology may meet to discuss the librarian's performance.

Third-Year Review for Faculty Librarians

Mid-year developmental review in January; annual review in May by Dean of the Library and Academic Technology.

Fourth-Year Review for Faculty Librarians

The fourth-year (promotion) review is conducted by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.

The fourth-year review is an in-depth and thorough assessment of the librarian's progress up to that time. This review is based on the quality of the librarian's librarianship, scholarly promise, and service to the College (see dossier checklist). The fourth-year review is meant to ensure that the work of librarians who pass this stage is of sufficient quality for promotion.

Fourth-Year Review Dossier Checklist

Materials to be provided by the candidate and the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology by the first Friday of May for fall promotion review or the first Thursday of December for spring promotion review:

• Names and contact information for three possible external reviewers (3 names from each, 6 names total)

Materials to be provided by the candidate to the Provost's Office via email (provost@washcoll.edu) by the first day of classes for fall promotion review or the second Friday of December for spring promotion review:

For external reviewers:

- Current curriculum vitae
- Copies of publications in the last five years
- Evidence of scholarly activities other than publications since arriving at WC

Other:

- Names and contact information of eight student or alumni reviewers due from the candidate and the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology (8 names from each, 16 names total)
- Names of the three colleagues the candidate asked to write letters for their promotion review.

Materials to be submitted to the Provost's Office by the second Friday of October for fall promotion review or the second Friday of February for spring promotion review:

- Letter from the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology Letter that reflects the Dean's assessment of the librarian's progress at the College to date, signed by the candidate
- Letters from three colleagues, one of whom must be a tenured or tenure-track teaching faculty member, and one of whom must be a library staff member, preferably another library faculty member

Materials to be submitted to the Provost's Office by the third Friday of October for fall promotion review or the third Friday of February for spring promotion review:

- A current curriculum vitae
- A substantive self-evaluation describing areas of challenge and growth in librarianship, scholarship, and service during their time as a librarian at Washington College. The self-evaluation should be limited to 6-8 pages in length. In the self-evaluation, candidates are advised to go beyond the facts of their records to articulate their goals for their librarianship and scholarship, the outcome of their efforts to meet these goals, and their plans for further development. Additionally, the candidate is advised to address any concerns raised by the Tenure and Promotion Committee in the second-year review or by the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology in the third-year review.
- Evidence of outstanding librarianship
- Evidence of scholarly activities including publications
- Copies of syllabi and any other significant materials directly related to librarianship, scholarship, or service

External Reviewer letters are due in the Provost's Office by the fourth Friday of October for fall promotion review or March 1 for spring promotion review.

Materials to be provided by the Provost's Office:

• Previous years' review letters written by the Dean of the Library and Academic Technology

Candidates shall be notified of the Provost's decision by the end of December for fall promotion review or the end of April for spring promotion review.

Evidence of effective librarianship includes:

- Productive liaison, including competence in communication and other interpersonal skills, with faculty and students that fosters the use of library resources in teaching/ learning and scholarship
- Implementation and presentation of programs that teach information literacy to classes, small groups, or individuals
- Creation of materials to support the curriculum such as subject guides, webpages and weblogs
- Effective classroom teaching or team teaching with classroom faculty
- Effective point-of-use instruction such as reference assistance, office consultations, and electronic assistance
- Outcomes assessment of library services, including assessment of library instruction sessions
- Working knowledge of information storage and retrieval technology
- Effective management of the library collection in any media to support the curriculum and the diverse intellectual activities characteristic of a liberal arts education
- Development, implementation, and maintenance of effective methods of organizing, classifying, and cataloguing information resources

- Efficient and effective management skills including supervision of library staff and student assistants
- Keeping library materials current and in alignment with information literacy in a technological environment

Evidence of effective scholarship includes:

- Publications of peer-reviewed books, journal articles, book chapters, or book reviews
- Authorship of webpages, including bibliographies, user guides, and user training materials
- Creation of databases and repositories
- Reviewing and refereeing publications, for example, as a member of an editorial board
- Presentation at scholarly or professional conferences
- Poster sessions at professional conferences
- Significant library exhibits at institutions other than Washington College
- Successful authorship or collaboration in grant writing for external funds
- Authorship of instructional media that teach users how to do research or use a library
- Original cataloging of library materials contributed to professional clearinghouses, such as OCLC, LOEX, and ERIC

Evidence of effective service includes:

- Participation in the College's co-governance, such as service on a standing committee or adhoc task force
- Participation in the work of the College beyond co-governance, such as participation in student recruitment or advancement efforts
- Advising of first-year students
- Advising of student organizations
- Service in professional organizations beyond mere membership, such as in a leadership role.

Promotion to Associate Librarian requires excellent performance in librarianship, including exceptional performance in the candidate's area of specialization. Promotion also requires that candidates demonstrate ongoing engagement in scholarly work and service activities and the promise that they will continue all of these activities throughout their career.

Promotion to Librarian requires outstanding librarianship, innovations, and leadership in the field and positive contributions to the College's mission. Significant scholarly accomplishment and professional or community service with an emphasis on activities that support library and College goals are also required.

C. Team Teaching

Team teaching, where professors teach a course together, is an important way to demonstrate to students the meaning and value of liberal arts inquiry and to engage them in liberal learning. To facilitate team teaching, the College applies the following policies:

- 1. Team teaching requires that both faculty members are fully engaged in the course throughout the entire semester (i.e., this is not a work sharing arrangement). Syllabus design, for example, is a collaborative process that involves both instructors. The team of instructors must also make learning opportunities available to students that cannot be accomplished when there is only a single instructor. Finally, the team must regularly set aside time to discuss upcoming sessions and to debrief with one another to ensure that the learning outcomes established for the course are being achieved.
- 2. A primary goal of team teaching is to promote greater interdisciplinarity, so pairings that stretch each member of the team beyond the bounds of their discipline are preferred.
- 3. Team-teaching is limited to no more than three faculty members teaching one course.
- 4. A team-taught course counts as a full course for each faculty member in determining the teaching load of the faculty members teaching the course.
- 5. Full-time faculty may team teach a course as an overload, in which case they are paid the usual stipend for a course overload. Adjunct faculty or faculty teaching less than full time may team teach a course with a full-time faculty member, in which case they are paid the usual stipend for teaching a course as an adjunct faculty member. However, team taught courses that do not result in overloads will take priority over those that do require an overload.
- 6. For annual evaluation and for tenure and promotion evaluation, the development of and participation in a team-taught course is considered of equal value as any other course development and teaching for each faculty member involved.
- 7. A set of course evaluations for each instructor can be issued so that each faculty member receives individualized feedback. Junior faculty are encouraged to exercise this option.
- 8. Faculty members who want to team teach must have the approval of their department chair, to ensure that the department's needs will be met while the faculty member is team teaching. A department may want to have the team-taught course count toward the major or to arrange for someone else to teach a course the team-teaching faculty member would have otherwise taught. Department chairs should consult with the Provost about their department's needs before the deadline for the faculty members to present their plans to the Provost.
- 9. Faculty members who want to team teach a course should secure their department chair's approval and present their plans for team teaching to the Provost by October 1 for a spring semester course and by February 1 for a fall semester course.
- 10. Being granted permission to team-teach a particular course in one semester is not a guarantee that the course will be approved as a team-taught course indefinitely. Requests to team teach must be submitted for each semester that the team wants to teach the course and, depending on the number of requests, the provost may deny or defer some requests to a later date.

D. Internal Academic Administrative Appointments

When an internal faculty appointment to an administrative position is to be made which carries compensation and/or an enhanced job title (e.g., director of a major or minor, curator of a special program, graduate program director, assistant dean, coordinator of FYS, etc.), the opening will be posted in the Faculty Lounge and on e-mail and applications invited from interested faculty members. (This rule does not apply to the position of academic chair.)

E. Appointment of Emeritus Faculty

Eligibility: The title of Emeritus is awarded in recognition of extended faculty service that is in keeping with the values and mission of Washington College. Any Washington College faculty member with the title "Professor," "Associate Professor," "Assistant Professor," "Adjunct Professor," "Adjunct Associate Professor," "Adjunct Associate Professor," "Adjunct Associate Professor," "Adjunct Associate Ibrarian," or "Assistant Librarian" who is retiring after serving the College for at least 15 years is eligible to stand for Emeritus status. Faculty with "Visiting" or "Lecturer" status are not eligible for Emeritus status. Retired faculty members appointed to Emeritus status retain their title at the highest rank achieved, modified by the incorporation of the Emeritus designation.

A faculty member who resigns from Washington College to take a full-time faculty or administrative position at another college or university is not eligible for the status of emeritus professor.

Process: The Provost and Dean of the College will ask the Chair (or a senior member of the department if the Chair is being considered for Emeritus status) to write a letter briefly outlining the contributions of the Emeritus candidate. The Provost and Dean of the College will then present the letter to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion for discussion and vote. The Committee will make a recommendation to the President of the College, who will make a recommendation to the Board of Visitors and Governors.

Privileges: Faculty Emeriti are encouraged to remain active and vital participants in the life of the College, and are offered the following privileges.

- Use of Washington College affiliation at professional meetings and in scholarly publications
- Use of campus facilities (e.g., library, swimming pool, fitness center)
- Use of a computer and network access
- A Faculty parking tag
- Invitations to functions attended by all faculty (e.g., Commencement, Convocations, Senior Lunch, All-Campus picnic)

F. Excerpts from the College By-Laws Relating to the Faculty

[Full Title: Excerpts from the By-Laws of the Board Of Visitors and Governors of Washington College Relating to the Faculty, Article VII (The Faculty)]

Section 1. (Role): Subject to approval of matters of policy by the Board, the Faculty shall be responsible and accountable for the design and conduct of the academic program of the College. The Provost and Dean shall report regularly to the President and the Board on the Faculty's exercise of this responsibility.

Section 2. (Responsibilities): Each member of the Faculty is enjoined to maintain an attitude of loyalty to the fundamental principles and the government of the College as established by the Board, to promote its welfare, to bear a fair share of its general work, to attend the public exercises, to maintain due professional courtesy to colleagues, to recommend candidates for degrees in accordance with the Charter, to participate in recommending nominees for honorary degrees in accordance with these By-Laws, and to render exceptional services as may be assigned. Each member is required to participate in the discipline of the College, and to promote, by precept and example, good morals and manners among the student body.

Section 3. (Obligations): A member of the Faculty, in accepting an appointment or promotion from the Board, thereby contracts to comply with the Charter and these By-Laws and with the statements, procedures and regulations adopted pursuant thereto.

Section 4. (Department Chairmen): Department Chairmen shall be appointed by the Board upon the recommendation of the President. They shall be responsible for the instruction and academic programs in their Departments and shall be accountable to the Provost and Dean.

Section 5. (Appointment, Promotion, and Dismissal for Cause): The Board shall receive, consider and act upon the recommendations of the President and the Academic Affairs Committee of the Board relating to the tenure, promotion, and dismissal for cause of regular full-time members of the Faculty.

Section 6. (Tenure):

- a. There shall be a policy of tenure for the Faculty whereby members of the Faculty who are awarded tenure by the Board, upon recommendation of the President, may continue in employment until retirement for age or disability, unless dismissed for just and adequate cause or terminated by reason of financial exigency or change of institutional programs adopted by the Board.
- b. The Board shall determine that the criteria and procedures relating to the granting of tenure are fair and reasonable, and appropriate to Washington College.
- c. The definitions of Academic Tenure (Title I), Financial Exigency (Title II), and Program Change (Title III) shall be set forth in Appendix A of these By-Laws. A statement of the basic criteria and procedures relating to them shall be published regularly in the Faculty Handbook of Washington College, together with the text of Article VII (The Faculty) and Appendix A of the By-Laws of the Board of Visitors and Governors of Washington College. The statement shall first be approved and adopted by the Board of Visitors and Governors and shall thereby be incorporated by reference as part of the By-Laws of the Board of Visitors and Governors to be altered, amended, suspended, repealed and promulgated only as provided therein.
- d. The award of tenure and the dismissal of a member of the Faculty for cause or reasons of financial exigency or program change must be accomplished through the criteria and procedures

of Academic Tenure (Title I), Financial Exigency (Title II) or Program Change (Title III), respectively, as promulgated according to the By-Laws.

(Effective July 1, 1986 as amended effective July 1, 1991, and as republished July 1, 2002.)

Appendix A

A Statement of the Definitions of Tenure of Members of the Faculty of Washington College

Title I: Academic Tenure

"Academic Tenure" is defined as a status accorded to a faculty member by which Washington College agrees it will not remove from the institution anyone with continuous tenure except for cause, or for reasons of financial exigency or program change.

Title II: Financial Exigency

"Financial Exigency" is defined as an imminent financial crisis that threatens the survival of the College and that cannot be alleviated by means less drastic than those authorized under a declaration of financial exigency.

Title III: Program Change

"Program Change" is defined as reduction or termination of an existing curricular program involving faculty appointments.

(Adopted April 27, 1991, effective July 1, 1991)

Subsequent amendments to Appendix A following adoption by the Board of Visitors and Governors became effective January 1, 1996 and January 1, 1997 published in the Faculty Handbook 1998-99, and effective April 17, 1999 published in the Faculty Handbook 1999-2000.

Note: The following resolution was adopted by the Board of Visitors and Governors on February 19, 2000:

Resolution

Clarification of Board Intent with Respect to Program Change

WHEREAS, the question has arisen of whether a reduction in the number of faculty positions in an academic department is equivalent to Program Change, and thus a trigger for the complex procedure required for Program Change; and

WHEREAS, the Washington College Administration and Faculty Committee on Appointments, Tenure, and Promotion have requested a clarification of Board intent with respect to Title III of the By-Laws, entitled "Program Change;"

BE IT RESOLVED that it is the intent of the Board of Visitors and Governors that, a reduction in the number of faculty positions in an academic department does not constitute a program change as used in Title III of the By-Laws and therefore, when full-time or part-time faculty positions become vacant, the Administration is not required to follow the procedures for Program Change in making a determination of whether the vacant faculty line should be allocated to another academic department or left unfilled, unless it involves a program change; and BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that "program change" or a "reduction or termination of existing curricular program" is defined to mean the removal of a major program or the removal of a teacher certification program for elementary or secondary school teachers; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution be included in the Minutes of the Executive Committee of the Board of Visitors and Governors of Washington College of February 19, 2000.

A statement of the basic criteria and procedures relating to tenure of the members of the faculty of Washington College:

ANNUAL REVIEW: The Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion shall conduct an annual review of the size and distribution of the Faculty in relation to the overall curricular needs of the College. In the event that such review raises the question of the continuing need for a particular faculty position, the matter will be resolved through prompt invocation of the procedures for Program Change as set forth herein as Title III.



G. Title I: Academic Tenure

Definition: "Academic Tenure" is defined as a status accorded to a faculty member by which Washington College agrees it will not remove from the institution anyone with continuous tenure except for cause, or for reasons of financial exigency or program change.

The review process for tenure-track faculty at Washington College is intended to be both developmental and evaluative in its approach. Our review process gives tenure-track faculty, their senior department colleagues, the members of the Advisory Committee on Tenure & Promotion (T&P), the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President insight into areas of strength and areas of concern. By engaging in early and regular reviews junior faculty have the opportunity to respond to feedback in productive and creative ways that serve our students, strengthen the academic program, and build the foundation for fulfilling and successful careers as teacher-scholars. It is the responsibility of the faculty member under review to demonstrate that they meet the expectations for continuous tenure at Washington College.

The criteria that will be used for assessing candidates for tenure are those approved by the faculty and published in this Faculty Handbook. If changes to these approved criteria are deemed necessary, then those proposed changes should be discussed by the faculty and voted into the Faculty Handbook as new policy.

1. Criteria relating to the granting of Academic Tenure:

The College seeks to attract, retain, foster, and reward faculty capable of furthering the ideal of a sound liberal education in a residential college community. Each faculty member presents a unique

combination of present competencies, past and present contributions, and potential for further growth and service, and each is evaluated individually in light of the needs and expectations of the College for the position that they hold and for the larger life of the college community. The criteria for success are flexible rather than rigid, and the process of evaluation is essentially qualitative rather than quantitative. Diverse contributions are valued, but most careful attention is given to performance in the areas of teaching, scholarship, and college service, and integrity and professional ethics on the basis of the general criteria, which follow. Meeting standards in all four areas is expected.

Permanent tenure will be considered only for faculty members with an earned doctorate or other appropriate terminal degree.

a. Criteria for Successful Teaching

Excellence in teaching is expected of all Washington College faculty. Thus, The Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion considers a candidate's record of teaching to be the most important factor in determining a candidate's qualification for tenure.

Faculty are expected to demonstrate broad command of one's teaching subject and its interrelationships with other associated fields of learning. Teaching will be understood to mean not only regular classroom teaching but also availability for informal instruction as well as supervision of independent studies, internships, and senior capstones. There are several ways that relevant information is obtained -- from teaching evaluations, department chair evaluations, colleagues, and judgments of students who shall be selected at the Provost and Dean of the College's discretion.

Traditional qualities of excellence in teaching -- from organizing and presenting challenging material effectively, to being available to students and grading and returning their work promptly -- are considered when judging a faculty member's teaching ability. A successful teacher challenges students to produce work of high quality, encourages critical and independent thinking, and nurtures a passion for learning. Constant review of course materials is taken into account, as well as the development of new courses or areas of study.

b. Criteria for Successful Scholarship

Productive scholarship is an important consideration but is in no sense a substitute for excellence in teaching or for any other of the criteria herein set forth. Candidates must demonstrate a pattern of achievement in scholarship that reflects their involvement and expertise within the life of a discipline. Examples of peer-reviewed scholarship that candidates may consider including in their dossier to demonstrate continued development since tenure include: a book (authored or edited) or series of articles published by a peer-reviewed journal or press; production of works in creative, fine, and performing arts that is peer-reviewed; scholarship which contributes to pedagogical theory or practice and results in publication; grant proposals, patents, development of computer software, or other forms of scholarship that are peer-reviewed. Peer-reviewed scholarship is a significant mark of scholarly achievement, and thus constitutes an important element of a promotion dossier. Candidates might also address in their dossier other forms of professional and scholarly activity such as the following: evaluating scholarship in the form of book reviews; serving as a referee for manuscripts or materials by other scholars; providing leadership as an officer for a scholarly organization or as an editor for a

publication; developing research activity with students for presentation or publication. This listing of various types of scholarly activity and achievement is not intended to be hierarchical or exhaustive of all that candidates might include in their dossiers. We expect that candidates will characterize their scholarship in their self-evaluative statement to demonstrate a pattern of productive scholarly activity and achievement that reflects their involvement within the disciplines of the liberal arts and informs their work as Washington College teacher-scholars.

c. Criteria for Successful Service to the College

Active and effective participation in governance and other forms of service to the College is expected. Commendable service on college committees must be a part of a successful record of college service. Advising students is a primary form of service to the College and faculty members are expected to participate in the advising program. As advisors, faculty are expected to be knowledgeable, willing to consult with others when necessary, well organized, and generous with their time. Service within departments that benefits the College as a whole, program and curricular development, contributions to all-college events and programs, advising student organizations, giving on-campus public presentations/performance, and community service that connects to the College's mission are also considered to be aspects of a successful record of college service. This listing is not intended to be exhaustive of all achievements in service. Junior faculty should consult with their department chairs, mentors, and members of the Service and Scholarship Committee to identify service opportunities that match their interests.

d. Criteria for Integrity and Professional Ethics

Faculty are expected to demonstrate a high sense of integrity and professional ethics. These qualities include courtesy, openness and respect toward colleagues and students, and engaging in ethical professional behavior. These qualities are assumed of all faculty unless concerns are raised during the review process. Candidates are only expected to formally address these criteria when concerns are brought forward by their department chair or the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.

2. Procedures Relating to the Granting of Academic Tenure:

- a. Student reactions to instruction are solicited by means of a questionnaire prepared by the Faculty Council. Results of the survey including individual item means and campus wide medians, are made available to the individual professor, department chairs, and the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion (Only 4-credit courses will be included in college norms). Every undergraduate credit-bearing course, except independent studies, individual lessons, internships and the senior capstone experience, must be evaluated every time it is offered. All faculty members are obliged to distribute surveys in classes each semester. The results of the survey are intended to assist the individual professor, as well as to provide an additional perspective when evaluations are being made with regard to such matters as promotion and salary increases.
- b. After the expiration of a probationary period and upon being awarded tenure by action of the Board of Visitors and Governors, a faculty member shall have permanent or continuous tenure, and service will be terminated only for adequate cause pursuant to the provisions of paragraph m of this statement, or for reasons of Financial Exigency or Program Change (pursuant to the provisions of Titles II and III, respectively).

- c. An initial appointment to the Faculty at the rank of Professor shall be for a two-year term. Unless notification is given by December 15 of the second year, the appointment will be extended for another two-year term. After completion by the faculty member of four years of satisfactory service and upon being awarded tenure by action of the Board of Visitors and Governors, tenure shall be continuous.
- d. An initial appointment to the Faculty at the rank of Associate Professor shall be for a twoyear term. Unless notification is given by December 15 of the second year, the appointment will be extended for another two-year term. After completion by the faculty member of four years of satisfactory service and upon being awarded tenure by action of the Board of Visitors and Governors, tenure shall be continuous.
- e. The President, after consultation with the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, and with the concurrence of the candidate, may reduce the number of years of service required before the candidate may be considered for tenure. This exception will be made only for candidates to be hired at the rank of Associate Professor or Professor, and only if in their prior positions they have demonstrated that they exemplify the characteristics described in Section A, above, of this Title.
- f. An initial appointment to the Faculty at the rank of Assistant Professor shall be for a oneyear term. Unless notification is given by March l of the first year, by December 15 of the second year, and at least twelve months in advance of each succeeding year of the probationary period, the appointment will be extended for another one-year period. Assistant Professors without such previous teaching experience shall assume continuous tenure after seven years of satisfactory service and upon being awarded tenure by action of the Board of Visitors and Governors at Washington College. Those with prior teaching experience should refer to Sections i through o below.
- g. The appointment of a faculty member at the rank of Instructor will occur when the individual has not earned the terminal degree in the member's field; the letter of appointment should indicate the mutually agreed upon date by which this degree will be earned, beyond which contract renewal would not occur. If service is not satisfactory, notice of the intent for termination will be given by March l of the first year, by December 15 of the second year. Should notice of intent to terminate be given in any succeeding year, such notice must come at least twelve months in advance. If the terminal degree is completed within the first year, the faculty member is automatically promoted to Assistant Professor and enters on the tenure track at the beginning of the second year. Those completing the degree subsequently are promoted to Assistant Professor at that time, enter on the tenure track the following fall, and are awarded credit for years served less one year.
- h. A member of the Faculty who is promoted to a professorship and upon being awarded tenure by action of the Board of Visitors and Governors shall attain continuous tenure as of the effective date of the promotion.
- i. A member of the Faculty who is promoted to the associate professorship shall attain continuous tenure either at the end of his first two-year term as associate professor or after a total of four years of satisfactory service at Washington College and upon being awarded tenure by action of the Board of Visitors and Governors, whichever occurs first.

- j. An instructor who is promoted to the assistant professorship shall attain continuous tenure at Washington College under the same provisions as set forth in Section 5 of this statement.
- k. A faculty member who is not to be retained with continuous tenure at the end of the full probationary period shall be notified and retained without tenure for a terminal year.
- 1. The notice of termination provided for in Sections b, c, d, f, and k shall be made only after consultation with the chair of the department concerned, and with the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.
- m. The provisions of this statement are framed with generous regard for the interests of the individual faculty member. In safeguarding its own interests and those of its students, the College must rely on the faculty member's sense of professional responsibility. Hence, in resigning an appointment, a faculty member shall give notice in writing to the Provost and Dean as early as possible, preferably no later than April 15 if the member does not expect to return the following fall, or by September 15, if the member does not expect to return for the spring semester. A faculty member, who is on approved leave and considering resignation, should notify the Provost and Dean as early as possible prior to the end of the leave so that the College can ensure a smooth transition for upcoming courses should the faculty member not return as planned for the next semester.

Once a faculty member submits a letter of resignation, it can only be rescinded within two business days of the submission. The faculty member will be expected to fulfill all job-related responsibilities through the end of the last semester of appointment. The appointment of a faculty member ends on June 30 (end of the fiscal year) if the member does not expect to return the following fall semester, or on December 31 (end of the calendar year), if the member does not expect to return for the spring semester.

As noted in the section on Emeritus, a faculty member who resigns from Washington College to take a full-time faculty or administrative position at another college or university is not eligible for the status of emeritus professor.

A copy of the resignation letter will be forwarded to the Office of Human Resources, which will work with the Provost and Dean and the faculty member regarding the effective date of termination of employment and final pay.

n. Termination for cause of a continuous appointment, or dismissal for cause during a term appointment, shall be considered by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. Members of the Academic Affairs Committee of the Board of Visitors and Governors may attend the hearing as observers. In all cases where the facts are in dispute, the accused faculty member shall be entitled to a hearing before the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. The member shall be informed before the hearing, in writing, of the reasons for termination, shall be permitted to have an adviser of the member's choosing who may act as counsel, and shall have the opportunity to confront the accusers. There shall be a full record of the hearing available to all parties concerned. In a hearing of charges of incompetency, the testimony shall include that of teachers and other scholars from this or from other institutions. The recommendation of the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion shall be transmitted through the President to the Board of Visitors and Governors. The decision of the Board of Visitors and Governors shall be final.

o. Process of Review:

i. Overview

Untenured members of the faculty undergo a review by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion in their second, third and fourth years at the College, followed by a tenure review in their sixth year.

In their first year, untenured faculty members are reviewed by their department chair. This review has two parts, a developmental review in January of their first year and a developmental and summative review in May of their first year.

As part of this review, the department chair must observe the first year faculty member's teaching at least twice in the first year and must meet with the faculty member in both January and May to discuss their assessment of the candidate's work.

In May, the chair writes one letter summarizing the substance of these reviews, and the first year faculty member signs it. The signature of the faculty member does not indicate acceptance of every judgment in that letter; it merely indicates that the person has read it.

The department chair's letter is then sent to the provost and becomes part of the second year review dossier. Faculty completing their first year will be required to meet with the provost after the provost has received the department chair's letter. The first year faculty member may respond to or comment on the department chair's letter in writing to the provost prior to their meeting.

After the mid-year developmental review in the first year, the department chair can recommend non-reappointment of the faculty member for second year. In this case the department chair must have observed the first-year faculty member's teaching at least twice in their first semester. A recommendation of non-reappointment will be reviewed by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, which will make a final recommendation to the president to uphold or overturn the department chair's recommendation.

In its second and fourth year reviews, the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion assesses a candidate's record of teaching, scholarly/artistic development, and college service by reviewing the department chair's letter and the candidate's course evaluations, curriculum vitae, scholarly or creative work, and a brief self-evaluative letter (no more than 2 pages) describing 1) areas of challenge and growth as a teacher during the previous semester and 2) professional development goals and strategies for the coming year. The Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion also reviews previous letters from the Committee to the candidate and examines the candidate's record for signs of improvement if particular areas of concern were raised in a previous review.

In the third-year and tenure reviews, candidates are required to submit a full and substantive self-evaluative statement (see <u>"Elements of an effective self-evaluation</u>" on p. 91). In the tenure review, the members of the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion review the above-mentioned materials, as well as letters from all tenured members of the candidate's department, letters from three faculty colleagues outside the department, and external letters from three scholars in the candidate's discipline or area of interest. Further, in the tenure

review, the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion reviews letters from students and alumni. Ordinarily these letters are from students/alumni who have completed a course with the candidate, however, students who have built a relationship with the candidate through other means, such as club service or advising, may also write a letter on behalf of the candidate.

ii. Continuous Appointments - Probationary Period

The total period of teaching at Washington College prior to the acquisition of continuous tenure shall not exceed seven years. The tenure review will normally occur in the fall of the sixth year. For all faculty appointed to continuous positions after July l, 1991, this rule shall apply.

All years of teaching service at Washington College in excess of half-time will normally be counted proportionately toward the probationary period for tenure consideration.

The decision as to whether or not a scholarly leave extends the probationary period shall be made by the individual faculty member, subject, however, to the condition that a minimum of three years of on-campus service is required before consideration for tenure. This option must be exercised no later than the end of the period for which the leave has been granted.

Faculty will have the option of stopping or continuing the tenure clock during their paid maternity/adoption leave or unpaid FMLA leave related to the birth of a son or daughter. The tenure clock will stop by default, but every faculty member will have the option (after consultation with their Department Chair and the Provost and Dean) of continuing the tenure clock. This request will be granted in all cases. In addition, faculty members will not have to notify the Provost and Dean of their decision to stop or continue the tenure clock at the time of pregnancy, birth, or adoption, but will have to notify the Provost and Dean no later than the beginning of the academic year prior to the year of the originally scheduled tenure decision (except in cases where the birth or adoption is expected to occur during the tenure review year or the preceding year – in those cases the Provost and Dean must be notified when the leave is requested.)

iii. Prior teaching experience

Persons joining the Washington College faculty who have had one to three years of previous full-time teaching experience at other comparable institutions will normally be credited with that service minus one year. Persons with more than three years of teaching experience will normally receive three years' credit toward the probationary period. There may be circumstances where that prior service (or some portion of it) will not count towards the probationary period at Washington College (e.g. teaching which occurs before attainment of the Ph.D. or the appropriate terminal degree; service at a community college, technical institute, or other institution very dissimilar to Washington College; when there has been a long break between the prior teaching experience and commencement of service at Washington College; or when the character and range of teaching experience is not comparable to a normal faculty load at Washington College). The number of years of previous teaching experience, which will be credited towards the probationary period at Washington College, will be stated in writing at the time of initial appointment.

Faculty members with one year of credit for prior teaching have a second-year review in the Spring semester of their first year and then follow the normal timetable for third, fourth, fifth, and tenure reviews. Faculty members with two years of credit for prior teaching have a second-year review in the Spring semester of their first year, followed by third and fourth-year reviews in their second and third year at the College. In this case, these faculty members will undergo tenure review in their fourth year at the College because of the absence of a fifth-year review. Faculty members with credit for three years prior teaching will have a third-year review in their first year, followed by a fourth year and tenure review. In all of these cases, the faculty member is eligible to apply for a junior leave after successful completion of the third-year review.

Tenure Review Timetable for Faculty with Teaching Credit

One-year credit for prior teaching experience		
Year # at Washington College		
Year 1	Second-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 2	Third-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 3	Fourth-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 4	Fourth-year review (evaluation by T&P) Fifth-year review (departmental evaluation)	
	Tenure (evaluation by T&P)	

Two-year credit for prior teaching experience		
Year # at Washington College		
Year 1	Second-year review (evaluation by T&P) Third-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 2	Third-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 3	Fourth-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 4	Tenure (evaluation by T&P)	

Three-year credit for prior teaching experience		
Year # at Washington College		
Year 1	Third-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 2	Fourth-year review (evaluation by T&P)	
Year 3	Tenure (evaluation by T&P)	

The purpose of the probationary period preceding the granting of tenure (continuous appointment) is to provide an opportunity for the College to judge whether a faculty member is a competent and effective teacher/scholar, and beyond that, whether they are likely to make a substantial contribution to the fulfillment of the general aims and purposes of the College. But the probationary period is also a period of development or perfection of skills and attitudes, especially in the case of those who are relatively new to the profession.

Every person invited to join our faculty, therefore, should be able to count on getting constructive criticism, counsel, and encouragement from colleagues. In particular, department chairs (and the Provost and Dean of the College) have an obligation to keep them informed of their problems and progress. This obligation may be met through informal chats, as well as through annual reviews and a third-year review (see 14.c below). Any untenured faculty member who feels that they are not fully and fairly informed of their status at reasonable intervals may request that their department chair bring them up to date. If for some reason satisfactory communication has not been established on the departmental level, the faculty member involved may appeal to the Provost and Dean of the College for clarification of status.

iv. Second-, Third- and Fourth-Year Reviews

For the second, third and fourth year reviews, the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion will take into account the departmental assessment, the faculty member's response or comments, if any, as well as other pertinent information relating to the tenure criteria stated in the Faculty Handbook. After considering a candidate's pre-tenure review materials, the Provost and Dean of the College will draft a letter addressing what the committee identifies as areas of strength and areas of concern, with steps they should consider taking as progress is made toward the next review.

v. Peer Mentoring

To support robust feedback on teaching a departmental peer mentor be included in the evaluation of teaching as part of the tenure review process. This mentor, preferably another member of the department who is tenured or advanced on the tenure track, will be assigned by the chair in the candidate's first semester. In consultation with the Provost and the candidate, the chair may instead opt to choose an appropriate faculty mentor outside the department, if preferred or necessary due to the availability of colleagues in the department. The departmental mentor will conduct at least one observation per year during the first two years of service and share, with the candidate and the chair, a written summary of the teaching observation and follow-up conversation. The departmental mentor will also communicate feedback on a candidate's teaching in the third-year review colleague letter or-if not tenured--directly to the chair. At any point after the first year, the candidate, in consultation with the chair or Provost, may decide to change the departmental mentor if desired. Candidates are, of course, free to coordinate peer observations with departmental faculty in addition to their peer mentor, as they wish.

An extra-departmental peer mentor shall be added for formative support for junior faculty. A mentor from outside the department will be chosen by the candidate by the conclusion of the third year. The mentor will conduct at least one observation per year during years 4 and 5 and provide to the candidate a written summary of the teaching observation and follow-up conversation. Any feedback provided will not be shared with the chair or T&P unless the candidate chooses to do so. The candidate may decide to change the extra-departmental peer mentor at any point, if desired. Consultation with the chair on the selection of this mentor is recommended but not required. In addition, the candidate may or may not decide to ask this peer mentor to be one of the three extra-departmental colleagues to write a letter for the tenure review. If the mentor is asked by the candidate to write for the candidate's tenure

review, the mentor may use the previous observation and feedback to inform the letter submitted as part of the candidate's tenure review.

Chairs observe junior faculty annually throughout the review period. This table summarizes expectations for routinely involving additional faculty as detailed in the two preceding paragraphs.

Year 1	Departmental Peer Mentor observes and shares feedback with junior faculty member and chair
Year 2	Departmental Peer Mentor observes and shares feedback with junior faculty member and chair
Year 3	Departmental colleagues contribute review letters (tenured) or feedback to chair
Year 4	Extra-departmental Peer Mentor observes and provides feedback to junior faculty member
Year 5	Extra-departmental Peer Mentor observes and provides feedback to junior faculty member
Year 6	Departmental colleagues contribute review letters (tenured) or feedback to chair

vi. Annual Review Dossier Checklist

(Approved by the Faculty – May 2006; Amended by the Faculty - December 2012, October 2013, May 2016, April 2019)

Materials to be provided by the candidate:

• Second- and Fourth-Year review candidates:

A cover letter, no more than two pages in length, describing their 1) areas of challenge and growth in the four primary areas of evaluation—teaching, scholarship, college service, and integrity and professional ethics—since arriving at the College or since the candidate's last review, and 2) professional development goals and strategies for the coming year. Candidates are only expected to address criteria for integrity and professional ethics in their cover letter when concerns are brought forward by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion or the candidate's department chair.

• Third-Year review candidates:

A substantive self-evaluation describing areas of challenge and growth in the four primary areas of evaluation – teaching, scholarship, college service and integrity and professional ethics – during their time on the tenure-track at Washington College. The self-evaluation should be limited to 6-8 pages in length. In the self-evaluation, candidates are advised to go beyond the facts of their records to articulate their pedagogical and scholarly goals, the outcome of their efforts to meet these goals, and their plans for further development. In addition, candidates are advised to address

any concerns raised by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion in previous reviews and outcomes of efforts to address those concerns. The candidate should also articulate a plan for continued professional growth as a teacher-scholar. Candidates are only expected to address criteria for integrity and professional ethics in their self-evaluation when concerns are brought forward by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion or the candidate's department chair.

- Current curriculum vitae
- Copies of publications (hardcopies will be returned)
- Evidence of scholarly activities other than publications
- Copies of syllabi and any other significant materials directly related to teaching

vii. Guidelines for the Review of Faculty Members with Joint Appointments

Joint Appointment between a Department and a Program

Faculty with joint appointments will include a letter from the Program Director in all annual reviews. They will include the following additional materials in third-year- review, tenure-review and promotion-review dossiers:

- Letter from the Program Director discussing the candidate's contribution to the program (provided by the Program Director).
- Letters from the Program Director for previous years (not to exceed six) (obtained by the Provost and Dean of the College).

A copy of the Program Director's letter shall be forwarded to the candidate's department chair at least one week in advance of the date by which the department chair's letter is due to the Provost and Dean of the College.

Joint Appointment between Two Departments

For faculty with joint appointments in two departments, the Provost and Dean of the College will designate one department as the primary department of appointment and one department as the secondary department. The chair of the primary department shall function as the chair in formative, tenure and promotion reviews. The chair of the secondary department shall provide the same supporting material that Program Directors are required to provide in annual reviews, third-year review, tenure review and promotion review dossiers. Designation of primary and secondary departments should be made in the initial letter of appointment, but can be designated in a subsequent letter, if necessary.

viii. Third-Year Review

For individuals appointed to continuing faculty positions in the tenure stream, a comprehensive review of their performance is undertaken in the third year. The third-year review is based on the quality of the individual's teaching, scholarly promise in addition to the Ph.D. dissertation, and service to the College (see dossier checklist). The third-year review is meant to ensure that individuals who pass this stage are of sufficient quality that continued appointment up to the tenure decision is warranted. It should be clear to all candidates that a positive decision at the third-year review stage does not have any necessary implications for an eventual decision on tenure, which is made in the candidate's sixth year.

p. This statement governing tenure and notification of non-reappointment does not apply to faculty members on part-time or limited term appointments (e.g. lecturers, visiting professors, adjunct professors). Conditions of employment of these positions will be set out in each case in the letter of appointment.

3. Faculty Appointment and Tenure Appeal Procedure

The appeals procedure is designed for use in those situations that cannot be resolved through a less formal process. A faculty member with concerns about re-appointment, tenure or promotion is encouraged to discuss those concerns with the department chair or the Provost and Dean of the College, and those officers will make every effort to address the faculty member's concerns.

The appeals process exists to assure fair treatment of the individual within the context of Washington College. The exercise of the right to appeal will not have repercussions to the faculty member. The appeals process is not a substitute for formal legal proceedings, and the burden of proof in an appeal rests with the appellant.

All parties involved in an appeal will make a good faith effort to meet the deadlines below, which will be extended only for compelling reasons.

- a. In the event of a negative decision by the President regarding recommendation for reappointment, tenure, or promotion, the President or Provost and Dean of the College will promptly notify the faculty member in writing of the decision, and the reasons for the negative recommendation.
- b. Within 10 working days of receiving such notification, the faculty member may request a meeting with the Provost and Dean of the College or President to discuss in detail the reasons for the decision. The Provost and Dean of the College or President will meet with the faculty member within 10 working days of the request.
- c. The faculty member may at this point appeal the decision on one or more of the following grounds:
 - i. Violation of academic freedom.
 - ii. Discrimination, including but not limited to discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, handicap, age, marital status or national origin.
 - iii. Violation of College procedures as described in the Faculty Handbook.
 - iv. The omission, through no fault of the candidate, of substantive information from the dossier considered by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.
 - v. Alleged inclusion of biased, distorted, or false representations of a substantial kind in the dossier considered by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.

A written appeal, including supporting materials, must be lodged with the President within 10 working days of the meeting between the faculty member and the Provost and Dean of the College or President. The written appeal must clearly state the grounds of the appeal (from among i-v above).

Note: Significant changes in the candidate's credentials shall not constitute grounds for convening the Appeals Committee. However, a candidate who receives such new information from sources

outside the College after the original dossier has been compiled may bring the information to the attention of the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President may review their decision in consultation with the members of the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion who originally considered the case.

- d. Having received an appeal on grounds listed in c.i through c.v above, the President may choose to reconsider the case on the basis of the written appeal, in consultation with the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.
- e. The appellant will be notified, within 10 working days of submitting the appeal, of the President's decision.
- f. If the above steps have not resolved the matter to the faculty member's satisfaction, the faculty member may choose to send the appeal forward to the Appeals Committee. The faculty member shall, within 5 working days, so notify the Provost and Dean of the College, who shall promptly inform the members of the Appeals Committee and forward to them the written appeal and all relevant documents.
- g. The appellant shall be entitled to a meeting with the Appeals Committee.
- h. The Dean and the appellant's department chair shall also be entitled to meetings with the Appeals Committee. In addition, the Appeals Committee may choose to interview other persons in connection with the appeal and shall have access to all files they consider to be pertinent, except as set forth below.
- i. If the Appeals Committee feels it is entitled to materials that the Administration does not believe are appropriate, then these issues should be resolved by a legal expert selected by the Chair of the Legal Affairs Committee of the Board. This expert shall make a decision after consultation with the Provost and Dean of the College and the Chair of the Appeals Committee.
- j. The Appeals Committee shall send copies of its finding to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion who originally considered the case and to the Appellant, if possible within twenty working days of receiving the case. If a decision cannot be made within the twenty-day limit, the Appellant, the President, and the Provost and Dean of the College shall be notified of the extenuating circumstances in writing by the Committee's Chair. The Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion shall review the findings of the Appeals Committee, and may choose to reconsider its original recommendation. The President will then make the final decision and inform the Appellant of this decision within five working days of receiving the recommendation of the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. In the event of a negative decision, the appellant may request a written statement of the reasons for the new decision, and such a statement shall be supplied by the President of the College.

Appendix

Assistant Professors who earn tenure will typically be promoted to Associate Professor at the time that tenure is awarded, based on the criteria set forth in the Faculty Handbook. However, the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion may, in some cases, recommend the awarding of tenure without concurrent promotion. Faculty whose appointment began before 2007 may choose to have tenure and promotion considered separately or concurrently.

Tenure Dossier Checklist

(Approved by the Faculty – May 2006; Amended by the Faculty - December 2012, November 2014, May 2016, April 2019)

Materials to be provided by the candidate:

- A substantive self-evaluation describing areas of challenge and growth in the four primary areas of evaluation teaching, scholarship, college service, and integrity and professional ethics during their time on the tenure-track at Washington College. In the self-evaluation, candidates are advised to go beyond the facts of their records to articulate their pedagogical and scholarly goals, the outcome of their efforts to meet these goals, and their plans for further development. In addition, candidates are advised to address any concerns raised by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion in previous reviews and outcomes of efforts to address those concerns. The candidates are only expected to address criteria for integrity and professional ethics in their self-evaluation when concerns are brought forward by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and promotion or the candidate's department chair.
- Current curriculum vitae.
- Copies of publications (to be returned).
- Evidence of scholarly activities other than publications.
- Copies of syllabi and any other significant materials directly related to teaching.
- Letters from three Washington College non-departmental colleagues who can attest to the candidate's teaching, scholarship or service, solicited by the candidate, and sent directly to the Provost (confidential). Note: A single retired member of the Washington College faculty may serve in this capacity if they are within one year of their retirement date.
- The candidate has the option to solicit a letter from Washington College retired faculty from the same department if these retired colleagues are within one year of their retirement date. This letter should be sent directly to the Provost (confidential).
- Names of three external reviewers with professional standing in the candidate's field with explanation of professional relationship with the candidate.
- Names of up to eight students and recent alumni whose views on the candidate will be solicited by the Provost and Dean of the College.

Materials to be provided by the Department Chair (for faculty with joint appointments, see the section above, Guidelines for the Review of Faculty Members with Joint Appointments):

- Letter that reflects the Department's and the Chair's opinion about the candidate's application for tenure or promotion (confidential). Department chairs are encouraged to discuss the candidate's progress as a teacher-scholar, their plans for developing as a teacher-scholar, and their record of service to the College. The department chair is advised to pay particular attention to any areas of concern raised by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion in previous reviews.
- Names of three external reviewers with professional standing in the candidate's field, chosen in consultation with the other tenured members of the department (with rationale for selection to be provided).
- Names of up to eight students and recent alumni whose views on the candidate will be solicited by the Provost and Dean of the College.

Materials to be obtained by the Provost and Dean of the College:

- Letters of evaluation by the Provost and the Dean of the College for previous years.
- Letters of evaluation by the Department Chair for previous years.
- Copies of teaching evaluations since hiring on the tenure track.
- Letters solicited from the tenured members of the Department (confidential).
- Three letters solicited from external reviewers as indicated by the candidate and Chair and chosen by the committee, at least one of which must come from the candidate's list of potential reviewers, and at least one of which must come from the department chair's list (content of the letters is confidential but names of chosen external reviewers will be shared with the candidate).
- Letters solicited from students and recent alumni as indicated by the candidate and the Chair (confidential).
- Letters from Washington College non-departmental colleagues, requested by the candidate (confidential).
- Letters of evaluation by the Department Chair for previous years.

* The President reserves the right to solicit additional information but will only do so in consultation with the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. The President will share the results of additional solicitation with the full committee.

Student Representation:

In the course of a tenure deliberation and at the discretion of the individual faculty member, two representatives of the Student Advisory Board may make a succinct presentation to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.

The two SAB representatives shall be a representative of the Department in which the candidate for tenure is teaching and the vice-president of the Student Government Association in their role of chair of the Student Advisory Board.

Student representatives to any meeting of the Committee on Tenure and Promotion shall not be present during further deliberations and voting by the Committee.

To enable students to be appropriately conversant with the dossier of the tenure candidate, a file will be available to them at the Office of the Provost well in advance of the scheduled meeting. That file will consist of the following items:

- Current curriculum vitae.
- Statement on teaching, scholarship, service and integrity and professional ethics.
- Copies of publications.
- Evidence of scholarly activities other than publications.
- Copies of syllabi, and any other significant materials directly related to teaching.

The students making the presentation shall seek information about the candidate through dialogue with other students and shall preserve the confidentiality of relevant documents and proceedings in which they participate.

The date and time for said meeting will be arrived at in consultation with the student representatives. Since it is essential that the tenure-decision process proceed in an orderly and timely fashion, the presentation must happen at the scheduled time.

The absence of student participation shall not affect the legitimacy of the process.

Third-Year Review Dossier Checklist

(Approved by the Faculty – May 2006; Amended by the Faculty - December 2012, May 2016, April 2019)

Materials to be provided by the candidate:

- A substantive self-evaluation describing areas of challenge and growth in the four primary areas of evaluation teaching, scholarship, college service and integrity and professional ethics during their time on the tenure-track at Washington College. The self-evaluation should be limited to 6-8 pages in length. In the self-evaluation, candidates are advised to go beyond the facts of their records to articulate their pedagogical and scholarly goals, the outcome of their efforts to meet these goals, and their plans for further development. In addition, candidates are advised to address any concerns raised by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion in previous reviews and outcomes of efforts to address those concerns. The candidate should also articulate a plan for continued professional growth as a teacher-scholar. Candidates are only expected to address criteria for integrity and professional ethics in their self-evaluation when concerns are brought forward by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion or the candidate's department chair.
- Current curriculum vitae
- Copies of publications (to be returned)
- Evidence of scholarly activities other than publications
- Copies of syllabi and any other significant materials directly related to teaching

Materials to be provided by the Department Chair (for faculty with joint appointments, see p. 82):

• Letter that reflects the Department's and the Chair's opinion about the candidate's progress at the College to date (co-signed by the candidate). Department chairs are encouraged to discuss the candidate's progress as a teacher-scholar, their plans for developing as a teacher-scholar, and their record of service to the College. The department chair is advised to pay particular attention to any areas of concern raised by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion in previous reviews.

Materials to be obtained by the Provost and Dean of the College:

- Copies of teaching evaluations since hiring on the tenure track
- Letters solicited from the tenured members of the Department (confidential)
- Letter of evaluation by the Provost and the Dean of the College for previous years.
- Letters of evaluation by the Department Chair for previous years

Appendix. Elements of an effective self-evaluation

The third-year and tenure review self-evaluation should be a substantive description of the candidate's areas of challenge and growth in the three primary areas of evaluation—teaching, scholarship, and college service—during their time on the tenure-track at Washington College. In the self-evaluation, the candidate is advised to address any concerns raised by the Advisory
Committee on Tenure & Promotion in previous reviews and outcomes of efforts to address those concerns. The candidate should also articulate a plan for continued professional growth as a teacher-scholar. Ideally, the self-evaluation will itself serve as a vehicle for professional growth. Candidates' self-evaluation statements should be 6-8 pages in length.

1. Teaching Section of the Self-Evaluation

The teaching section of the self-evaluation should be a thorough, concise, thoughtful exploration of a review candidate's teaching. The candidate should discuss their teaching goals, methods, and measures of successful learning outcomes, with reference to specific examples drawn from one's courses, SCE mentoring, and other forms of teaching. The candidate should reflect on the developmental trajectory of their teaching experience and aspirations—considering what has gone well, challenges identified and met, and areas where they seek to become more effective.

The candidate should identify any linkages between their teaching and scholarship, as well as the relationship between their classroom teaching and broader departmental, programmatic, and institutional goals.

In the teaching section of their self-evaluation, review candidates may also wish to discuss their approach to advising—particularly in areas that represent an extension of one's teaching—and any measures they have taken to increase their effectiveness in this area.

2. Scholarly/Artistic Development Section of the Self-Evaluation

In the scholarly/artistic development section of the self-evaluation, review candidates should discuss their research agenda and its rationale, including current activities and the future trajectory of their research. Review candidates should describe the nature of their work and where it fits in their discipline or field of interest. Candidates should identify outcomes such as peer-reviewed publications, conference papers, workshops, grant proposals, and so on, which they plan to pursue. Candidates should also report any active participation in regional, national, and/or international professional associations.

Tenure-track faculty members are encouraged to consult with colleagues within and beyond their department and professional networks outside of Washington College as to the specifics of what constitutes appropriate venues and professional standards for their discipline. Similarly, tenure-track faculty are encouraged to consult with the Provost as they progress toward the tenure decision to ensure that their expectations of what constitutes a successful scholarly/artistic portfolio are compatible with college-wide expectations.

3. College Service

In their self-evaluation, review candidates should discuss their contributions to the College beyond the classroom and their department, including service on committees, service within departments that benefits the College as a whole, program and curricular development, contributions to all-college events and programs, on-campus public presentations/performances, and service to the Offices of Admissions, College Advancement, and Student Affairs.

In addition to regular committee service, many faculty members serve the College through their advising activities, such as serving as advisor to campus organizations, fraternities and sororities, study abroad and/or off-campus domestic programs, or as faculty mentors to athletic teams. In

this case, faculty members under review may include the discussion of such advising activities in the "college service" section of their self-evaluation.

4. Conclusion

If they wish to do so, review candidates may provide a summary and/or concluding statement of the self-evaluation.

4. Criteria for Promotion to Professor at Washington College

(Approved by the Faculty – April 2015)

The following passage appears in the "tenure and promotion section" of this Faculty Handbook, and we believe that the language is useful and instructive in guiding our discussions for promotion to Professor.

The College seeks to attract, retain, foster, and reward faculty capable of furthering the ideal of a sound liberal education in a residential college community. Each faculty member presents a unique combination of present competencies, past and present contributions, and potential for further growth and service, and each is evaluated individually in light of the needs and expectations of the College for the position that they hold and for the larger life of the college community. The criteria for success are flexible rather than rigid, and the process of evaluation is essentially qualitative rather than quantitative.

This passage articulates the general qualities the College seeks to advance in the faculty. It also suggests that ours is a community that prides itself on being both demanding in its expectations as well as flexible in how faculty might meet those expectations. Thus, the promotion process will consider the faculty member's career holistically.

While the rank of Associate Professor is awarded to faculty who are deemed to have the potential to achieve the rank of (full) Professor, promotion to Professor is not automatic, nor is it based on longevity. An Associate Professor at Washington College is awarded tenure in part as recognition of the promise of their future contributions as teacher, scholar, and campus leader. The promotion to Professor signals the fulfillment of that promise. Professors serve as leaders and role models for the campus community. Thus, the rank of Professor recognizes the impact these members of their career. It also recognizes the commitment of these individuals for continuing achievement as teachers, scholars, and leaders of the highest rank of Washington College faculty.

It is presumed that the successful candidate for promotion to Professor will have continued to grow as a teacher, scholar, and citizen in the governance of the institution since the granting of tenure. Thus, promotion to Professor at Washington College assumes continued achievement in all three areas. However, as we are a community of teachers whose scholarship supports and enlivens our teaching and not a community of scholars who teach to support our scholarship, successful teaching is our primary goal and thus occupies a singular position at the top of our criteria for promotion, as is the case with the criteria for tenure. Furthermore, while all successful candidates for promotion will demonstrate a record of productive scholarship and meaningful achievements in service to the College, the community recognizes the possibility that the path to Professor might differ among individual faculty members. As such, candidates may opt to give more emphasis to particular achievements in the area of scholarship or in the area of service in their Statement on Teaching, Scholarship, and Service if they believe that one of those areas better represents their rationale for promotion. The continued growth and achievement required for promotion to Professor is measured against criteria that are fundamentally similar to those used in the tenure review process outlined in this Handbook. Below we describe what is expected of candidates for promotion to Professor in each of the areas of evaluation. Further, in each area, we identify ways a faculty member might cultivate a record of achievement that could be put forward in a dossier for promotion to Professor.

Criteria for Achievement in Teaching

As is the case in the granting of tenure, successful teaching is highly valued at Washington College and is considered the primary criterion for promotion to Professor. Successful teaching engages the intelligence, imagination and curiosity of students, and results in the development of a passion for learning within and beyond the classroom, a depth and breadth of knowledge, and a core of essential skills for productive, meaningful engagement with the world. A successful teacher challenges students and encourages them to produce work of high quality and to think critically and independently. A successful teacher is also well prepared, skillful and respectful, conveys expectations clearly, and provides valuable and timely feedback.

Successful teaching involves continuous reflection on teaching practice and course design. Traditional qualities of excellence in teaching -- from organizing and presenting challenging material effectively, to being available to students and grading and returning their work promptly -- are considered when judging a faculty member's teaching ability. Constant review of course materials is taken into account, as well as the development of new courses or areas of study. Successful teaching will be assessed with the methods used at the granting of tenure: teaching evaluations, the candidate's Statement on teaching, department chair evaluations, statements from colleagues, and the judgments of students who shall be selected by the Department Chair and the Provost and Dean of the College.

Criteria for Achievement in Scholarship

Productive scholarship is an important consideration but is in no sense a substitute for excellence in teaching or for any other of the criteria herein set forth. Candidates for promotion to Professor must demonstrate continuing achievement in scholarship since the granting of tenure that reflects their involvement and expertise within the life of a discipline. Examples of peer-reviewed scholarship that candidates may consider including in their dossier to demonstrate continued development since tenure include: a book (authored or edited) or series of articles published by a peer-reviewed journal or press; production of works in creative, fine, and performing arts that is peer-reviewed; scholarship which contributes to pedagogical theory or practice and results in publication; grant proposals, patents, development of computer software, or other forms of scholarship that are peer-reviewed. Peer-reviewed scholarship is a significant mark of scholarly achievement, and thus constitutes an important element of a promotion dossier. Candidates might also address in their dossier other forms of professional and scholarly activity such as the following: evaluating scholarship in the form of book reviews; serving as a referee for manuscripts or materials by other scholars; providing leadership as an officer for a scholarly organization or as an editor for a publication; developing research activity with students for presentation or publication. This listing of various types of scholarly activity and achievement is not intended to be exhaustive of all that candidates might include in their dossiers. As is the case with the tenure dossier, we expect that candidates for promotion will characterize in their Statement on scholarship how these exhibits demonstrate a pattern of productive scholarly activity and achievement that reflects their involvement within the disciplines of the liberal arts and informs their work as Washington College teacher-scholars.

Criteria for Achievement in Service to the College

Consistent with the importance of co-governance at Washington College, candidates for promotion to full professor should demonstrate active and effective participation in the governance of the institution.

Candidates for promotion to full professor might demonstrate a commitment to serving the college in the following: effective leadership of a department, program, or committee; significant involvement in standing committees, search committees, ad hoc committees, task forces, and other types of ongoing program development; significant contribution to the advising and mentoring of students; advising of student organizations; the writing or reviewing of grant proposals for the institution; recruitment assistance; involvement with extracurricular activities, such as drama, music, and athletics. Also taken into account are contributions to the special programs of the College, such as the Global Research and Writing Seminars; the Writing Program; the Honors Program; and Academic Computing Program; participation in seminars on pedagogy and academic topics; as well as presentations of one's discipline to lay audiences. Once again, this listing is not intended to be exhaustive of all achievements in service.

Criteria for Demonstrating Integrity and Professional Ethics

Candidates for promotion to full professor are expected to demonstrate a high sense of integrity and professional ethics. These qualities include courtesy, openness and respect toward colleagues and students, and engaging in ethical professional behavior. These qualities are assumed of all faculty unless concerns are raised during the review process. Candidates are only expected to formally address these criteria when concerns are brought forward by their department chair or the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion.

Promotion Process

Normally, an Associate Professor is first eligible to be considered for promotion to Professor during the seventh year following promotion to the rank of Associate Professor. However, in the case of a faculty member who has held the rank of Associate Professor prior to the granting of tenure, this individual must serve at least four years as a tenured Associate Professor prior to standing for promotion to the rank of Professor.

Feedback

Continuing feedback is crucial to successful teaching, productive scholarship, and effective participation in the governance of the college. We recommend that Associate Professors seek and receive ongoing feedback regarding their plans for advancement and their progress toward promotion.

Promotion Dossier Checklist

(Approved by the Faculty – May 2006, amended May 2016)

Materials to be provided by the candidate:

- Current curriculum vitae
- Statement on teaching, scholarship, service, and integrity and professional ethics
- Copies of publications (to be returned)
- Evidence of scholarly activities other than publications

- Copies of syllabi and any other significant materials directly related to teaching from the previous six years
- Letters from three Washington College non-departmental colleagues who can attest to the candidate's teaching, scholarship or service, solicited by the candidate, and sent directly to the Provost (confidential). Note: Retired members of the Washington College faculty may serve in this capacity if they are within one year of their retirement date
- The candidate has the option to solicit a letter from Washington College retired faculty from the same department if these retired colleagues are within one year of their retirement date. This letter should be sent directly to the Provost (confidential).
- Names of three external reviewers with professional standing in the candidate's field with explanation of professional relationship to the candidate
- Names of up to eight students and recent alumni whose views on the candidate will be solicited by the Provost and Dean of the College

Materials to be provided by the Department Chair (for faculty with joint appointments, see the section above, Guidelines for the Review of Faculty Members with Joint Appointments):*

- Letter that reflects the Department's and the Chair's opinion about the candidate's application for tenure or promotion (confidential)
- Names of three external reviewers with professional standing in the candidate's field, chosen in consultation with the other tenured members of the department (with rationale for selection to be provided)
- Names of up to eight students and recent alumni whose views on the candidate will be solicited by the Provost

Materials to be obtained by the Provost and Dean of the College:

- Copies of teaching evaluations from the previous six years
- Letters solicited from the tenured members of the Department (confidential)
- Three letters solicited from external reviewers as indicated by the candidate and Chair and chosen by the committee, at least one of which must come from the candidate's list of potential reviewers, and at least one of which must come from the department chair's list (content of the letters is confidential but names of chosen external reviewers will be shared with the candidate)
- Letters solicited from students and recent alumni as indicated by the candidate and the Chair (confidential)
- Letters from Washington College non-departmental colleagues, requested by the candidate (confidential)
- All letters of evaluation written by the Department Chair during the previous six years

Changes to Promotion Criteria

The above criteria for promotion are intended to clarify the policies that are currently in place by better organizing the guidelines that already exist in our Faculty Handbook. Our practice has, over

^{*} In the case that a candidate for promotion is also chair of the department, the Provost and Dean shall be responsible for the materials that are usually submitted by the Chair: these will be collected in consultation with the other tenured members of the candidate's department

the years, fluctuated slightly and sometimes significantly around these published guidelines, often elevating the role of scholarly activity relative to the other criteria. We remind our colleagues on the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion that they should be guided by the criteria approved by the faculty and published in this Faculty Handbook. Candidates must know how they are being judged and what expectations are in place, and these expectations must not shift with every new administration, or each time new members are elected to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. If changes to these approved criteria are deemed necessary, then those proposed changes should be discussed by the faculty and voted into the Faculty Handbook as new policy.



H. Title II: Financial Exigency

Definition: "Financial Exigency" is defined as an imminent financial crisis that threatens the survival of the College and that cannot be alleviated by means less drastic than those authorized under a declaration of financial exigency.

The Board of Visitors and Governors may consider the question of whether or not the College is experiencing a bona fide condition of financial exigency. After the Board acts to raise the question, the President within a stated time will send a memorandum to the Faculty Finance Committee stating that the question of financial exigency is being raised, including the financial data that resulted in the decision to raise the question.

When the Faculty Finance Committee concludes its deliberations, it will report its findings to the President, who will forward them with their recommendations to the Board, all within the time required by the Board. After considering the report of the Faculty Finance Committee and the recommendation of the President, the Board will determine if a bona fide condition of financial exigency exists. If so, the Board will issue a formal declaration of financial exigency. At that time, the President will send a memorandum to all Faculty and other teaching staff members and all Administrators, notifying them that the College is in a state of financial exigency, and will include the financial data that resulted in the decision to declare financial exigency. The President will make recommendations to the Board arrived at by the following procedures for consultation with the Faculty.

The President, in consultation with the Faculty Finance Committee and other officers of the College, will be responsible for working out within the time required by the Board, in a broad conceptual outline, a Program to Redress Financial Exigency. This program, and all its implementing components, will be devised with the aim of preserving as much as possible the mission of the College with an absolute minimum of disruption to the curriculum and to existing contractual arrangements. All reasonable alternative methods of saving will be explored before recommending a reduction in the curriculum that would involve termination of the appointments of tenured members of the Faculty or cancellation of the contracts of non-tenured members of the Faculty. Prior to submitting the Program to Redress Financial Exigency to the Board, the President shall

promptly submit it, along with any dissenting views of the Faculty Finance Committee, to the Faculty Meeting for further comment and discussion. The President shall then promptly submit the President's final version of the plan, along with any dissenting views of the Faculty, to the Board of Visitors and Governors for action.

After the Program to Redress Financial Exigency has been approved by the Board, the Faculty component of the Program will be devised by a committee formed expressly for this purpose: the Faculty Review Committee, consisting of the Provost and Dean of the College; the four elected Faculty members of the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, and the chairs of the Divisions of the Humanities and Fine Arts; Natural Sciences and Mathematics; and Social Sciences. In the event that all of the Division chairs are tenured, an additional position on the Faculty Review Committee will be reserved for an untenured faculty member, to be elected at-large from the floor of the Faculty Meeting. In the event that a Division chair is also serving on the Advisory Committee on Tenure, and Promotion, that Division will elect another one of its members to serve on the Faculty Review Committee. The Committee shall elect its chairman.

The Faculty Review Committee will recommend methods of achieving the goal of the Faculty Component of the Program, including, if necessary, the number and type of Faculty positions to be terminated. It will consult with individual Faculty and departments affected whenever termination of Faculty positions or reduction or termination of departments or programs is being considered. The Faculty Review Committee, after consultation with the President, is responsible for providing at the Faculty Meeting an opportunity for discussion and revision of its recommendations. After such further discussion and revision as may be necessary, the Faculty Review Committee, within the time prescribed by the Board, will submit its recommendations to the President, who will promptly submit this Faculty Component of the Program to Redress Financial Exigency, along with the President's recommendations, to the Board for action. The Board in its discretion may meet with the Faculty Review Committee if there are substantive disagreements with its recommendations. The Board will provide the Committee with a copy of its final plan.

After action on the Faculty Component by the Board, the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion will be responsible for recommending the particular Faculty positions to be terminated, if any. The Committee will pursue all reasonable alternatives to the termination of existing contractual arrangements, such as offers of early retirement, conversions of Faculty positions from full-time to part-time, and options not to fill vacant Faculty positions. In recommending the termination of appointments of particular members of the Faculty, the Committee will be guided by considerations of educational policy and the overall integrity of the academic program. Except where a serious distortion of the curriculum would result, however, the Committee shall be guided by the principle that, first, those with tenure are to be given preference for retention over those without tenure, and that, second, those of higher rank or seniority within rank are to be given preference for retention over those with lesser rank or seniority within rank.

The Committee will report its recommendations promptly to the Faculty Meeting. In the event that the Committee has recommended the termination of Faculty positions, the following procedures will apply:

1. Faculty members whose positions have been recommended to be eliminated as a result of financial exigency, as well as Departments whose programs have been recommended either to be reduced or to be terminated, will have the right to a full hearing before an ad hoc Faculty

Appeals Committee, provided written request is made within ten days of formal notice of termination or reduction. The ad hoc Appeals Committee will be composed of one member from each of the three academic divisions of the Faculty and two members at-large, all elected from the floor of the Faculty Meeting. At least one place on the Committee will be specified for an untenured member of the Faculty, and none of the members of the Faculty Review Committee will be eligible to serve. The Committee shall elect its chair. Grounds for appeal shall be limited to the validity of the educational judgments that led to the selection of the particular areas of the curriculum for reduction or elimination, the validity of the application of these educational judgments in deciding to terminate the specific positions in question, and violation of the process of decision-making as defined in these Faculty Handbook provisions. The ad hoc Appeals Committee will in each case promptly make a recommendation to the President and the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. The President, in consultation with that Committee, will then decide in each case whether or not to recommend termination to the Board. The President shall inform each faculty member who has appealed, in writing, of the recommendation to be made, and shall also inform in writing all other faculty members whose positions have been recommended for termination. All faculty members so designated within the time prescribed may submit written statements to the Board, with which the final decision to terminate faculty positions rests.

- 2. The College will not create any new faculty positions to take the place of ones terminated as a result of financial exigency except in the circumstance in which a serious distortion of the curriculum would otherwise result.
- 3. The College will make reasonable efforts to place all faculty members whose positions have been terminated as a result of financial exigency in other suitable positions within the College.
- 4. Tenured faculty members whose positions have been terminated as a result of financial exigency, and who during this year have not been placed in other suitable positions within the College, shall be given one full academic year of employment or severance compensation, including all fringe benefits, beyond the academic year in which final notice of termination of appointment is given by the Board. Non-tenured faculty members shall have the same rights of notice or severance compensation, including all fringe benefits, as would have applied in the event of non-renewal of their contracts under normal circumstances.
- 5. If the College reinstates any faculty position terminated as a result of financial exigency within three years of its termination, the College must make a reasonable effort to offer the appointment to the faculty member who occupied it at the time of its termination. The position will be offered to this faculty member at the same rank and with the same seniority and tenure status as had been earned at the time of the termination.



I. Title III: Program Change

Definition: "Program Change" is defined as reduction or termination of an existing curricular program involving faculty appointments (see also the Clarification of Board Intent with Respect to Program Change, above).

In cases where a position is being vacated by attrition, and a question has been raised about the need to continue such position, the following review procedure will be followed: The affected department or program will make a presentation to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion augmented for this purpose by the addition of the chairs of the Divisions of the Humanities and Fine Arts, Natural Sciences and Mathematics, and Social Sciences. This Committee will make a recommendation to the President.

A Program Change Committee, on the recommendation of the President; the Provost and Dean of the College; the Curriculum Committee; the Planning Committee; the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion; or the Faculty may formally raise the question of program change. This Program Change Committee, to be convened promptly for this purpose only, shall consist of the Provost and Dean of the College, the chairs of the three academic divisions, and the four elected faculty members of the Planning Committee. It shall be chaired by the Provost and Dean of the College. (In the event that all seven faculty members of this committee are tenured, one additional, untenured member shall be elected at-large by the Faculty Meeting.) A memorandum stating that the question of program change is being raised and the educational considerations that resulted in the decision to raise the question will be sent by the Provost and Dean of the College to all Faculty and other teaching staff.

The Program Change Committee will prepare a Plan for Program Change based exclusively on longrange educational judgments about the desirability and feasibility of proposed modifications in academic program and staffing, and with specific reference to any comprehensive written plans for curricular development and staffing needs currently in force, and to other approved official statements of the College mission. The Committee will determine how many faculty positions, if any, and what types of Faculty positions, if any, must be terminated in the interest of program change. Before recommending the terminations of faculty positions, the Program Change Committee will consider all reasonable alternative methods of achieving program change, such as possible conversions of faculty positions from serving current programs to serving future programs. The Committee will consult on the merits of the proposed program change with the individual Faculty and with the departments affected, and with the President, and will then promptly report its Plan to the Faculty Meeting for discussion, revision, and a vote. After adoption by the Faculty Meeting, the Plan for Program Change will be reported to the President, who will submit it promptly to the Board of Visitors and Governors, with the President's recommendations.

Immediately after action by the Board, if the termination of faculty positions is mandated, the Plan for Program Change will be sent by the President to the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. This Committee will be responsible for recommending the particular faculty positions to be terminated. In recommending the termination of the appointments of particular members of the Faculty, the Committee will be guided by considerations of educational policy and the overall integrity of the academic program. Except where it would be inconsistent with the Plan for Program Change, however, the Committee shall be guided by the principle that, first, those with tenure are to be given preference for retention over those without tenure, and that, second, those of higher rank or seniority within rank are to be given preference for retention over those with lesser rank or seniority within rank.

The Committee will seek all reasonable alternatives to the termination of existing contractual arrangements, such as offers of early retirement, conversions of faculty positions from full-time to part-time, and options not to fill vacant faculty positions. The Committee will report its recommendations promptly to the Faculty Meeting. In the event that the Committee has recommended the termination of Faculty positions, the following procedures will apply:

Faculty members whose appointments have been recommended to be terminated as a result of program change, as well as departments whose programs have been recommended either to be reduced or to be terminated, will have the right to a full hearing before an ad hoc Faculty Appeals Committee, provided written request is made within ten days of formal notice of termination or reduction. The ad hoc Appeals Committee will be composed of one member from each of the three academic divisions of the Faculty and two members at-large, all elected from the floor of the Faculty Meeting. At least one place on the Committee will be specified for an untenured member of the Faculty, and none of the members of the Program Change Committee or the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion will be eligible to serve. The Committee shall elect its chair. Grounds for appeal shall be limited to the validity of the long-term projections of the College's future mission that led to the decision to institute program change, the validity of the judgment that led to the selection of the particular faculty positions in question to be terminated in the interest of program change, and violation of the process of decision-making as defined in these Faculty Handbook provisions. The ad hoc Appeals Committee will in each case promptly make a recommendation to the President and the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion. The President, in consultation with that Committee, will then decide in each case whether or not to recommend termination to the Board. The President shall inform each faculty member who has appealed, in writing, of the recommendation to be made, and shall also inform in writing all other faculty members whose positions will be recommended for termination. All Faculty members so designated may submit written statements within the time prescribed to the Board, with which the final decision to terminate faculty positions rests.

The College will make reasonable efforts to place any faculty member whose position has been terminated as a result of program change in another suitable position within the College. If a reasonable period of retraining of the tenured faculty member will facilitate their placement in another suitable position, a reasonable amount of financial and other support for such retraining will be provided by the College, but the obligation of the College shall not exceed the costs of one academic year of retraining plus full compensation and fringe benefits for that period. At its discretion, the College may also offer retraining support to untenured members of the Faculty.

Faculty members whose positions have been terminated as a result of program change, and who have not been placed in another suitable position within the College, shall be given one full academic year of employment or severance compensation, including all fringe benefits, beyond the academic year in which final notice of termination of appointment is given by the Board.

If the College reinstates a faculty position terminated as a result of program change within five years of its termination, the College must make a reasonable effort to offer this appointment to the faculty member who occupied it at the time of its termination. The position will be offered to this faculty

member at the same rank and with the same seniority and tenure status as had been earned at the time of the termination.

Note: The preceding includes the text of the By-Laws of the Board of Visitors and Governors of Washington College (Article VII - The Faculty) and Appendix A (Definitions of Tenure, Financial Exigency, and Program Change) and the text of Title I Academic Tenure, Title II Financial Exigency, and Title III Program Change, as repealed and re-enacted with Amendments effective July I, 199I. Subsequent amendments to Appendix A following adoption by the Board of Visitors and Governors became effective January 1, 1996 and January 1, 1997 published in the Faculty Handbook 1998-99, and effective April 17, 1999 published in the Faculty Handbook.

J. Retirement

There is no mandatory retirement age. Faculty may retire after teaching a full course load or may participate in one of the College's phased retirement options. Faculty who choose to retire after teaching a full course load must inform the provost and their department chair of their plan to retire by May 1 prior to what would be their last year of teaching a full course load. Meeting this deadline allows the department to prepare a proposal for a replacement faculty member.

Phased Retirement

Phased retirement options are available to tenured faculty who have served at Washington College for at least fifteen years. These options do not preclude the possibility of retiring after a semester teaching a full course/credit load.

There are five phased retirement options, three two-year options and two three-year options, which provide a reduced teaching load each year for a proportional pay reduction. Details of each option are available on the Human Resources web site.

Availability of options may depend on department and college needs.

The salary for each semester is pro-rated based on the number of courses/credits taught. In a semester in which a faculty member teaches two courses/eight credits s/he will earn 70% of the salary per semester that they earned in the last semester of teaching a full course load. In a semester in which a faculty member teaches one course/four credits, s/he will earn 40% of the salary per semester earned in the last semester of teaching a full course load.

Rank

A faculty member who begins a phased retirement at the rank of Assistant or Associate Professor is not eligible to apply for promotion to Associate Professor or Professor. All faculty members who retire via phased retirement and meet the other qualifications for the title "Faculty Emeritus" are eligible for that title at the time of retirement regardless of rank.

Availability of Options and Process

A faculty member who wants to begin a phased retirement should notify the Provost and the department chair by May 1 prior to what would be their last year of teaching a full course load. Available phased retirement options will depend in part on the needs of the department(s) or program(s) that rely on the faculty member's teaching contributions. Other leaves, such as junior leave or sabbatical, already scheduled for members of the same department will be one of the

considerations to determine the needs of the department(s) or program(s) to which the faculty member contributes.

The Provost will consult with the department chair about the impact of a faculty member's phased retirement request on the department's course offerings and workload and work with the department chair to arrange the transition and replacement of the teaching and departmental workload of the phased retiring faculty member.

In the case of a faculty member whose responsibilities extend beyond their department, such as a program director, or whose teaching contributes significantly to another department or program, the Provost will also consult with the department or program that will also be affected by the phased retirement about the transition.

Hiring of New Full-time faculty

The department may propose a tenure-track faculty member to replace the faculty member on phased retirement in the first year of a two-year phased retirement or the second year of a three-year phased retirement. Authorization to hire a tenure-track faculty member is subject to the recommendation of the replacement position by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion and the President's acceptance of that recommendation.

Expectations of Service

Faculty members on a phased retirement are not required to participate in college service such as service on a standing committee or appointed or elected task force, service as the curator of a college program or service on a college-wide search committee.

These faculty members are expected to participate in departmental advising, including SCE advising, with a number of advisees proportional to their teaching load, and to participate in the evaluation of department colleagues for tenure and promotion. They are not required to perform other service for their department but they are welcome to contribute if they so choose and their department chair agrees. They are expected to attend department meetings unless they and their department chair agree otherwise.

Benefits

For the duration of an approved phase-out, the faculty member will remain eligible for participation in the College's benefits programs (health insurance, retirement plan, etc.).

The faculty member who is phasing out will be able to remain in their office until the retirement date and will continue to have use of College facilities and resources as is the case for full-time faculty.

For eligibility of other benefits, please see section <u>S. ADDITIONAL BENEFITS</u> of this handbook. Such benefits may include the Early Retirement Medical Program and benefits for the faculty member's spouse/children. Details about these additional benefits can be discussed with Human Resources staff.

Documentation

The approved phase-out plan for a faculty member will be documented in a letter from the Provost outlining the mutually agreed-upon option and will be accompanied by the faculty member's

irrevocable letter of retirement including the date on which the faculty member will relinquish tenure.

K. Part-Time Appointments

Washington College endeavors to staff its faculty with full-time appointments. Whenever practical, part-time positions will be consolidated into full-time ones. When, however, a part-time faculty position is desirable, it will be established in accordance with the following provisions:

a. Regular Appointments with Reduced Load: In consultation with the department chair, and with the approval of the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, a full-time faculty member may be granted part-time status under terms and for a period to be negotiated. Salary and benefits will be adjusted. Other rights and responsibilities, and rank, will be maintained as if the faculty member were teaching a full load. For untenured members of the faculty, reductions of load amounting to the equivalent of one full semester or less will not affect the length of the probationary period. Reductions amounting to the equivalent of more than one full semester will result in a corresponding extension of the probationary period. (See also Sabbaticals and Faculty Leave)

b. Part-time Appointments: Persons whose responsibilities amount to less than a full- time instructional load are normally appointed to the rank of Lecturer. The rank of Adjunct Professor is extended at the President's discretion to persons of exceptional academic or public recognition.

Lecturers and Adjunct Professors are appointed for periods of one semester or one academic year at a time. Their responsibilities are normally limited to the teaching of designated courses, but may also include such specified additional responsibilities as attendance at departmental meetings, senior capstone advising, and duties related to assessment of student learning as negotiated at the time of hire or contract renewal. Salary is normally determined on a per-course basis as negotiated by the Provost and Dean of the College. Lecturers and Adjunct Professors are normally limited to teaching a maximum of two full-credit courses per semester (8 maximum credit hours). Any adjunct course load above this maximum requires approval from the Provost and Dean of the College.

Lecturers and Adjunct Professors whose instructional load is at least half the normal load spread through the academic year and who have served without interruption at this level for two years will have voting privileges at Faculty Meetings. Following two years of half-time teaching, they may only vote during academic years in which they teach at least half time. Lecturers and Adjunct Professors whose instructional load is at least half the normal load spread through the academic year and who have served without interruption at this level for five years will be eligible to apply for faculty travel and faculty enhancement funds. After 12 years of uninterrupted service at this level, they will be eligible to apply for sabbatical leave. Faculty members who meet the load and service conditions described above may also be asked, if agreeable, to take on responsibilities in the area of faculty service in proportion to their part-time status.

Lecturers with less than half the normal load are not eligible for faculty travel funds, faculty enhancement funds, or sabbatical leave. Although not entitled to vote at faculty meetings, they have the right to attend and are encouraged to do so.

Lecturers may concurrently hold part-time administrative appointments at Washington College, for which they are separately compensated at a salary level that is negotiated. Full-time College administrators may be eligible for appointments as Lecturers. For Vice Presidents and Deans or equivalents, such service does not carry additional compensation.

Although Lecturers and Adjunct Professors might have a concurrent administrative or staff appointment, the appointment as Lecturer or Adjunct Professor is restricted to an academic department or academic program. The department chair or program director coordinates all hiring of Lecturers and Adjuncts, involving department/program faculty and majors meaningfully in the process.

L. Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Plan

1. Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Plan: Definitions and Purposes

Washington College complies with provisions, as amended, of the 1964 Civil Rights Act and the 1972 Education Amendments. This legislation (most specifically Titles VI and VII of the 1964 Act and Title IX of the 1972 Act) prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, and national origin. The College also complies with the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicap, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1992, which gives civil rights protection to disabled individuals. In addition, College policy prohibits discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, age, or marital status.

Consistent with these requirements, Washington College provides equal opportunity to all individuals for faculty appointment, reappointment, tenure, and promotion without discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, physical disability, age, marital status, or national origin – except where age or ability constitute bona fide occupational qualifications for employment.

Affirmative Action Plan

Washington College has voluntarily adopted an Affirmative Action Plan whose primary goal is to achieve, over time, a diverse faculty. The College therefore commits itself to go beyond nondiscrimination and equal opportunity, and will engage actively in efforts to achieve such diversity.

The Designated Groups affected by this Affirmative Action Plan are women and minorities who are US citizens or permanent residents, as well as veterans, LGBTQ+ individuals, and individuals with disabilities. Minorities are defined as Asians, American Indians, Blacks, Hispanics, Native Alaskans, and Native Pacific Islanders.

The Affirmative Action Plan is intended to ensure that:

- i. Applicant pools, with regard to the Designated Groups, are reflective of national availability in the relevant field.
- ii. Applicants in the Designated Groups receive full and fair consideration in the appointment process.
- iii. The practices and procedures for faculty appointment do not discriminate against individuals from Designated Groups.

2. Roles and Responsibilities under the Affirmative Action Plan

a. Role of the Advisory Committee on Appointments

The Advisory Committee on Appointments shall serve as the Faculty Affirmative Action Committee, and will assist and advise the Provost and Dean of the College. The person elected to the member-at-large position will serve as the Faculty Affirmative Action Officer.

The Advisory Committee on Appointments shall:

- i. Review state and federal laws pertaining to nondiscrimination, equal opportunity, and affirmative action, and be aware of information from job announcement services and applicant listings relevant to the Designated Groups.
- ii. Review practices and procedures for faculty appointment as published in the document *Washington College Faculty Recruitment Guidelines* to ensure that they do not discriminate against individuals from the Designated Groups.
- iii. Evaluate effectiveness of the Affirmative Action Plan with respect to institutional performance in hiring faculty from the Designated Groups.
- iv. Recommend to the Faculty any necessary changes in the Affirmative Action Plan, and in College policies and procedures relevant to Affirmative Action.
- v. Receive from the Office of Institutional Research current national data on the availability of persons from the Designated Groups in candidate pools.

b. Role of the Faculty Affirmative Action Officer

The Faculty Affirmative Action Officer shall:

- i. Serve as the liaison between the Office of Institutional Research and the Advisory Committee on Appointments.
- ii. During a search, assist the academic department and the Provost and Dean of the College in advancing affirmative action by providing the Department Chair with availability data in the respective field.
- iii. During a search, develops with the Department Chair and the Provost and Dean of the College a strategy that aims to bring to campus at least one candidate from the Designated Groups.

- iv. Promote community awareness of the Affirmative Action Plan, and identify and report problems to the Advisory Committee on Appointments as they arise.
- v. Prepare and present, with the aid of the Advisory Committee on Appointments, an annual report to the Faculty and the President and to the Chairman of the Board of Visitors and Governors for distribution to members of the Board. The annual report shall be submitted no later than September I. This report will provide an evaluation of the College's recruitment and hiring activities in the area of Affirmative Action in the previous year.

c. Roles of the President and the Provost and Dean of the College

The ultimate responsibility for the Affirmative Action Plan rests with the President of the College. As the President's designee for oversight of faculty appointments, the Provost and Dean of the College has responsibility for the general administration of the plan.

Prior to the initiation of a search, the Provost and Dean of the College, as administrator of the Affirmative Action Plan, shall:

- i. Provide departments with the College's search and interview procedures that are published in the document *Washington College Faculty* Recruitment Guidelines. These procedures will convey to all parties involved in the hiring process the means of assuring broad applicant pools and upholding the spirit of Equal Opportunity, Nondiscrimination, and Affirmative Action.
- ii. With the Faculty Affirmative Action Officer, review availability data and goals for faculty hiring with the Department Chair.
- iii. Ensure that all searches for full-time faculty positions of more than one year are full national searches and that, if time restrictions force an abbreviated search, the individual who is hired temporarily be given no special standing in the subsequent full national search.

During the search, the Provost and Dean of the College shall:

- Receive a Search Report from the Department Chair and review it with the Department Chair and the Affirmative Action Officer. The report shall identify the Department's desired candidates for on-campus interviews. The report shall also list applicants who are regarded by the Department as fully qualified for the job. Within the limits of the information available in the dossiers, the Search Report will also identify all applicants from the Designated Groups, and tabulate the total applications and those from the Designated Groups. If it is the consensus of the Department that there are no qualified applicants from the Search Report.
- In consultation with Advisory Committee on Appointments and the Faculty Affirmative Action Officer, determine whether additions to the projected interview list will be negotiated with the Department Chair.

M. Extra-College Employment

A full-time appointment at Washington College as a faculty member requires extensive commitment of time and energy, not only in teaching and other College matters during the academic year, but also in activities that refresh and enhance professional competence during some of the time when classes are not in session. Nonetheless, it has been traditionally recognized in American higher education that, within limits, supplementary remunerative employment may be compatible with fulltime commitment to an institution such as ours. There are some rules-of-thumb about the permissible limits of outside employment (for example, consulting work one day a week; teaching of a single course beyond load each semester), but Washington College finds it best, in view of the great number of variables involved, to deal with the matter on an individual basis. Faculty members, accordingly, should accept or continue outside employment only upon securing the approval of the Provost and Dean of the College.

N. Additional Teaching Beyond The Academic Year

With the approval of the Provost, faculty may teach courses during the summer and winter breaks, such as short-term study abroad programs and on-campus block courses. To ensure that faculty have the time they need to engage in scholarly research and other professional activities, participation in summer and winter-break teaching is voluntary and is not considered part of a faculty member's regular responsibilities. To preserve the integrity of the academic-year program, participation in summer and winter break programs cannot substitute for a faculty member's normal teaching responsibilities in the academic year.

O. Attendance At Academic Occasions

In accordance with the By-Laws of the College, the Faculty's attendance in academic regalia is required at various formal convocations each year (Fall Convocation, George Washington's Birthday Convocation, Commencement, etc.) and at such other occasions as the President may designate.

P. Academic Freedom

The Visitors and Governors of Washington College endorse the 1940 statement on academic freedom of the American Association of University Professors. This statement is as follows:

- 1. The teacher is entitled to full freedom in research and in the publication of the results, subject to the adequate performance of their other academic duties; but research [or employment outside of the College] for pecuniary return should be based upon an understanding with the authorities of the institution.
- 2. The teacher is entitled to freedom in the classroom in discussing the subject, but they should be careful not to introduce into their teaching controversial matter, which has no relation to their subject. Limitations of academic freedom because of religious or other aims of the institution should be clearly stated in writing at the time of the appointment.

3. The college or university teacher is a citizen, a member of a learned profession, and an officer of an educational institution. When they speak or write as a citizen, they should be free from institutional censorship or discipline, but their special position in the community imposes special obligations. As a learned person and an educational officer, they should remember that the public might judge their profession and their institution by their utterances. Hence, they should at all times be accurate, should exercise appropriate restraint, should show respect for the opinion of others, and should make every effort to indicate that they are not an institutional spokesperson.

Q. Professional Societies and Attendance Allowances

Faculty members are encouraged to take part in the activities of professional societies related to their respective fields of work. Institutional membership is maintained by the College in a number of educational and professional organizations. Membership and active participation in professional societies promote the professional growth of the faculty member.

A faculty member attending a professional meeting or traveling in the interest of the College may have their expenses paid in full or in part by the College upon recommendation of the Provost and Dean of the College according to the following terms:

Invitations for applications for allowances will be issued by the Provost and Dean of the College. For all requests submitted outside of the set deadlines, allocation of funds is at the discretion of the Provost and Dean of the College. Please use request forms provided by the Office of the Provost.

No funds will be issued prior to attendance except on the approval of the Provost and Dean of the College. All statements of expenses must be submitted through the Provost and Dean of the College to the Business Office accompanied by receipts, bills, etc. before payments will be issued.

R. Faculty Enhancement Funds

Tenure-line faculty members, professional librarians, and full-time visiting faculty on multi-year appointments may submit requests to the Provost and Dean of the College for Faculty Enhancement Funds, to defray out-of-pocket expenses for specific scholarly projects, such as research and writing for the purpose of presentation, publication, performance or exhibition. These funds include Curricular Innovation Awards, which support research and the gathering of materials for the development of new courses or the significant revision of existing courses. Lecturers and Adjunct Professors whose instructional load is at least 1/2 the normal load spread through the academic year and who have served without interruption at this level for five years are eligible to apply for Faculty Enhancement Funds.

Funds are specifically available for:

- Acquisition of equipment and supplies that are needed for research but are not normally available through the academic department
- Funds to pay for training programs or materials, such as courses, manuals, software and/or hardware training or other training in techniques relevant to the project

- Travel to libraries, archives, and other sources of research material
- Travel to conferences directly related to the project being pursued. (Travel to conferences that received support from the Dean's Travel Fund should not be resubmitted for funding from Faculty Enhancement.)
- Faculty Enhancement Funds are not awarded for expenses that have already been incurred.

Proposals should contain the following information:

- A description of the project
- Specific goals and expected outcome(s) of the project, including a timeline for completion of the project
- Relationship of the project to research and/or teaching interests and plans
- Benefit to the institution
- Detailed itemized budget, lodging and meals expenses, if any, based on the U.S federal per diem for that location
- Description and outcomes of any previous projects funded by faculty enhancement grants

The process of awarding grants is normally competitive. Decisions are made by the Service and Scholarship Committee and the Provost and Dean of the College, on the basis of the following criteria:

- Benefit of the project to the individual as teacher and scholar
- Benefit to the institution
- Feasibility of the project
- Outcome of the project (publication, new courses, presentation, exhibition, performance etc.)
- Effort at securing funding from other sources
- Amount, timing, and results of other faculty enhancement awards to the applicant

The annual award is normally capped at \$3,000 (up to \$4,000 for international travel and longer projects). A faculty member requesting funds in excess of this cap should also apply for support to at least one source of funding external to the College.

Special Faculty Enhancement Awards

1. Research Reassigned Time Awards

These awards cover the hiring of an adjunct to allow for one course release, plus money for expenses related to the project. Three awards per year – one from each division – are available.

Each \$6,000 award consists of \$4,000 to pay for an adjunct and \$2,000 for expenses (materials, equipment, books, travel, hiring of student assistants).

Preference is given to submissions from faculty who have not received a Reassigned Time Award in the previous two years.

All submissions must include a letter of support from the Department Chair.

Awardees agree to offer a presentation of their research to their colleagues at a yearly event sponsored by the Dean's Office.

2. Curricular Innovation Awards

These awards provide a stipend and cover expenses related to the development of new courses or the significant revision of existing courses. Four awards per year are available.

The total amount of a Curricular Innovation Award is \$2,500. The awardee may decide how much of that amount to use as a stipend and how much to use to cover approved expenses (books, electronic media, and other materials).

Preference is given to submissions from faculty who have not received a Curricular Innovation Award in the previous two years.

All submissions must include a letter of support from the Department Chair.

Awardees agree to offer the new or revised course at least three times, and to present a summary of their curricular innovations in a session organized by the Center for Teaching and Learning.

All Faculty Enhancement Proposals should be submitted electronically to the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College, using the application form available on the website for the Office of the Provost and Dean. The deadlines for submission of requests are September 13 for projects to be pursued during the academic year and February 14 for projects to be pursued over the summer or the following Fall semester.

Faculty may apply for funding for more than one project in the same round, not to exceed the \$3000/\$4000 annual limit, by submitting a separate application for each project. Faculty may also apply for funds in both rounds in the same academic year.

Occasionally faculty receive on short notice an opportunity that will contribute to or extend the impact of their research but will have to be accepted and completed before the faculty member can apply for Faculty Enhancement Funds. In this case, the faculty member should consult with the Provost about the availability of other funds.

S. Research

- 1. It is the policy of the College administration to encourage creative research by members of the Faculty in the belief that research stimulates the scholar's imagination and keeps them abreast of developments in their field. The College fully recognizes that sound scholarly study broadens and deepens the competence of its faculty members in their respective fields, whether or not such study is directed toward publication.
- 2. Any unusual expenses of a research project, which will be beneficial to the teacher and indirectly to the institution, should be included in the department's annual budget proposal.
- 3. When the Federal government sponsors a research project on the campus, it includes a percentage for the use of facilities and equipment. When a private corporation enters into an arrangement of a similar sort with any member of the Washington College faculty, staff, or

student body, which entails the utilization of our facilities, the administration of the College must be a party to whatever agreement is reached. The Business Office should be informed by written memorandum of any privately sponsored study or research, involving College facilities, with full information about the extent of such utilization.

4. A large number of fellowships and grants are available each year from government and private sources. Information and application forms may often be obtained from the Provost and Dean of the College.

T. Sabbaticals And Faculty Leave

The basic purpose of a faculty leave program is to strengthen the College intellectually. We seek, as teachers of the liberal arts, scholar-humanists who are continually striving toward the expansion of their intellectual horizons and the fulfillment of whatever creative potential they may have. For such teachers, the privilege of exceptional freedom from teaching responsibilities is often a very real necessity. By providing for occasional release from ordinary duties, the College encourages members of the faculty to increase their professional competence.

Leave will be considered for such reasons as completion of graduate degrees, research, creative intellectual activity, planned travel relative to the applicant's academic function, and such other reasons as may be deemed appropriate. Insofar as possible, an application should clearly indicate the benefits which may be expected, both to the individual and to the College, should leave be granted.

The following provisions shall govern the leave program:

- 1. To be eligible for compensated leave, a faculty member shall have served at least five years as a full-time member of the Washington College Faculty and shall hold permanent tenure.
- 2. Leave as herein understood will be granted to a faculty member on the basis of one semester at full salary, or one year at half salary. Salary as used in this context is limited to compensation received as a full-time teaching member of a regular academic department and is not to include stipends received for conducting extra-curricular activities.
- 3. Requests for leave shall be submitted to the Provost and Dean of the College by the fourth Friday in September of the academic year preceding the one for which leave is desired. The President will consult with the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion before reaching decision on leave requests.
- 4. Activities for which compensation is provided by an agency other than Washington College shall render a faculty member ineligible for a concurrent faculty leave grant, unless in the opinion of the reviewing body of the College additional compensation is warranted.
- 5. Requests for leave must be accompanied by a clearly detailed statement of the reasons therefore, together with supporting data where necessary.
- 6. Ordinarily, not more than three faculty members shall be on leave at one time, and not more than one member of any department. Final decision on any request for leave will be contingent upon the availability of a suitable replacement for the period of the intended absence.
- 7. Promotion and salary increases for a tenured faculty member on leave shall be handled precisely as though they were regularly serving on the full-time teaching staff.

8. Following the completion of such leave, the faculty member shall provide a succinct written report to the Dean of the College concerning their scholarly activities while on leave and the benefits derived there from in relation to the general purposes of this program.

U. Christian A. Johnson Fellowship Junior Faculty Leave Program

Washington College offers each year on a competitive basis a Christian A. Johnson Fellowship to an untenured, full-time member of the Faculty. The Johnson Fellowship is designed to provide junior faculty in the tenure stream with the opportunity to engage in full-time scholarly activity for one semester at their normal salary, but it also permits recipients to arrange a three-course load reduction over two semesters if such a schedule facilitates the proposed research and the department chair approves. Candidates shall have successfully passed the third-year review (where applicable), or have served at least three years in their probationary period. In other words, leaves will normally be taken during the fourth or fifth year of an individual's credited time, at least two years of which must have been at Washington College. Time spent on a Junior Faculty Leave will count in the probationary period for tenure. There is an expectation that individuals selected as Johnson Fellows will return for at least a year of continued full-time teaching at Washington College, and will submit a written report of their accomplishments at the conclusion of the leave.

The Johnson Junior Faculty Leave Program is administered by the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College. The timetable for the submission of proposals is available on SharePoint in the "Provost Faculty Resources" folder located <u>here</u>. Applications will be evaluated by the Advisory Committee on Tenure and Promotion, which will make its recommendations to the President. Candidates should provide a *curriculum vitae* and describe the research and/or writing to be carried out, the methods to be applied, the location of the research, and the applicability, if any, of the project to undergraduate teaching and/or course development. Each application must include a statement by the candidate's department chair indicating approval of the proposed leave and its timing. Departments of successful applicants will receive funds to staff the courses that would have been taught by the faculty member's granted leave, if such replacement staff is needed.

V. Faculty Administrative Assistants

Faculty administrative assistants are assigned to assist faculty. Faculty will be assigned a faculty administrative assistant by the Office of the Provost. Overload will be shared among the faculty administrative assistants as needed. The following guidelines are provided for working with faculty administrative assistants:

• Faculty administrative assistants will give first priority to faculty work relating directly to teaching; course syllabi, examinations, letters of recommendation, and other work related to courses and to student needs. They will be available, however, to assist faculty with all college-related work, including research, faculty searches, committee work, and other administrative tasks.

Forty-eight hours' notice on this work should be given to the faculty administrative assistants. It is understood that the faculty administrative assistants will try to finish work given with less notice, but completion cannot be guaranteed with less than 48 hours' notice.

Written instructions should accompany the work given to the faculty administrative assistant, using an instruction sheet available from the faculty administrative assistant.

- Faculty administrative assistant overtime shall be pre-approved through the Office of the Provost. It is expected that, by sharing the workload, the needed tasks can be performed by the faculty administrative assistants during the regular workday.
- If the workload exceeds the time capabilities of one faculty administrative assistant, that faculty administrative assistant should contact the other administrative assistants to see if time is available. If none of the other faculty administrative assistants is able to complete the task, and if the assignment was made within the prescribed time limits, overtime will be authorized.
- Faculty administrative assistants typically work from 8:30 am to 4:30 pm daily, Monday through Friday, and are to post their lunch hours and any other times that they will be out of their offices; some have other daily schedules, such that you should check with your specific administrative assistant to understand when they will be in the office. Members of the faculty should be judicious about requiring tasks of the faculty administrative assistants that take them away from their desks. Comments concerning the work of faculty administrative assistants should be directed to the Provost if they cannot be satisfactorily resolved by the faculty administrative assistant and the faculty member.

W. Statutory Benefits

Statutory Benefits refer to those forms of insurance, which all employers are required by law to provide for their employees. Employees at Washington College, therefore, are covered under all federally and state mandated programs. This includes Social Security and Medicare, unemployment insurance, and worker's compensation, as well as the Family and Medical Leave Act.

1. **Social Security & Medicare**: Every Washington College staff and faculty employee is covered by Social Security (FICA) and Medicare. The rates for this coverage are established by law and vary annually. As required by law, both the employee and the College pay a percentage of taxable wages for Social Security and for Medicare:

Social Security benefits include retirement income, disability income, survivor and children's benefits.

Medicare provides primary health insurance for individuals after retirement at age 65.

- 2. Maryland's **unemployment insurance program** provides temporary income to individuals who are unemployed through no fault of their own, who are able and available to work, and who are actively seeking work. For more information, contact Human Resources.
- 3. **Workers' Compensation:** In accordance with Maryland law, Washington College, in conjunction with an insurance carrier, provides workers' compensation benefits for all eligible employees.

If an employee experiences an accident or injury at work, they are required to report the incident to a supervisor immediately. The employee and supervisor are responsible for completing the Report of Injury that must be submitted to Human Resources within 24 hours of the incident.

For additional information, please refer to the Human Resources section on the College's website, specifically the Workers' Compensation policy.

4. **Family and Medical Leave Act:** The Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") provides eligible employees the opportunity to take unpaid, job-protected leave for certain specified reasons. The maximum amount of leave an employee may use is either 12 or 26 weeks within a 12-month period depending on the reasons for the leave.

The most current version of this policy is found on the HR section of the College's website under "Family and Medical Leave." Please contact the College's HR department by phone or by email should you believe you might need this type of leave so that you can receive the forms and support throughout this process.

Employee Eligibility

To be eligible for FMLA leave, you must:

- have worked at least 12 months for the College in the preceding seven years (limited exceptions apply to the seven-year requirement);
- have worked at least 1,250 hours for the College over the preceding 12 months; and
- currently work at a location where there are at least 50 employees within 75 miles.

Conditions Triggering Leave

FMLA leave may be taken for the following reasons:

- birth of a child, or to care for a newly-born child (up to 12 weeks);
- placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care (up to 12 weeks);
- to care for an immediate family member (employee's spouse, child, or parent) with a serious health condition (up to 12 weeks);
- because of the employee's serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee's job (up to 12 weeks)
- to care for a Covered Servicemember with a serious injury or illness related to certain types of military service (up to 26 weeks); or,
- to handle certain qualifying exigencies arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent is on duty under a call or order to active duty in the Armed Forces (e.g., National Guard or Reserves) in support of a contingency operation (up to 12 weeks).

The maximum amount of leave that may be taken in a 12-month period for all reasons combined is 12 weeks, with one exception. For leave to care for a Covered Servicemember, the maximum combined leave entitlement is 26 weeks, with leaves for all other reasons constituting no more than 12 of those 26 weeks.

FMLA definitions

A "Serious Health Condition" is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee's job, or prevents the qualified family member from participating in College or other daily activities. Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement includes an incapacity of more than three full calendar days and two visits to a health care provider or one visit to a health care provider and a continuing regimen of care; an incapacity caused by pregnancy or prenatal visits, a chronic condition, or permanent or longterm conditions; or absences due to multiple treatments. Other situations may meet the definition of continuing treatment.

A "Covered Servicemember" is a member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness. The term "serious injury or illness" means an injury or illness incurred by the member in the line of duty while on active duty in the Armed Forces that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member's office, grade, rank, or rating.

"Qualifying exigencies" include activities such as short-notice deployment, military events, arranging alternative childcare, making financial and legal arrangements related to the deployment, rest and recuperation, counseling, and post-deployment debriefings.

Identifying the 12-Month Period: The College measures the 12-month period in which leave is taken by the "rolling" 12- month method, measured backward from the date of any FMLA leave with one exception. For leave to care for a covered servicemember, the College calculates the 12-month period beginning on the first day the eligible employee takes FMLA leave to care for a covered servicemember and ends 12 months after that date. FMLA leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care must be concluded within 12 months of the birth or placement.

Using Leave: Eligible employees may take FMLA leave in a single block of time, intermittently (in separate blocks of time), or by reducing the normal work schedule when medically necessary for the serious health condition of the employee or immediate family member, or in the case of a covered Servicemember, their injury or illness. Eligible employees may also take intermittent or reduced-scheduled leave for military qualifying exigencies. Intermittent leave is not permitted for birth of a child, to care for a newly-born child, or for placement of a child for adoption or foster care. Employees who require intermittent or reduced-schedule leave must try to schedule their leave so that it will not unduly disrupt the College's operations.

Use of Accrued Paid Leave: Depending on the purpose of your leave request, you may choose (or the College may require you) to use accrued paid leave (such as sick leave, vacation, or PTO), concurrently with some or all of your FMLA leave. In order to substitute paid leave for FMLA leave, an eligible employee must comply with the College's normal procedures for the applicable paid-leave policy (e.g., call-in procedures, advance notice, etc.).

Maintenance of Health Benefits: If you and/or your family participate in our group health plan, the College will maintain coverage during your FMLA leave on the same terms as if you had continued to work. If applicable, you must make arrangements to pay your share of health

plan premiums while on leave. In some instances, the College may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage or other benefits for you and your family. Use of FMLA leave will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of your leave.

Notice and Medical Certification

When seeking FMLA leave, you are required to provide:

1. Sufficient information for the College to determine if the requested leave may qualify for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. Sufficient information may include that you are unable to perform job functions, a family member is unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave. You must also inform the College if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously taken or certified.

If the need for leave is foreseeable, this information must be provided 30 days in advance of the anticipated beginning date of the leave. If the need for leave is not foreseeable, this information must be provided as soon as is practicable and in compliance with the College's normal call-in procedures, absent unusual circumstances.

- 2. Medical certification supporting the need for leave due to a serious health condition affecting you or an immediate family member within 15 calendar days of the College's request to provide the certification (additional time may be permitted in some circumstances). If you fail to do so, we may delay the commencement of your leave, withdraw any designation of FMLA leave or deny the leave, in which case your leave of absence would be treated in accordance with our standard leave of absence and attendance policies, subjecting you to discipline up to and including termination. Second or third medical opinions and periodic re-certifications may also be required;
- 3. Periodic reports as deemed appropriate during the leave regarding your status and intent to return to work; and
- 4. Medical certification of fitness for duty before returning to work, if the leave was due to your serious health condition. The College will require this certification to address whether you can perform the essential functions of your position.

Failure to comply with the foregoing requirements may result in delay or denial of leave, or disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Employer Responsibilities: To the extent required by law, the College will inform employees whether they are eligible under the FMLA. Should an employee be eligible for FMLA leave, the College will provide them with a notice that specifies any additional information required as well as the employee's rights and responsibilities. If employees are not eligible, the College will provide a reason for the ineligibility. The College will also inform employees if leave will be designated as FMLA-protected and, to the extent possible, note the amount of leave counted against the employee's leave entitlement. If the College determines that the leave is not FMLA-protected, the College will notify the employee.

Job Restoration: Upon returning from FMLA leave, eligible employees will typically be restored to their original job or to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other employment terms and conditions.

Failure to Return After FMLA Leave: Any employee who fails to return to work as scheduled after FMLA leave or exceeds the 12-week FMLA entitlement (or in the case of military caregiver leave, the 26-week FMLA entitlement), will be subject to the College's standard leave of absence and attendance policies. This may result in termination if you have no other College-provided leave available to you that applies to your continued absence. Likewise, following the conclusion of your FMLA leave, the College's obligation to maintain your group health plan benefits ends (subject to any applicable COBRA rights).

Extended Medical Leave: Eligible employees who have exhausted their family and medical leave and all other employees may be allowed to take an extended medical leave of absence, not to exceed twelve (12) months following the last day worked. Employees who take such extended medical leave are not guaranteed to be returned to work or reinstated to a particular job, rate of pay, or shift at the end of their extended medical leave. However, the College will attempt to return an employee to their regular position if it is available. If it is not available at the time reinstatement is sought, the College will attempt to place you in a similar job for which you are qualified, if such job is available. Employees on extended medical leave may maintain their insurance benefits, subject to policy terms and conditions, by paying the applicable COBRA premiums in a timely manner. Employees on extended medical leave do not accrue any additional employee benefits such as paid time off while on extended medical leave.

Other Employment: The College generally prohibits employees from holding other employment. This policy remains in force during all leaves of absence including FMLA leave and may result in disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination of employment.

Employers' Compliance with FMLA and Employee's Enforcement Rights: FMLA makes it unlawful for any employer to interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under FMLA, or discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by FMLA or for involvement in any proceeding under or relating to FMLA.

While the College encourages employees to bring any concerns or complaints about compliance with FMLA to the attention of the Human Resources Department, FMLA regulations require employers to advise employees that they may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor or bring a private lawsuit against an employer.

Further, FMLA does not affect any Federal or State law prohibiting discrimination, or supersede any State or local law or collective bargaining agreement which provides greater family or medical leave rights.

Military Caregiver Leave: Unpaid Military Caregiver Leave allows eligible employees to care for certain family members who have sustained serious injuries or illnesses in the line of duty while on active duty. The family member must be a "covered servicemember," which means: (1) a current member of the Armed Forces, National Guard or Reserves, (2) who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; is otherwise in outpatient status; or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, (3) for a serious injury or illness that may render them medically unfit to perform the duties of the member's office, grade, rank, or rating. Military

Caregiver Leave is not available to care for former members of the Armed Forces or the National Guard or Reserves, or for servicemembers on the permanent disability retired list.

To be eligible for Military Caregiver Leave, the employee must be a spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of the covered servicemember and meet all other eligibility standards as set forth within the FMLA Leave policy.

An eligible employee may take up to 26 workweeks of Military Caregiver Leave to care for a covered servicemember in a single 12-month period. Within the single 12-month period, an eligible employee may take a combined total of 26 weeks of FMLA leave including up to 12 weeks of leave for any other FMLA-qualifying reason (i.e., birth or adoption of a child, serious health condition of the employee or close family member, or a qualifying exigency).

Qualifying Exigency Leave: Eligible employees may take unpaid "Qualifying Exigency Leave" to tend to certain "exigencies" arising out of the duty under a call or order to active duty of a "covered military member" (i.e. the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent).

Persons who can be ordered to active duty include retired members of the Regular Armed Forces, certain members of the retired Reserve, and various other Reserve members including the Ready Reserve, the Selected Reserve, the Individual Ready Reserve, the National Guard, state military, Army Reserve, Navy Reserve, Marine Corps Reserve, Air National Guard, Air Force Reserve, and Coast Guard Reserve.

Although Qualifying Exigency Leave is available to an eligible employee whose close family member is called up from status as a retired member of the Regular Armed Forces, it is not available for a close family member on active duty or on call to active duty as a member of the Regular Armed Forces. Also, a call to active duty refers to a federal call to active duty, and state calls to active duty are not covered unless under order of the President of the United States pursuant to certain laws.

Qualifying Exigency Leave is available under the following circumstances: short-notice deployment, military events and related activities, childcare and College activities, financial and legal arrangements, counseling, temporary rest and recuperation, post-deployment activities, mutually agreed leave.

Failure to Return from Leave or to Comply with College Policy: Employees may be subject to immediate termination for:

- 1. Failure to return to work as scheduled following the end of a leave;
- 2. Providing false or misleading information or omitting certain information in connection with a leave;
- 3. Violation of any of the College's rules and regulations relating to leave; or
- 4. Violation of any College policy or performance standard.

Effect of Family Leave on Other Benefits

Benefit Accrual Rates: The period of the family and medical leave will not count as service time for the computation of benefits eligibility or earning rates except during the period of paid leave.

Leave Earnings: The employee does not earn vacation leave, personal leave, or sick leave while on family and medical leave except during the period of paid leave.

Retirement Benefit: The employer's retirement contribution will continue during the period of paid leave. The employee may make arrangements with the College's Benefits Administrator to make individual contributions (that will not be matched by the College) during the period of unpaid leave.

Health Insurance Benefits: During family and medical leave, an employee's eligibility to participate in the group health program will be continued. If the leave is unpaid, the employee must make arrangements to pay their share of the premium to the Benefits Administrator by the first of the month.

Life and Disability Insurance: Life and disability insurance normally ends at the end of the month, after the unpaid period of the family and medical leave begins, unless an exception has been granted by the insurance carrier and the employee assumes responsibility for the premium payments.

Insurance Premium Payments: Payments for any month of coverage must be made to the College and received by the Benefits Administrator by the first of the month.

Other Benefits: Check with the Director of Human Resources for the applicability of other benefits.

Unemployment Insurance: The State of Maryland, with federal assistance, has a program that provides temporary benefits to certain eligible former employees.

Eligibility: The State of Maryland establishes the precise eligibility rules for receiving benefits. In general, any former employee of the College may be eligible if the individual is involuntarily terminated from employment and has been employed by a participating employer in five consecutive quarters immediately prior to involuntary separation. It should be noted that employment during five quarters does not need to be entirely with one employer.

Benefits: The State of Maryland establishes the level and duration of benefits as well as the duties of the beneficiary during the benefit period.

Information: Specific information on all aspects of the State of Maryland's Unemployment Insurance Program may be obtained from the local office or website of the Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation. In accordance with Maryland law, Washington College, in conjunction with an insurance carrier, provides workers' compensation benefits for all eligible employees.

If an employee experiences an accident or injury at work, they are required to report the incident to a supervisor as soon as possible. The supervisor is responsible for documenting a "first report" that must be submitted to Human Resources within 72 hours of the incident. For additional information, please refer to the section on workers' compensation in this handbook.

X. Additional Benefits

All benefits provided by the College are governed by their official policy document and/or plan documents. The following information provides an overview of the benefits. Please refer to the plan or policy documentation for the full details and provision. In the event of a conflict, the insurance contract or plan documents will prevail over other documents.

Please refer to the Benefits section of the Human Resources section of the College's website for more details: <u>https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/human-resources/benefits/index.php</u>

1. **Medical Insurance:** Washington College offers all regular full-time employees and their dependents medical insurance. Enrollment may be made during the initial orientation period, during the annual "open enrollment period" in November, and at other times of eligibility. All regular full-time employees are required to have medical insurance and must either join a plan offered by the College or show evidence of coverage by another plan. If employees have other medical insurance, they must formally decline Washington College coverage on the appropriate form.

Eligibility:

- **Full-time**: Full-time regular employees and their dependents are eligible for health insurance. Lecturers and Adjunct Professors who teach 5 courses (20 credits) per year or more are considered "full-time employees" for the purposes of the Affordable Care Act, and they and their dependents are eligible for medical benefits under the Washington College benefits plan.
- **Dependent Coverage**: Dependents eligible for enrollment include the employee's legal spouse and may include dependent children who have not attained plan age limits (currently age 26). Dependents are eligible as long as the employee is in the plan. The employee must enroll an eligible dependent in order for them to receive benefits.

It is important to report to Human Resources promptly any:

- Changes in family status such as marriage, divorce, a newborn child, an adoption, a child reaching the maximum age (26) or a child leaving school
- Other qualifying life events if you are considering adding or dropping coverage, which may include spouse/partner's loss of coverage, spouse/partner's open enrollment period, spouse/partner's eligibility for other coverage (e.g. new employment or newly eligible for another group plan)

Effective Date of Coverage

Initial Enrollment: Medical insurance is effective the first day of the month coinciding with or following 30 days after the date of enrollment.

Open Enrollment: Effective date of coverage is January 1, following the open enrollment period in November.

Late Enrollment: Effective date of coverage is the first day of the month, following the acceptance of the application by the insurance.

Benefits: Information for each plan describing the benefits is available from Human Resources and the HR section of the College's website. Questions that are not addressed in the literature may be directed to Human Resources or the insurance company's member services department. In the event of a conflict, the insurance contract or plan documents will prevail over other documents.

Because of the nature of health care today, aspects of the College's plans change from year to year. Human Resources will notify all employees of changes by distributing new information as it becomes available. Each employee should study the new information carefully, in order to have a full understanding of any changes from the previous plan(s).

Cost of Insurance: Washington College and the employee share the cost of Washington College's health insurance premiums. With the employee's written authorization, the employee's portion will be deducted from their paycheck on a pre-tax basis. Premiums and percentages of the contribution assumed by the College are subject to change; the specific premium costs are provided in written (Employee Benefits Booklet) and electronic materials through the College's Human Resources Office.

2. Dental Insurance and Vision Insurance: Washington College offers dental and/or vision insurance to eligible employees and their dependents. This is a voluntary benefit that can be elected by an employee. An eligible employee may participate in the College's dental plan and/or vision plan, while selecting to waive participation in the College's health insurance plan. The College does not require the employee to have dental or vision insurance.

Eligibility, Enrollment and Termination of Coverage/Continuation options mirror the health insurance plan

Benefits: Plan information is available in the Employee Benefits Booklet. In the event of a conflict, the insurance contract or plan document will prevail over other documents.

Cost of Insurance: The employee is responsible for paying the full premium for the voluntary dental and/or vision insurance. With the employee's written authorization, the premium will be deducted from the employee's paycheck on a pre-tax basis. Premiums and benefits are subject to change. For current premiums, please see the Employee Benefits Booklet and the Human Resources section of the College's website.

3. Flexible Spending Accounts and Health Savings Accounts

Flexible Spending Account (FSA) is a program that helps you pay for health care and dependent care costs using tax free dollars. Each pay period, you decide how much money you would like to contribute to one or both accounts. Your contribution is deducted from your paycheck on a pretax basis and is put into the Health Care FSA, the Dependent Care FSA, or both. When you incur expenses, you can access the funds in your account to pay for eligible health care or dependent care expenses. The limits for how much an employee can defer into these accounts is currently:

- Dependent Care Account: Up to \$5,000 per calendar year
- Health Care Account: Up to \$2,600 per calendar year

Health Savings Account (HSA) is similar to a health care FSA but only available to those employees who participate in the high-deductible health plan. The College and the employee can make contributions into this account, per the rules and limits established by the IRS.

Election Forms and Salary Redirection Agreements (which may be online) must be completed during the initial enrollment and often again at the open enrollment period prior to the start of the next calendar year. Enrollment and plan materials for the Flexible Spending Accounts (Healthcare and Dependent Care) and the Health Savings Accounts are available from Human Resources.

- For FSAs, the participant's election cannot be altered for the calendar year except for certain qualifying changes in family status. Funds contributed to the flexible spending accounts and not used for expenses incurred during the calendar year will be forfeited by the participant 90 days after the end of the calendar year.
- For HSAs, changes can be made at any time and amounts roll-over year after year.

4. Early Retirement Health (Medical, Dental and Vision) Program for Employees and Spouses or Domestic Partners:

The College offers regular full-time employees of Washington College who meet all the conditions listed below the option, upon retirement, to:

- a. terminate participation in the Washington College Health Plan;
- b. elect COBRA (if eligible); or
- c. elect to retain current medical and prescription drug coverage through the Washington College Health Plan on the same terms and conditions as active employees except that the retiree is responsible for 100% of the premiums of the elected plan for themselves and for their spouse or domestic partner, if applicable.

Eligibility: To be eligible to participate in the Early Retirement Medical Program, the employee, at the date of retirement, must

- a. be within five (5) years of first being eligible for participation in Medicare;
- b. have fifteen (15) full years of continuous service immediately preceding the date of retirement;
- c. not be eligible to enroll in Medicare;
- d. elect to participate, when first eligible, in the Early Retirement Medical Program under the Washington College Health Plan;
- e. be a participant in the Washington College Health Plan immediately prior to retirement; and
- f. have at least five (5) full years of participation in the Washington College Health Plan prior to retirement.

An eligible retiree may continue to participate in the Early Retirement Medial Program only until the retiree becomes eligible for participation in Medicare at which time the retiree's eligibility to remain a member of the Washington College Health Plan ceases.

Please contact the College's Human Resources Department by phone or by email if you are interested in participating in the College's Early Retirement Health Insurance Program to receive complete plan details and enrollment and cost information.

5. Parental Leave Policy:

Eligibility: An employee who a) is eligible for family and medical leave under the College's policy; and b) gives birth to a child, or is the father of a newborn (co-resident) child, or adopts a child, is eligible for maternity/paternity leave.

Leave Period: Parental leave provides up to 15 weeks of paid leave at the same rate of pay that would have normally been received during that period. The 15 weeks of paid leave runs **concurrently** with any leave available to the employee under the Family and Medical Leave Act. If both parents of the child are employees of the College who qualify for this benefit, only one leave will be granted, but the 15 weeks of the maternity/ paternity leave may be divided between two consecutive time periods selected by the parents.

Faculty employees may elect one of three options for the leave:

- a. Beginning at the time of disability, birth or adoption. The total of 15 weeks may be divided between the Fall and Spring semesters.
- b. During the semester in which the birth or adoption is expected.
- c. During the Fall semester, if the birth occurs in late spring or during the summer, and leave was not taken in the Spring semester. For faculty, the summer weeks are not counted as part of the 15 weeks of leave.

Faculty expecting to use parental leave must arrange with the Provost and Dean for duties or assignments during the portions of semesters not covered by their leave, if any.

6. Life, AD&D and Long-Term Disability Insurance:

Washington College provides two programs: 1) group life, accidental death and dismemberment insurance and 2) long-term disability insurance for eligible employees. Election to participate in a program(s) is exercised by completing and signing an enrollment form/process (which may be online). The plan is governed by its plan documents.

Eligibility: Only regular full-time employees are eligible to participate in these plans.

Effective Date of Coverage: Life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment and longterm disability are effective the first of the month after the employee becomes eligible, provided the employee is actively at work and has completed and signed the enrollment form. If the employee is not actively at work on the date the insurance would normally start, the insurance will not become effective until the first of the month after the employee is actively at work.

Insurance Provisions:

- **Basic Group Life Insurance:** The benefit is one and a half times (1.5x) the employee's base annual salary up to a maximum benefit. For current amounts, please see the Employee Benefits Booklet and the plan documents for the plan.
- Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance: The benefit is an amount equal to the life benefit for accidental death and specific amounts according to the schedule for other losses.
- Long-Term Disability Insurance: The benefit begins after the 180 consecutive day elimination period of total disability and pays a portion of basic monthly earnings up to a maximum benefit, as dictated by the plan documents. The payment may be reduced by deductible sources of income and disability earnings. Additional information is available from Human Resources.
- Voluntary Supplemental Life Insurance: For an additional cost to the employee, an eligible employee can elect to have additional life insurance coverage for themselves, their spouse or their child(ren), per the coverage levels and rates established by the plan document

Cost of Insurance:

Washington College pays the entire cost of the insurance premiums on basic group life insurance, group accidental death and dismemberment insurance and long-term disability insurance. For employees who elect to have supplemental life insurance for themselves, their spouse or their child(ren), the cost for those additional premiums is fully paid by the employee. The cost of life insurance coverage in excel of \$50,000 is taxable income and will be included in W-2 wages as required by the Internal Revenue Service.

Claims/Benefit Payments, Beneficiary forms/designation process, and information about termination of coverage are available from Human Resources. Benefits will be paid upon approval of the insurance carrier. Further Plan Details: Information is available from Human Resources. In the event of a conflict, the insurance contract or plan documents will prevail over other documents

7. Retirement Plan:

The College participates in the TIAA retirement program, which is a 403(b) plan. TIAA is an organization that provide retirement and tax-deferred annuity plans for colleges, universities, independent schools, and other non-profit and tax-exempt educational and research institutions and their employees. The retirement program is a defined contribution plan through which the College makes contributions to the employee's account. The employee may also make contributions to the same retirement account on a tax-deferred basis. All contributions are immediately 100% vested. The employee may select from among the investment options offered by TIAA. A supplementary retirement account option is also available for interested employees. A full description of the plan is available from Human Resources.

Eligibility:

- All full-time regular staff and faculty employees are eligible to participate in the plan, per the plan document.
- Part-time regular employees, who works at least 1,000 hours in a prior year, are eligible to participate in the retirement plan effective the start of the subsequent plan year, per the plan document

Enrollment: To enroll in the retirement plan, an eligible employee must complete an application form/process (which may be online) and a salary reduction agreement and submit these to Human Resources. Forms and further information are available in Human Resources. Participation begins with the pay period beginning after the submission of the properly completed enrollment forms.

Contributions:

- Minimum Contribution: The College will make a minimum contribution equal to 3% of the basic bi-weekly earnings for eligible employees who are not making a contribution.
- Matching Contributions: The College will match employee contributions starting at 3% of the employee's basic bi-weekly earnings up to a maximum of 7.5%.
- Maximum Contributions: Federal tax law limits the amount that an employee may contribute to a retirement plan such as that offered by the College. The limit may be adjusted annually; the maximum employee contribution is available from TIAA through the College's Benefits department.

Retirement:

Initiation of Benefits: There is no mandatory retirement age. With limited exceptions, an employee may begin receiving benefits at age 59 1/2 without tax penalty if they terminate their employment with the College and is not participating in a TIAA plan with another institution. An employee should notify TIAA at least three months prior to the desired start date for the commencement of benefits.

Benefit Payment Options: Prior to receiving benefits, an employee is required to choose among the various payment plans offered by TIAA. The optional forms of retirement payment may be discussed in full with a TIAA counselor.

Pre-retirement Death/Spousal Benefits: If an employee dies prior to retirement, the full current value of the account accumulation is payable as a death benefit. Federal pension law requires the spousal death benefit regardless of the beneficiary designation in effect when the employee dies. The spouse may waive this benefit if the spouse consents in writing to the designation of a non-spouse beneficiary.

Additional Information: TIAA Retirement Plan Enrollment Kits are available from Human Resources. For a complete menu of services, an employee can visit TIAA's website at <u>www.tiaa.org</u>. Employees also have the opportunity to meet with TIAA representatives during their scheduled visits to campus.

8. Educational Programs:

The College offers various ways for you and your family members to pursue an undergraduate education. Full details, including eligibility and procedures to take advantage of these benefits, are found on the HR section of the College's website, under "Educational Programs" or "Tuition programs Policy".

The College offers:

- Tuition Waiver for Employees
- Tuition Waiver for Spouse, Dependents ad Domestic Partners
- Tuition Exchange for Dependents

9. Employee Assistance Program:

The Employee Assistance Program is designed to improve the health and well-being of employees and their dependents through services including information, evaluation, crisis intervention, short-term counseling and referrals.

You may be struggling with stress at work, seeking financial or legal advice, or coping with the death of a loved one. Maybe you just want to strengthen your relationships with your family. Your EAP offers assistance and support for all these concerns and more:

- Workplace effectiveness
- Management skills
- Communicating effectively
- Managing stress
- Parenting
- Childcare or eldercare
- Overcoming anxiety
- Strengthening personal relationships
- Depression
- Alcohol or drug dependency
- Physical abuse
- Financial planning
- Compulsive gambling
- Legal questions
- Coping with grief and loss

From short-term counseling services and referrals to more extended care, your EAP offers just what you need. For more information about Washington College Employee Assistance Programs, please visit the Employee Assistance Program page.
Y. Weapons Policy

The possession, storage, or use of fireworks, firearms, ammunition, explosives, weapon replicas, or other weapons, including any dangerous article or substance with the potential to injure or discomfort a person, including knives with blades of 3" or longer, is prohibited at any time for any purpose at any place on the campus or other property of Washington College. This regulation may be conditionally waived for temporary periods by the President of Washington College for authorized College Department of Public Safety Officers, for College-sanctioned public fireworks displays presented and supervised by qualified groups and individuals, and for College-sanctioned athletic events supervised by the Athletic Department.

This regulation may also be conditionally waived for temporary periods by the President of Washington College under such conditions as may be prescribed to permit the exhibition and temporary storage on campus of such articles in connection with activities or events approved and sanctioned by the College.

This regulation does not prohibit an individual otherwise subject to its provisions from carrying or possessing chemical mace or similar chemical sprays or propellants on campus property provided that such carrying or possession would not constitute a crime under Maryland criminal law.

Z. Policies on Discrimination, Harassment, and Sexual Misconduct

1. Policy Statement on Discrimination

Washington College does not discriminate on the basis of race, sex, color, national or ethnic origin, age, religion, marital status, disability, sexual orientation, genetic information, or any other legally protected classification in the administration of any of its educational programs and activities or with respect to admission and employment.

The designated coordinator to ensure compliance with Title IX of the Educational Act Amendments of 1972 is:

Greg Krikorian Casey Academic Center Washington College 300 Washington Avenue Chestertown, Maryland 21620 (410) 778-7752

The designated coordinators to ensure compliance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 are:

Gregory Krikorian and/or Kate Laking Section 504/ADA Coordinators Bunting Hall Washington College 300 Washington Avenue Chestertown, Maryland 21620 (410) 778-7752

For additional information and/or to file a complaint contact:

Director of Civil Rights US Department of Education Office of Civil Rights The Wanamaker Building 100 Penn Square East, Suite 515 Philadelphia, PA 19107

2. Policy Statement on Harassment

Harassment in any form, whether based on race, sex, color, national or ethnic origin, age, religion, marital status, disability, sexual orientation, genetic information, or any other legally protected classification, is unacceptable on the Washington College campus.

For purposes of this policy harassment means unwelcome verbal, written, or physical conduct based on a protected classification (race, color, sex, disability, etc.) that has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work or education, (including living conditions, extracurricular activities, and social life) creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment, or constituting a threat to an individual's personal safety.

3. Policy Statements on Sexual Harassment and Sexual Misconduct

Policy on Sexual Harassment

Washington College will not tolerate sexual harassment in any form. Sexual harassment includes sexual violence/assault. The goal of this policy is to create a community free of sexual harassment. Sexual harassment committed in connection with any College program, whether on or off campus, is prohibited. This applies to academic, educational, extra-curricular, athletic, residential, and other College programs. Sexual harassment may be a violation of state and federal laws as well as a violation of this policy. Individuals who feel they have been sexually harassed may have the right to bring legal action, in addition to making a complaint to the College. Legal action and an internal complaint can be pursued at the same time. Retaliation against an individual who brings a complaint, participates in an investigation of sexual harassment, or pursues legal action is prohibited.

Definition of Sexual Harassment

Federal Law (Title VII of the Civil Rights Law of 1964 and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972) provides that sexual harassment shall be considered a form of gender discrimination. Maryland Law also prohibits gender discrimination and sexual harassment.

Sexual harassment is defined as any unwelcome sexual advance, request for sexual favors, or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature which has the purpose or effect of interfering with one's academic or work performance or social world by creating an intimidating, hostile, offensive, or violent environment.

Examples:

- Action of an individual in a position of institutional power or authority who misuses that position to subject an individual to unwanted sexual attention of either a verbal or physical nature when that conduct is either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a person's employment or academic status.
- Demanding sexual favors accompanied by implied or overt threats or promises concerning grades, recommendations, or evaluations.
- Inappropriate sexual conduct that interferes with an individual's work performance or educational experience by creating an uncomfortable environment. This prohibition applies to all relationships at the institution between members of the College community.
- Inappropriate conduct against an individual that interferes with an individual's work performance or educational experience by creating an uncomfortable environment that would not occur but for the sex of the individual.

Consensual Relationships

Washington College policies prohibit unreciprocated and unwelcome relationships. However, persons in positions of power, authority, and control over others should be aware of and sensitive to problems that may arise from mutual relationships that are inherently unequal. Individuals in these situations are urged to examine such relationships before engaging in them, especially in terms of emotional health, self-esteem, and respect for the freedom of others.

Apparently consensual sexual relationships, particularly those between individuals of unequal status, may be or become a violation of this policy. Anyone who engages in a sexual relationship with a person over whom they have any degree of power or authority must understand that the validity of the consent involved can and may be questioned. The College particularly abhors the abuse potentially inherent in sexual relationships between faculty members and students and between staff supervisors and their student employees.

College Policy requires that employees who are involved in a consensual relationship with an employee with less authority or power or a student must disclose the relationship to a supervisor.

Discrimination or Harassment Based on Disability

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, amended in 2008, prohibits discrimination based on disability. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibits discrimination based on disability in programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance.

Examples:

- Lack of access to educational programs and facilities.
- Denial of academic adjustments or accommodations.
- Offensive remarks, jokes, epithets, slurs, negative stereotyping or threatening, intimidating or hostile acts that relate to a person's disability.

Academic Freedom

The essential importance of academic freedom is recognized and a standard of reasonableness will guide the College in its policies regarding discrimination and harassment. These policies are in accordance with the 1940 statement on academic freedom put forth by the American Association of University Professors and endorsed by the Visitors and Governors of Washington College (see "Academic Freedom" in chapter IV of this Handbook). Only when academic freedom is used to disguise, or as the vehicle for, prohibited conduct will it be questioned. As the AAUP guidelines indicate, such prohibitions against discrimination and harassment would include speech or conduct that is "directed against another and is either abusive or severely humiliating, or persists despite the objection of the person targeted by the speech or conduct; or speech or conduct that is reasonably regarded as offensive and substantially impairs the academic or work opportunity of students, colleagues, or co-workers. If it takes place in the teaching context, it must also be persistent, pervasive, and not germane to the subject matter. The academic setting is distinct from the workplace in that wide latitude is required for professional judgment in determining the appropriate content and presentation of academic material." Washington College believes that ideas, creativity, and free expression thrive and, indeed, can only exist for students, faculty, and staff in an atmosphere free of discrimination and harassment.

Discrimination or Harassment Complaints

Washington College encourages anyone who has experienced any form of discrimination or harassment to report the incident promptly, to seek all available assistance, and to pursue remedies available through campus judicial or grievance processes. Complainants are also encouraged to report incidents to local, state and/or federal authorities or offices charged with handling unlawful discrimination or harassment.

Reporting a Complaint

Students, employees, or third parties who believe they have been subjected to discrimination or harassment, including sexual violence/assault, by a student or employee of the Washington College community or by another individual for whom the College is or may be responsible (e.g., applicants for admission or employment, alumni, independent contractors, vendors, recruiters) should contact one of the following persons for assistance with resolving a complaint:

- Title IX Coordinator or Assistant Coordinator(s) for matters involving discrimination or harassment based on sex or gender
- 504 Coordinator or Assistant Coordinator(s) for matters involving discrimination or harassment based on disability
- Professional Staff in Student Affairs (Including Resident Area Directors)
- Department of Public Safety
- Human Resources Department

Complaints alleging sexual discrimination or harassment (including sexual assault/violence) should be submitted to Gregory Krikorian, Interim Dean of Students and the College's Title IX Coordinator, second floor Casey Academic Center, 410-810-7425.

Complaints alleging disability discrimination or harassment should be submitted to Gregory Krikorian or Kate Laking, 504/ADA Coordinators.

When a Washington College student is the subject of a discrimination or harassment complaint, the matter will be referred to the Honor Board or other appropriate hearing body (see the Washington College Honor Code and Student Judicial System found earlier in this Handbook).

When a Washington College employee or third party is the subject of a formal written complaint, the matter will be reviewed by the Washington College Discrimination and Dispute Review Committee.

Students, employees, or third parties alleging discrimination or harassment may submit a complaint in writing using the Discrimination/Harassment complaint form. Complaint forms are available in Public Safety, Student Affairs, Human Resources and Title IX Coordinator's Office or for download and printing from the College website at <u>https://www.washcoll.edu/title-ix/index.php</u>

Interim Measures

The Title IX Coordinator or 504 ADA Coordinator will determine with campus administrators appropriate interim measures to be taken during the investigation. Interim remedial actions can include, but are not limited to the following:

- No Contact Orders
- Interim Suspension
- Administrative Leave (Employee)
- Reassignment of Housing
- Reassignment of Job
- Class Schedule Change
- Prohibit or restrict participation in extracurricular activities
- Prohibit or restrict access to campus for third parties

Investigating a Complaint

All complaints of harassment or discrimination will be investigated in a manner that is adequate, reliable, and impartial. Investigations may be conducted by trained Public Safety staff, the Title IX Coordinator or Assistant Coordinators (for Title IX matters), the Section 504 Coordinator or Assistant Coordinators (for ADA/Section 504 related matters), Human Resource staff, or another trained investigator appropriate to the situation and in accordance with all College policies and legal requirements.

For matters involving discrimination or harassment based on sex or gender (covered by Title IX), the Title IX Coordinator will ensure that the investigation complies with all Title IX requirements. For matters involving discrimination or harassment based on disability (covered by ADA/Section 504), the Section 504 Coordinator will ensure the investigation complies with all Section 504 requirements.

The responsibility to conduct an investigation shall not be altered by the fact that a criminal investigation of the incident is pending or has been concluded, although the investigation may be delayed or suspended at the request of law enforcement while the law enforcement agency is gathering evidence. In the event the investigation is delayed at request of law enforcement agency, appropriate steps will be taken to provide for the safety of the complainant and the College community and to prevent retaliation by any individual. The steps may include changes to the

schedule, housing assignment or work location of the respondent or summary suspension/leave from the College issued to the respondent. The College will promptly resume its Title IX investigation as soon the College receives notification that law enforcement has completed the evidence-gathering process.

Investigation Process:

- The Complainant will be contacted by a College administrator designated by the Title IX Coordinator or ADA/Section 504 Coordinator to schedule a meeting.
- During the meeting, the College administrator will:
- Inform Complainant of their rights under the Honor Code or Employee Code of Conduct.
- Give the Complainant the opportunity to submit a written statement and evidence.
- Give the Complainant the opportunity to list any witnesses who may have information pertaining to the complaint.
- Inform the Complainant to have no contact with the Respondent during the course of the investigation.
- Inform the Complainant that there will be follow-up meetings to discuss the case and status.
- The Respondent will be contacted by a College administrator designated by the Title IX Coordinator or Section 504/ADA Coordinator to schedule a meeting.
- During the meetings, the College administrator will:
- Inform the Respondent of their rights under the Honor Code or Employee Code of Conduct.
- Present the allegations and provide the Respondent the opportunity to respond.
- Give the Respondent the opportunity to submit a written statement and evidence to contest the allegations.
- Give the Respondent the opportunity to list any witnesses who may have information pertaining to the complaint.
- Inform the Respondent to have no contact with the Complainant during the course of the investigation.
- Inform the Respondent that there will be follow-up meetings to discuss the case and status.
- Any person identified by the Complainant or Respondent who has information that pertains to the allegation will be contact by the investigator(s).
- The person designated to conduct the investigation shall prepare a written report within fifteen (15) business days after commencing the investigation, unless additional time to complete the investigation is required. In that case, the investigator shall report on the status of the investigation to the complainant, the respondent, and the Title IX or Section 504 Coordinator (or designee) as applicable at the expiration of the fifteen (15) day period and every fifteen (15) business days thereafter.
- At the conclusion of the investigation, a designated College administrator will meet with the Complainant and discuss the written report and inform them of the next steps in the process.
- The designated college administrator will contact the Respondent and review the written report and explain the next steps in the process.

The Complainant and Respondent may have a support person present during the investigation process. A support person is defined as a member of the College community (faculty, staff, or student). The support person is not permitted to participate in the meetings, but is there in support of the individual.

The written report shall include a summary of the investigation; findings of fact and an explanation of the evidence in support of such findings (including a determination with respect to the factual allegations of the complaint); conclusions as to whether there have been any violations based on the factual findings; and a discussion of the reasons for such conclusions.

The results of the investigation will be forwarded to the Honor Board or the Discrimination and Dispute Resolution Committee (DDRC) for review and any action deemed appropriate in accordance with the procedures of each.

Nothing in these procedures or in the procedures of the Honor Board or DDRC limits the right of any person to pursue other avenues of recourse which may include filing charges or a complaint with local, state and federal authorities responsible for addressing unlawful discrimination and harassment.

More information about the procedures of the Honor Board can be found in the chapter "Washington College Honor Code and Student Judicial System" found earlier in this Handbook.

Resolving Complaints

The Title IX Coordinator or Section 504 Coordinator or other appropriate College administrator will ensure that steps are taken to address and resolve any instance where an investigation and subsequent review (by either the Honor Board or the DDRC) concluded discrimination or harassment occurred. Resolution outcomes include actions to remediate the instance of discrimination or harassment and, where needed, actions to prevent future recurrence and to correct discriminatory effects on the Complainant and others.

Remedial actions include, but are not limited to:

- College Warning (except in cases of Sexual Assault/Violence)
- Suspension/Expulsion
- Probation
- Termination of Employment
- Protection from Retaliation
- Counseling for the Complainant
- Other steps to address the impact of harassment or discrimination on the complainant, any witnesses and the College community.

Discrimination and Dispute Resolution Committee (DDRC)

The Washington College Discrimination Dispute Resolution Committee (DDRC) is used when the subject of a complaint is an employee or third party. The DDRC will consist of faculty and staff trained to review matters involving discrimination and harassment. A hearing panel will consist of three members of the DDRC and is facilitated by the Director of Human Resources (or designee) for complaints against staff members or the Provost (or designee) for complaints against faculty

members. Hearings where there is a staff Respondent will include only two staff members and one faculty member on the hearing panel. Hearings where there is a faculty Respondent will include two faculty members and one staff member on the hearing panel. Within 15 days after the hearing, the panel will issue a written decision that includes a review of the information relevant to the case and sanctions assigned if it is found to be "more likely than not" that the subject of the Complaint violated College policy. The DDRC will continue to function whenever the College is open even if classes are not in session.

Records

Records of complaint investigation and any corrective action will be entrusted to the Title IX Coordinator or ADA/Section 504 Coordinator and will be maintained in an electronic system accessible throughout the College on a confidential basis consistent with the College's legal requirements and appropriate legal requests for said documents.

Appealing a Decision

The Complainant or Respondent may appeal decisions of the DDRC or Honor Board by submitting a written appeal request within five business days of receiving written notification of the outcome of the hearing. Appeal forms can be downloaded from the following website https://www.washcoll.edu/title-ix/index.php

Only appeals that are based on one or more of the following grounds will be considered for review:

- Procedural error(s) that prevented fundamental fairness;
- New information or evidence that was not available at the hearing;
- An imposed sanction that is excessively severe;
- The decision of the DDRC or Honor Board is not supported by the information presented.

Letters of appeal for Honor Board decisions must be sent to the Vice President of Student Affairs (or designee). The Vice President for Student Affairs or designee will determine whether or not the appeal meets the above criteria. If any of the criteria are met, the case will be referred to the appeal board; if the case does not meet at least one of the criteria, there will be no further review. More information on the student appeal process can be found in the Student Handbook https://www.washcoll.edu/people_departments/offices/student-affairs/student-handbook/index.php

Letters of appeal for DDRC decisions must be sent to the President of the College (or designee). The President of the College (or designee) will determine whether or not the appeal meets the above criteria. If any of the criteria are met, the case will be reviewed and a decision made within 5 business days; if the case does not meet at least one of the criteria, there will be no further review. The appellant(s) and the other party, shall be notified of the outcome of the appeal. All appeals will be conducted in an impartial manner and by an impartial decision-maker.

Retaliation

All members of the Washington College community are advised that retaliation against anyone for filing a complaint of discrimination or harassment or for participating in an investigation of discrimination or harassment is strictly prohibited by law and by College policy.

Confidentiality

All parties involved, especially those charged with carrying out the above policies, are enjoined to work in confidence to the extent legally permissible and practically possible.

In cases of discrimination and harassment, Complainants may also obtain information and/or file a complaint by writing the Director of Civil Rights, US Department of Education, Office of Civil Rights, The Wanamaker Building, 100 Penn Square East, Suite 515, Philadelphia, PA 19107. Such complaints generally must be filed within 180 days.

4. Policy Statement on Sexual Assault

When sexual assault or sexual violence in any form occurs, the standards of the community, and possibly criminal laws, are violated. When reported, the College will deal with these issues in accordance with its policies and procedures and as required by applicable laws. Sexual assault committed in connection with any College program, whether on or off campus, is prohibited. This includes all College programs including, but not limited to, academic, educational, extra-curricular, athletic, and residential programs.

Washington College urges individuals who believe they have been sexually assaulted to pursue criminal charges against the person or persons they believe to have committed the sexual assault. A criminal charge and an internal complaint can be pursued at the same time. Retaliation against an individual who brings a complaint, participates in an investigation, or pursues legal action is prohibited and possible violations will be investigated and addressed in accordance with College policy and procedures.

In cases of sexual assault or other sexual misconduct, College authorities will inform a Complainant of the options of criminal prosecution and medical assistance, as well as the complainant's rights under the Crime Complainant's Bill of Rights. This includes the right to assistance from the Maryland State Crime Complainants Reparation Board and the Maryland State Office of the Crime Complainant Ombudsman. A Complainant will also be informed of the right to file a complaint of sexual harassment (which includes sexual assault/violence). Students or employees wishing to file a complaint should follow the procedures outlined in the "Reporting Discrimination and Harassment" section found earlier.

When a Washington College student is the subject of a sexual assault/violence complaint, the individual filing the complaint will be informed about the role of the Honor Board's Sexual Misconduct Hearing Board in evaluating whether the student who is the subject of the complaint is responsible for violations of College policy (including policies addressing discrimination and harassment). When a Washington College employee or third party is the subject of a sexual assault/violence complaint, the individual filing the complaint will be informed about the role of the DCRC or appropriate administrator in evaluating whether the individual who is the subject of the complaint is responsible for violations of College policy (including policies addressing discrimination and harassment).

College authorities, normally the Director of Public Safety, will notify the Chestertown Police of the sexual assault **only** at the request of the individual filing the complaint and will provide assistance in notifying any other law enforcement authorities or in preserving materials that may be relevant to the investigation. At the direction of the Chestertown Police, College authorities will provide assistance in obtaining, securing, and maintaining evidence for criminal prosecution.

Interim Measures

By decision of the President of the College, the Vice President of Student Affairs, or a designee of either, the person who is the subject of a sexual assault complaint may, without prejudice, be removed from the campus or subjected to other forms of restriction with regard to the complainant, pending formal judicial action or criminal procedures, to avoid additional conflict within the community and/or to protect the safety of members of the College community.

Resources for Victims of Sexual Assault

There are many services established to assist individuals who have been sexually assaulted. The Student Affairs Office, 410-778-7752, as well as the resources listed below may be contacted to provide assistance or answer any questions:

- Washington College Health Services, 410-778-7261
- Washington College Counseling Services, 410-778-7261, 7289, or 7826
- "For All Seasons, Inc." Sexual Assault Crisis Center, 1-800-310-7273
- (A 24-hour confidential service that provides counseling, advocacy and support to survivors.)
- Office of Public Safety, 410-778-7810

Two area hospitals have sexual assault response programs in place. Forensic Nurse Examiners are available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to provide confidential medical examination, STI and pregnancy prophylactics. The programs work in conjunction with For All Seasons, Inc., to provide advocacy support to victims.

University of Maryland Shore Health Center at Chestertown, 410-778-3300 — located adjacent to Washington College at 100 Brown Street, Chestertown, Maryland

Memorial Hospital, 410-822-1000 — located at 219 S. Washington Avenue, Easton, Maryland

A member of the Campus Department of Public Safety is available 24 hours a day and 7 days a week to transport the complainant to either hospital if requested. Volunteers from the For All Seasons Sexual Assault Crisis Center are also available to provide counseling and assistance throughout this process.

The Assistant Director of Student Engagement, serving as the sexual assault response coordinator, will inform complainants, at a minimum, of internal complaint options, availability of confidential counseling, mechanisms available to address concerns about physical safety, as well as the possibility of alternative housing assignments or classroom arrangements (where appropriate).

Education and Training

The Office of Student Affairs is responsible for developing and coordinating educational and training programs for students about sexual assault and sexual violence. To address issues of sexual assault and sexual violence proactively, the College will distribute these policies to and provide training for students and employees. In addition, these policies will be communicated at appropriate opportunities in classes, meetings, programs, and publications.

People to contact for more information:

o Sarah Feyerherm, Vice President of Student Affairs & Dean of Students, 410-778-7728

- o Greg Krikorian, Interim Dean of Students and Title IX Coordinator 410-810-7425
- o Lisa Marx, Director of Health Services, 410-778-7261
- o Miranda Altman, Director of Counseling Services, 410-778-7261
- o Ryan Colman, Director of Public Safety, 410-778-7810
- o Antoine Jordan, Director of Student Engagement, 410-778-7146



V. CHARTER OF WASHINGTON COLLEGE

(As amended)

WHEREAS institutions for the liberal education of youth in the principles of virtue, knowledge and useful literature, are of the highest benefit to society, in order to raise up and perpetuate a succession of honest men and women, for discharging the various offices and duties of the community, both civil and religious, with usefulness and reputation, and such institutions of learning have accordingly merited and received the attention and encouragement of the wisest and best regulated states; and

WHEREAS the Visitors and Kent County School in the town of Chester represented to the General Assembly of the year 1782, that if they were made capable in law of erecting the said school into a college or general seminary of learning for the eastern shore, or peninsula between the bays of Chesapeake and Delaware (maintaining the original design of said school as a foundation not to be violated), very considerable sum of money could be raised in a few years, within the said peninsula, by free and voluntary contributions, for the establishment and support of such seminary, and prayed that a law be passed to enable them, the said Visitors, to enlarge and improve said school into a college, or place of universal learning; and

WHEREAS, It was then enacted by the General Assembly of Maryland, that the Visitors of Kent County School, and their successors, should have full power and authority to erect the said school into a college or seminary of universal learning, to bear the name of "The Visitors and Governors of Washington College in the State of Maryland", in honorable and perpetual memory of His Excellency, General Washington, the illustrious and virtuous Commander-In-Chief of the Armies of the United States; and

WHEREAS, The present Visitors and Governors of said College deem it desirable to eliminate from said original Charter, as heretofore amended, certain obsolete and unnecessary nomenclature and provisions therein contained, and to make certain other amendments thereto, consistent with

present requirements and conditions, while retaining so much of the original Charter as is practical; now, therefore,

SECTION 1. BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF MARYLAND, that the Charter of Washington College and all amendments thereto as, the same were enacted by Chapter 8 of the Acts of the April 1 Session of 1782, Chapter 121 of the Acts of 1922, Chapter 44 of the Acts of 1953, and Chapter 401 of the Acts of 1959, be and it is hereby repealed, and that a new Charter, to stand in the place and stead of the Charter so repealed be and it is hereby enacted, to read as follows:

- I. The present Visitors and Governors of Washington College in the State of Maryland, and their successors, shall have full power and authority to continue to operate, enlarge and improve the said College under the corporate name of "Washington College".
- II. (a) The governing body or board of said College shall consist of not more than 37 Visitors and Governors, 12 of whom shall be elected by the Alumni of the College; 12 of whom shall be appointed by the Governor of the State of Maryland; 12 (or any lesser number) of whom shall be elected by the Board of Visitors and Governors, and these 36 (or any lesser number, if the Board, in the exercise of its discretion, shall elect less than 12), or a quorum thereof, shall elect a President of the College, who shall, by virtue of their office, be a member of the Visitors and Governors.

(b) Of the twelve (12) members appointed by the Governor; and the twelve (12) members elected by the Alumni; and the twelve (12) or any lesser number, elected by the Visitors and Governors, all shall be chosen without regard to their place of residence.

(c) The terms of office of the members of the Visitors and Governors shall be six (6) years, and not more than two (2) members shall be elected or reelected by either the Alumni or Board of Visitors and Governors for full terms in any college year, nor shall more than two (2) members be appointed by the Governor for full terms in a college year.

(d) Within thirty days after the occurrence of a vacancy of said members of Visitors and Governors, by death, resignation, removal, disqualification or expiration of the term of office of a member, a notice thereof shall be sent by said Visitors and Governors to the Governor or the Alumni Association, depending upon whether said vacancy is to be filled by appointment of the Governor or the election of the Alumni, and should the Governor or the Alumni fail to appoint or elect, as the case may be, a successor to fill said vacancy within six months after receipt of said notice, then the Visitors and Governors shall proceed to fill said vacancy for the unexpired term; and vacancies among the members elected by the Board shall be filled for the unexpired term by election of the Board in the same manner as is provided for their original election.

(e) Any graduate of Washington College and any student who left the College in good standing after having completed sufficient work to entitle them to a sophomore or senior normal rating shall be qualified to participate in all elections conducted by the Alumni Association of Washington College and to serve as alumni-elected members of the Visitors and Governors of said College; provided that no ex-student shall be entitled to participate in said election until after the class to which they belong shall have been graduated.

- III. The said Visitors and Governors, and their successors, shall be able and capable in law to purchase, have and enjoy, to them and their successors, in fee, or for any other lesser estate or estates, any lands, tenements, rents, annuities, pensions, or other hereditaments, within this state, by gift, grant, bargain, sale, alienation, release, confirmation or devise, of any person or persons, bodies politic or corporate, capable to make the same; and such lands, tenements, rents, annuities, pensions or other hereditaments, or any lesser estates, rights or interests, of or in the same, including the estate of the said Kent County School, at their pleasure to grant, alien, sell or transfer, in such manner and form as they shall think meet and convenient for the furtherance of said College; and also that they may take and receive any sum or sums of money, and any kind, manner or portion, of goods and chattels, that shall be given, sold or bequeathed, to them by any person or persons, bodies politic or corporate, capable to make a gift, sale or bequest thereof, and employ the same towards erecting, setting up and maintaining, the said college in such manner as they shall judge most necessary and convenient for the instruction, improvement and education of youth, in the vernacular and learned languages, and generally in any kind of literature, arts, and sciences, which they think proper to be taught, for training of good, useful and accomplished men and women, for the service of their country in church and state, and youth of all religious denominations and persuasions shall be freely and liberally admitted to equal privileges and 1advantages of education, and to all the literary honors of the college, according to their merit, and the standing rules of the seminary, without requiring or enforcing any religious or civil test whatsoever upon any student, scholar or member of the said college, in schools and seminaries of learning in general; nor shall any preference be given in the choice of any visitor and governor of the said college or of the president, administrative officers, professors or officers of instruction, on account of their religious persuasions, but merely on account of their literary and other qualifications to fill the place for which he is chosen.
- IV. The said Visitors and Governors, and their successors, shall have full power and authority to have, make and use, one common and public seal, and likewise one privy seal, with devices and inscriptions as they shall think proper; and to ascertain, fix and regulate the use of both seals, by their own laws, and the same seals, or either of them, to change, break, alter, and renew, at their pleasure.
- V. The said Visitors and Governors, and their successors, from time to time, shall have power and authority to constitute and appoint, in such manner as they shall think best and most convenient, a president, such administrative officers as may be deemed necessary, professors and other officers of instruction, for instructing the students and scholars of the said seminary in all the liberal arts and sciences; and the said president and professors so constituted and appointed from time to time shall be known and distinguished forever by the name of the president and faculty of Washington College, and by that name shall be capable of exercising such powers and authorities as the Visitors and Governors of said college, and their successors, shall by their ordinances think necessary to delegate to them, for the instruction, discipline and government of the said seminary and of all the students and scholars belonging to the same.
- VI. The said Visitors and Governors, and their successors, shall meet at least four times a year, in stated quarterly meetings, between July 1 of each year and June 30 of the next year, to be known as the College Year, the last meeting of which shall be the Annual Meeting. Meeting dates shall be appointed by their own ordinances, and at such times as their said ordinances may direct, in order that they may hear and determine upon all matters touching the discipline

of the seminary and the good and wholesome execution of their ordinances; provided there is present a quorum consisting of a majority of the current board members.

- VII. The said Visitors and Governors may appoint an executive committee, consisting of not less than nine (9) members, who shall, between the meetings of the Board, possess and exercise all of the power of the Board except as limited by the general corporation laws of this State.
- VIII. For animating and encouraging students of said college to a laudable diligence, industry and progress, in useful successors, shall by a written mandate under their privy seal, and the hand of some one of the Visitors and Governors to be chosen annually as their chair according to the ordinance to be made for that purpose, have full power and authority to direct the president and the officers of instruction to hold public commencements, either on stated annual days, or occasionally, as future ordinances of the said seminary may direct; and at such commencements to admit any of the students of the said college, or any other persons meriting the same, (whose names shall be severally inserted in the said mandate) to any degree or degrees in any of the faculties, arts and sciences, and liberal professions, to which persons are usually admitted in other colleges or universities in America or Europe; and it is hereby enacted that the president or in the case of their death or absence the next ranking academic officer of the college, shall make out and sign with their name, diplomas or certificates of the admission to such degree or degrees, which shall be sealed with the public or greater seal of the said corporation or college, and delivered to the graduates as honorable and perpetual testimonials of such admission; which diplomas, if thought necessary, for doing greater honor to such graduates, shall also be signed with the names of the different professors and members of the Board of Visitors and Governors, or as many of them as can conveniently sign them.
- IX. No Student or Students within the said College shall ever be admitted to any such degree until such student or students have duly fulfilled all the requirements for such degree or degrees, as established by the faculty of the college with the approval of the Visitors and Governors.
- X. The ordinances which shall be from time to time made by the Visitors and Governors of the said College, and their successors, with an account of their other proceedings, and of the management of the estate and monies committed to their trust, shall, when required be laid before the General Assembly of Maryland, for inspection and examination, but in case at any time hereafter, through oversight, or otherwise through misapprehensions and mistakes, constructions of the powers, liberties, franchises, in this charter or act of incorporation granted or intended to be granted, any ordinance should be made by the said Visitors and Governors of said corporation, or matters done and transacted by the corporation, contrary to the tenor hereof, it is enacted, that although all such ordinances, acts and doings, shall be null and void, yet they shall not, however, in any court or by the General Assembly, be deemed, taken, interpreted or adjudged into an avoidance or forfeiture of this charter and act of incorporation, but the same shall be and remain unhurt, inviolate and entire, unto the said corporation in perpetual succession; and all its acts conformable to the powers, true intent and meaning hereof shall be and remain in full force and validity, the nullity and avoidance of such illegal acts to the contrary notwithstanding.
- XI. The said Visitors and Governors, and their successors, shall have all the general powers granted to corporations under the Public General Laws of the State of Maryland, and this charter and act of incorporation and all ordinances adopted by the Visitors and Governors, and every part

thereof, shall be good and available in all things in the law, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, and shall be construed, reputed and adjudged, in all cases, most favorably on the behalf and for the best benefit behoof of said Visitors and Governors, and their successors, so as most effectually to answer the valuable ends of this act of incorporation, towards the general advancement and promotion of useful knowledge, science and virtue.

SECTION 2. AND BE IT FURTHER ENACTED, that this Act shall take effect July 1, 1986.